
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
88th Board Meeting  
Wednesday, April1, 2009, 12:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (John Reynolds) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• February 11 meeting minutes   Action 


 
12:10 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:15 p.m. President’s Report 
 
12:20 p.m. Audit Committee (Julie Hammond) 2 


• Review results of financial audit  
   Grant Jones and Mark Schussler, Perkins & Co. 
• Acceptance of audited financial report for period 
   ending 12/31/08 (R508)  Action 


 
1:00 p.m. Committee Reports  
   


• Board Nominating Committee (Rick Applegate)  
   
• Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 3 


♦ Renewing a $4 million line of credit at 
    Bank of the Cascades (R510)  Action 


  
• Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 4  
 
• Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 5  


 
2:15 p.m. Break 
 
2:30 p.m. Renewable Energy Program (John Reynolds) 6 


• Approving an incentive for the Klamath Falls 
OIT geothermal project (R509)  Action 
John Lund, Director Geoheat Center, OIT joining 
via teleconference   


 
3:15 p.m. Staff report (Margie Harris) 7  


• Stimulus package briefing  Information 
 
 
4:30 p.m. Adjourn 
  


Please note: the next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, May 6, 2009, 12:00 noon 


at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  April 1, 2009 


   2


 
INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• February 11 meeting minutes  


 
Tab 2 Audit Committee  


• Acceptance of audited financial report for period ending 12/31/08 (R508)  
• Draft audited financial report for period ending 12/31/08 


 
Tab 3 Finance Committee 


• Notes from February 17 meeting 
• Notes from March 23 meeting 
• Renewing $4 million line of credit at Bank of the Cascades (R510) 
• December finance report, monthly financials and statement of commitments 
• January financial report, monthly financials 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 4 Program Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from January 30 meeting 
 
Tab 5 Policy Committee  


• Notes from March 10 meeting 
 
Tab 6 Renewable Energy Program 


• Approving an incentive for the Klamath Falls OIT geothermal project (R509)   
 
Tab 7 Staff Report 


• Summary of stimulus proposals submitted to ODOE 
• Oregon 2009 Legislative Session 


 
Tab 8 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes February 18 
• CAC notes March 11 
• RAC notes February 18 
• RAC notes March 11 


 
 








 


 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 87th Meeting 
February 11, 2009 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, Julie 
Hammond, Al Jubitz, Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, Alan Meyer, Preston Michie, and John 
Reynolds 
 
By telephone conference: Caddy McKeown and John Savage, ex officio  
 
Board members absent:  Betty Merrill, ex officio 
 
Staff attending:  Matt Braman, Sarah Caster, Amber Cole, Tara Crookshank, Phil Degens, 
Diane Ferington, Fred Gordon, Hannah Hacker, Margie Harris, Jed Jorgensen, Nancy Klass, 
Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Spencer Moersfelder, Kathleen Ortbal, Pati Presnail, Brien 
Sipes, Greg Stiles, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Jeremy Anderson, WISE; Joe Barra, PGE; Clark Brockman, SERA 
Architects; Michael Brown, Sokol Blosser Winery; Lori Koho, OPUC; Tom Kovalak, CSG; Jan 
Schaeffer; Dennis Wilde, Gerding Edlen 
 
 
Business Meeting 
President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 12:12 pm. He noted the strategic 
planning committee report will be moved to the next meeting. He will move up the policy 
committee report because Jason must leave early. Dan Enloe said he must leave early.  
 
December 19, 2008 meeting minutes.  
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the December 19, 2008, meeting. 
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: John Klosterman 


Vote: In favor: 11  Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 11, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
 
 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
2


Sokol Blosser Vineyard 
 
Alan Meyer joined the meeting. 
 
Michael Brown, Direct Sales Manager, presented Sokol Blosser’s sustainability efforts. He noted 
Sokol Blosser is one of the founding wineries in Oregon. The company is family owned and has 
been on the same property for almost 40 years. Sokol Blosser began sustainable practices 
before the term became commonplace. He referenced the company’s 2008 sustainability report, 
the sixth in the series. He noted the report not only describes sustainability practices but also 
includes frustrations and barriers to being more sustainable. The wine barrel cellar achieved 
LEED certification, the first winery in the world to achieve this. A solar electric system, funded in 
part by Energy Trust, provides about a third of the winery’s electricity needs. They hope to 
expand the system, seeking to generate 100% of energy needs on site.  
 
Mr. Brown noted the company established a recycling program in Yamhill County for soft 
plastics. This year the market for the product fell off; Sokol Blosser is stockpiling the waste in 
hope of the market picking up. They have storage capacity for about a year. 
 
Sokol Blosser is pursuing carbon neutrality, along with about 30 other wineries in Oregon that 
have joined the Governor’s Carbon Neutral Challenge. The company has joined the Carbon 
Registry.  
 
Sokol Blosser sends all of its managers through The Natural Step training, and applies The 
Natural Step to every decision the company makes. Not every choice is the most sustainable 
one, but sustainability is always a consideration and a goal.  
 
Debbie Kitchin asked how customers in other parts of the country respond to the sustainability 
message. Michael said Sokol Blosser has a steady stream of visitors. He noted the distinction 
between “organic wine” and a fine wine like Sokol Blosser’s made with organically grown 
grapes, and said he did not expect Sokol Blosser to heavily promote the organic message.  
 
Roger Hamilton asked what effects of global warming have been noted by Sokol Blosser. 
Michael said thus far signs of warming, such as earlier springs, have been noted. The biggest 
peril to Sokol Blosser regards the possibility of needing to irrigate if weather patterns change. 
Michael said agriculture will feel the effects of climate change first. He noted people want to get 
out and walk in the vineyards; 30,000 people annually go through Sokol Blosser’s tasting room. 
Sokol Blosser lets visitors know about its parallel mission of stewardship for the land it’s on.  
 
Alan Meyer urged other board members to tour the Sokol Blosser facility, as he has.  
 
Rick Applegate asked about the cork vs plastic or screw tops. Michael noted the chemical used 
in washing the cork can taint the wine. He notes the percentage of tainting is going down, he 
thinks in response to competition. He said Sokol Blosser is invested in natural cork. He noted 
screw caps are made out of virgin aluminum; they cannot easily be recycled. The seal is a 
petroleum product. He noted several other stopper products that aren’t as effective as either 
cork or screw tops.  
 
Dan Enloe asked about Sokol Blosser’s recent land purchase, which includes a riparian area 
that cannot be put into production. Michael said the company plans to acquire more land that’s 
contiguous to their property. It will happen only if and when some land comes on the market.  







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
3


Al Jubitz wondered what the net gain and loss from cutting forests and trees for planting grapes. 
Michael said he does not have an answer. The company is trying to figure out what kind of 
carbon sink the vineyards represent. Sokol Blosser’s largest contribution to greenhouse gases 
comes from shipping wine and visitors driving to the winery. Al said he has two tall cedar trees 
blocking his solar panels at home and wonders whether to cut them down.  
 
Michael noted he sold the green tags from his solar installation and now is in the position of 
having to buy renewable energy credits.  
 
Margie Harris asked if there is an opportunity to jointly create an educational display focusing on 
the solar system and efficiency features. Michael said Sokol Blosser is working on a walking 
tour map, with signs at certain features. He is open to working with Energy Trust on this.  
 
John Reynolds and Margie thanked Michael.  
 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Board Nominating Committee. Rick Applegate said the nominating committee recommends re-
electing the current slate of officers and reappointing the four board members whose terms are 
expiring. He noted there is a vacancy on the board that needs to be filled. The committee is 
looking at individuals outside the Portland metropolitan area, and those who might bring 
diversity to the board.  
 
Resolution 502 
 


RESOLUTION 502 
 ELECTING RICK APPLEGATE, JASON EISDORFER, JULIE HAMMOND 


AND CADDY MCKEOWN TO NEW TERMS ON THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS 


 
WHEREAS:  
 
1. The terms of incumbent board members Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie 


Hammond and Caddy McKeown expire in 2009. 
 
2. The board nominating committee has recommended that these four members’ 


terms be renewed. 
 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors:   
 
1. Elects Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond and Caddy McKeown 


incumbent board members, to new terms of office that begin in 2009 and end 
in 2012; 


 
2. Requests the nominating committee to explore candidates to fill the vacancy 


left by Vickie Liskey who retired in September 2008. 
 
 


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 
 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
4


Vote:    In favor: 12   Abstained: 0 
 


  Opposed: 0 
 
Adopted on February 11, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Resolution 503 


 
RESOLUTION 503 


ELECTING OFFICERS OF  
ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 


 
WHEREAS: 


 
1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the Executive 


Director and a Chief Financial Officer) are elected by the Board of Directors 
at the board’s annual meeting.  


 
2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated the following 


directors to serve as officers for 2009: 
 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 


 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as officers of 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2009: 
 
• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 
 


 
Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer  Seconded by: Dan Enloe 
 
Vote:  12 in favor  0 abstained 
 
Opposed: 0 
  


Adopted on February 11, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Rick Applegate left the meeting at 1:00 pm. 
 
Policy Committee. Jason Eisdorfer referred to minutes of the policy committee’s January 20 
meeting in the packet. He introduced John Volkman, who reviewed data transfer rules 
governing information transfers to and from utilities. John said about a year ago Energy Trust 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
5


staff raised questions about ways to streamline the procedures. He developed a draft proposal 
that has been shared with utilities and the OPUC. 
 
John noted current rules require utilities to allow smaller users (less than one average 
megawatt) to opt out of having customer data transferred to Energy Trust. Large users must opt 
in for their data to be made available to Energy Trust. He noted the rules preclude Energy Trust 
from directly marketing to utility customers. Energy Trust’s own confidentiality policy, adopted by 
the board, precludes Energy Trust from sharing certain information. We may provide limited 
information on commercial and industrial customers to the OPUC and the legislature, but not to 
utilities. He noted that the data coming to us from utilities is missing about a fifth to a third of the 
customer load, complicating our planning and evaluation process. He said that without knowing 
who all the large users are, it is hard to be certain we are not serving these entities with SB 838 
funds, as required by SB 838.  
 
Because we do not receive comprehensive information from all utilities, we are also less able to 
be responsive to new customers. John said we would like to be able to contact prospective 
customers, which is not possible under current rules.  
 
John said our proposed new data sharing approach removes limitations on utility and Energy 
Trust data sharing. We would like to apply the utility data to use direct mail and reach more 
deeply into markets, but not to initiate customer contact by phone. Also, our draft proposal 
includes some administrative efficiencies regarding how we gather confidentiality agreements 
from our contractors and subcontractors.  
 
The current proposal received review by utilities, CAC and others and comments solicited. The 
next step is to see whether OPUC is satisfied that this proposal can enter a rulemaking process.  
 
Jason noted this issue has been a topic of discussion since the start of Energy Trust. He 
explained there were a lot of sensitivities when Energy Trust started up. Time has shown that 
Energy Trust can reliably manage confidential data. This procedure enables us to take the next 
step. John said the OPUC has the draft proposal. Lori Koho said the draft rule is currently at the 
Attorney General’s office.  
 
Dan Enloe said he applauds the effort. He said he has not seen the specific data elements that 
we want to transfer. He suggests a matrix with the data elements we would share back and forth 
for each entity. John said the draft proposal does this for the information we are asking for from 
the utilities. He knows PGE would like to include items of information they would like from 
Energy Trust.  
 
Alan Meyer said he is sure there will be some industrial customers who will not like this 
proposal. Steve Lacey said the information would not be distributed in the marketplace. It would 
be used by our program management contractors, who sign confidentiality agreements with 
Energy Trust.  
 
Joe Barra, PGE, said if customer credit information is shared, the liability comes back to the 
utility. He said PGE will ask Energy Trust to assume this liability for any monetary and other 
damage control that needs to happen. He said PGE will ask for symmetry in sharing.  
 
Margie asked John Volkman to comment on the liability considerations. John thinks PGE’s 
expectation is reasonable. He said Energy Trust has about as good insurance as it can for this 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
6


type of coverage. He discussed confidentiality protection steps. He said Energy Trust would 
also ask PGE to indemnify Energy Trust were PGE to leak information.  
 
Joe added PGE also will ask for provisions requiring close coordination in marketing outreach.  
 
Audit Committee 
Julie Hammond introduced Roy Abramowitz and Allison Elliott from Perkins & Co., Energy Trust 
accountants, who reviewed new requirements of IRS Form 990. One purpose for the changes is 
IRS mandates from Congress about transparency. New sections ask questions never seen 
before. These are public documents, and anyone who wants to can have access to this data. 
There are several questions about compliance with other requirements, such as providing W2 
forms to employees, giving notice to funding donors, etc. He said while a lot of the questions are 
not statutory, expectations are boiling down to best practices. The bar has been set high and is 
getting increasingly higher for the nonprofit community. He said reasonable efforts must be 
made to get the information. Some information is difficult to obtain. IRS has said in its 
instructions that as long as the organization uses reasonable effort to obtain the information 
(i.e., handing out the questionnaire and trying to get it back), the organization is not required to 
demand the information requested on the forms to be produced.  
 
Roy said new questions address these topics: 


• Governing body, management and policies 
• Disclosure practices 
• Compensation of “interested persons” – including current and former officers, 


directors, trustees, key employees and substantial contributors 
• Disclosure of family and business relationships with “interested persons”  
• Disclosure of family and business relationships within the organization 
• Distinguish voting board members and independent voting board members 
• Describe voting and decisionmaking procedures 
• Providing form 990 to board for review – describe process or lack thereof 
• Is the organization consistently monitoring a conflict of interest policy 
• Whistleblower policy; document retention and destruction policy 
• Key employee compensation review and approval process 
• Public disclosure and inspection process – tax returns, government documents 


 
Julie asked if there is a place where one can look at the 990 form. Roy answered yes. She 
asked if the public can access them. Roy and Allison said they are accessible on Guidestar and 
in other locations.  
 
Alan asked if the new rules govern all charitable organizations, including religious organizations. 
Roy said some religious organizations are not required to file 990s. Right now only larger 
nonprofits are required to file the more comprehensive form -- $1 million in revenue and $2.5 
million in assets. Allison noted the rules apply to public organizations, not private foundations.  
 
Allison noted the form asks the same question over and over in different areas, with sometimes 
different thresholds. She reviewed some of the questions and rules for answering them. She 
said the organization will get lists of all board members, key employees, and Energy Trust’s five 
largest contractors. Sue said Energy Trust will ask for an extension for filing the form until 
August. She will have the audit committee review the forms. 
 
Jason Eisdorfer left the meeting at 1:50 pm.  







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
7


Finance Committee. John Klosterman noted the balance sheet shows unspent incentives for the 
year to date. Alan Meyer said when he sees available funds growing, while people need 
efficiency and renewables, we need to do something.  
Program Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin noted at the last meeting board members asked 
for more information on the 2008 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perception Study; the 
executive summary and staff report are included in the packet. Julie said she found the study 
very interesting and hopes we are pulling valuable information out of it. She said her own 
experience suggests more people are aware of Energy Trust than when she began. Preston 
Michie asked how stable we think the findings are given the state of the economy. Phil Degens 
said we plan to field the survey again in March 2009.  
 
Julie asked how the survey is conducted. Phil said we select a population-based sample of 
single family owners and single family/multifamily renters, in four geographic regions. We will 
add a strata of young adults to assure we get representative results. It was a telephone survey.  
 
John Reynolds said he feels uncomfortable about recommendation number one, to prioritize 
reaching the “comfortably established” segment, as it offers the greatest potential for savings. 
He knows Energy Trust has been criticized for providing support to those who can afford it. 
Other board members noted most of this segment is located in greater Portland. Alan Meyer 
said he thinks we need to find a channel to reach folks who do not read newspapers or listen to 
OPB. Julie noted the report states 30% of respondents familiar with Energy Trust got their 
information from bill stuffers. Dan said the avenue to reach renters is through their landlords; he 
would like to see programs that link landlord benefits and renter benefits. Debbie said there are 
multifamily programs, and multifamily owners find the improvements useful in attracting and 
retaining renters. Julie noted of the limited number of choices available to “strugglers” (renters), 
many are behavioral and require education. Al said he has mentored struggling families living in 
apartments that are “not up to snuff.” Alan said with new housing starts severely depressed, we 
may have more funds that could be shifted to serve this market. Margie noted our initiative to 
serve the 60-80% of poverty rate population, along with federal stimulus money for low-income 
housing. Preston said we have to keep the contractors in business to be able to deliver 
services. Debbie said landlords are distressed by late payments and defaults.   
 
 
President’s Report 
 
John Reynolds showed pictures from the Rough & Ready co-gen project that opened in 2008. 
He, Caddy and Caddy’s husband participated in the dedication of the event. He noted this is 
one of the three biomass cogeneration project we’ve helped, and is the most significant – the 
smallest, most remote and one of the more difficult to arrange for interconnection.  
 
This Friday the City of Albany hydroelectric project will be celebrated. The Santiam canal comes 
all the way from Lebanon, under I-5 and empties into the Calapooia River, over a 35-foot drop.  
 
John also congratulated Spencer Moersfelder, who received the Energy Manager of the Year 
award from the Oregon Association of Professional Energy Managers.  
 
 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
8


Resolution 505 
 


RESOLUTION 505 
BOARD COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 


WHEREAS: 
1. The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors is authorized to appoint by 


resolution committees to carry out the Board’s business. 
2. The Board President has nominated several new directors to serve on the following 


committees. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby appoints the following directors to the following 


committees for terms that will continue until a subsequent resolution changing 
committee appointments is adopted: 


 


Audit Committee  


 Julie Hammond, Chair 


 Alexis Dow, Metro 


 Jason Eisdorfer 


 Caddy McKeown 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Board Nominating Committee 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Alan Meyer 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
 


Compensation Committee (formerly 401(k) Committee) 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Al Jubitz 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 


Executive Director Review Committee 


 Caddy McKeown, Chair 


 Roger Hamilton 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
9


Finance Committee 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Dan Enloe 


 Debbie Kitchin 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Policy Committee 


 Jason Eisdorfer, Chair 


 Rick Applegate 


 Roger Hamilton 


 Caddy McKeown 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Program Evaluation Committee 


 Debbie Kitchin, Chair 


 Dan Enloe 


 Alan Meyer 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 


Strategic Planning Committee (formerly Innovation Task Force) 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Jason Eisdorfer 


 Al Jubitz 


 Lori Koho, OPUC 


 Betty Merrill, ODOE 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


2. The executive director and general counsel are authorized to sign routine 401(k) 
administrative documents on behalf of the board, or other documents if authorized by the 
Compensation Committee. 


 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Preston Michie 


Vote: 10 In favor: 0  Abstained: o  


Adopted on February 11, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Energy Efficiency 
 
Margie introduced Fred Gordon, who in turn introduced Stephanie Fleming and Claire 
Fulenwider from the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA). Fred apologized for the 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
10


substitute resolution handed out to the board, and explained that staff was trying to move 
quickly to address a time-sensitive opportunity. He noted the opportunity grew out of the ACEEE 
summer study last August, when he learned that Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) was 
developing a program to provide incentives to national manufacturers and chain stores for 
efficient electronic equipment for homes and businesses. After staff had investigated teaming 
with PG&E they concluded that NEEA was the appropriate entity to carry out this work in our 
region. This was because they could represent a large number of program providers, minimizing 
the number of interactions for the national retailers and manufacturers. The resolution 
authorizes moving $500,000 from unspent 2008 funds into the 2009 budget to fund NEEA’s 
work on this initiative. BPA, Seattle City Light, Puget Sound, EWEB, Cowlitz, Idaho Power, 
Snohomish add to a total of 10-12 utilities, plus Energy Trust, who are actively interested, as is 
the Northeast Energy Efficiency Project, a regional group similar to NEEA. Stephanie sees this 
growing into a national effort.  
 
John Savage, by telephone, asked what the bulk of the funds will go toward. Fred said about 
half of the funds will go toward large retailers to raise the percentage of efficient televisions they 
promote and sell. Stephanie described how the other half will be used to market, manage, and 
track savings. She said New England will likely be joining California if we do. John asked what is 
the total regional budget; Stephanie said $2.5 million. Dan thinks it’s great to work regionally 
and nationally. He thinks computer monitors are also big offenders and a recycling program may 
be needed. Stephanie said Best Buy wants to establish a recycling program for televisions and 
other electronic products.  
 
Claire said if more money is contributed than needed, NEEA would reduce the amount from 
some of the early funders. Roger asked if NEEA has considered the impact of the troubled 
economy on spending.  
 
Resolution 506 Authorizing an Efficient Electronic Equipment Program  
 


RESOLUTION 506 
 AUTHORIZING AND FUNDING AN EFFICIENT ELECTRONICS PROGRAM 


 
WHEREAS:  
1. PG&E of California has begun a program that will provide incentives to 


national manufacturers and chain stores for efficient electronic equipment for 
homes and businesses and PG&E intends the program to be a platform for 
others across the nation to join. 


 
2. Energy Trust staff has explored the program with PG&E and believes it could 


be a valuable initiative, projected in 2009 to save roughly 2.2 million annual 
kWh, avoid 1,600 annual tons of carbon emissions, and secure an estimated .5 
MW in peak savings, and achieve efficiency in products that are otherwise 
difficult to reach. The benefits are expected to be significantly greater after 
2009. 


 
3. The Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) is the appropriate entity to 


carry out this work, and is prepared to do it if other funders approve additional 
funding. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors:   







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
11


 
1. Authorizes a new Electric Efficiency Electronics program;  


 
2. Authorizes movement of up to $500,000  from  unexpended 2008 funds  to the 


2009 budget for  a 2009 Electric Efficiency Electronics program; and  
 


3. Authorizes the executive director to amend Energy Trust’s contract with the 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance to include this work. 


 
 


Moved by: Jule Hammond   Seconded by: Al Jubitz 
 


Vote:    In favor: 9   Abstained: Preston Michie (abstained 
because he is a contractor for BPA, which is helping fund the program) 


 
  Opposed: 0 
 
Adopted on February 11, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Adding Energy Trust to BPA’s list of entities approved to receive conservation program 
funding contributions. Margie introduced this subject. There is a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) between Energy Trust and BPA to support our work in BPA public utility 
territories that overlap with natural gas utility customers we serve. She introduced Greg Stiles 
and Mike Rose of BPA. Greg said our territory overlaps with municipal electric utilities and rural 
coops. We know we get a steady stream of these folks calling in and asking to participate in our 
programs and we have to refer them back to public utilities and BPA. The MOU solves that. 
Though no money is exchanged between BPA and Energy Trust, the MOU sets up Energy 
Trust to deliver services for those public utilities in Oregon who choose to have Energy Trust 
provide electric efficiency services to their customers. PUDs would be required to pay us up 
front, and we would draw down as we implemented programs in their service territory. The first 
program to be ready for this opportunity is food service and lodging.  
 
Mike said BPA is excited about this. The MOU lets BPA and Energy Trust work together to 
address mutual problems.  
 
Julie asked how the savings are reported to the other utilities. Greg said our IT system is set up 
to quantify results and attribute the savings. Alan Meyer supports doing this. His only concern is 
that we don’t neglect spending the funds we get from 1149. Margie paraphrased John Savage: 
“Don’t forget your primary purpose is to focus on the IOUs.” John Reynolds is very pleased with 
this initiative. Julie said she is open to this. She asked if we’re prepared to address other 
sectors. Greg said yes. Julie asked if the end game is to have these public utilities, like 
Cascade, decide to have Energy Trust offer all its programs. Greg said that is beyond the scope 
of this MOU.  
 
Dan asked if we will be offering the very same measures and incentives to the publics as we 
provide for PGE and Pacific Power customers. Greg said yes. Debbie asked how likely it is that 
the BPA customers will want to tap Energy Trust residential programs. Mike said BPA’s 
customer utilities differ greatly – for instance some serve only irrigators, others have residential 
customers. John Klosterman asked what is the possible downside. Greg said this opens us up 
to having more stakeholder utilities involved with Energy Trust. John Savage, by phone, said 
that one of the selling points for him is that this move will help Energy Trust better serve its gas 
customers. Margie noted the MOU helps us reach out and diversify our trade ally base. She 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
12


acknowledged Tara Crookshank for working on the contracting end of this initiative. Alan Meyer 
asked how we will assess our charges back to the PUDs; Greg said our charge will be based on 
the incentives with an adder for administrative costs.  
 
Rick Applegate returned to the meeting at 3:15 pm. 
 
Energy efficiency resource assessment Fred Gordon introduced Matt Braman, who reviewed 
his work over the past year updating the resource assessment – a projection of how much 
energy efficiency is available in our area. This work started with: 


• Updating utility data 
• Updating baseline, high efficiency specifications and costs 
• Added benefit/cost ratios 
• Addressed emerging technologies 


 
Some of the new measures included: 


• Home energy monitors 
• Refrigerator recycling 
• Minisplit heat pumps 
• New ENERGY STAR homes 
• Heat pump water heater 
• Low power mode appliances 
• High efficient gas water heaters 


 
Summarized resource potential results: 


• Residential electric: 99 aMW potential 2008-2027 (32 PGE, 67 Pacific Power) 
• Residential gas: 97 million annual therms (76 NW Natural, 21 Cascade) 
• Commercial electric: 270 aMW potential (179 PGE, 123 Pacific Power) 
• Commercial gas: 40 million annual therms (38 NW Natural, 2 Cascade) 
• Industrial electric: 305 aMW potential (223 PGE, 82 Pacific Power) 
• Small Industrial gas: 15 (all NW Natural) 
• Total 651 aMW of technical potential screened at $0.095/kWh levelized cost.  


 
Board members questioned assumptions underlying the results. Fred said the results are 
conservative.  
 
Matt reviewed other slides showing the smaller share of electric savings in the residential 
market (12%) compared to commercial (42%) and industrial (46%).  
 
Alan Meyer asked Matt to address the large difference between technical and achievable 
industrial savings. Matt said measures that were new and untested received low achievability 
scores. Fred said the industrial curve is probably the least predictable of all of them. He 
reviewed several slides that were not included in the packet (slides 14-17). 
 
John Savage asked what changes we would make to our current programs based on these 
results. Fred said that the supply curves show that there is a significant gap for home and 
business electronics, and that we need to find a way to provide more efficiency for the 
semiconductor industry. He noted that emerging residential technologies could almost double 
the savings potential. Matt said he was surprised at the relatively smaller residential electric 
potential.  







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
13


Staff Report 
 
Feature presentation:  Margie introduced Dennis Wilde from Gerding Edlen and Clark 
Brockman from SERA Architects, who presented an overview of the Living Building Initiative 
(LBI). She wants at the end of the discussion for the board to advise her on whether and how to 
continue participating with the Living Building Initiative. She noted our current office space lease 
expires in three years. We have a continuum of choices to make, from leasing space in a 
building like our current one to renting space in a green building to being part of a cutting edge 
new building such as the one to be described today. Clark said he is chair of the Cascadia 
Green Building Council, which issued the Living Building Challenge. Dennis is on that 
organization’s board. Together they are proposing as the developer team to design and build a 
living building.  
 
Clark presented information answering the question why we should be interested in living 
buildings, describing the fact that, nationally, buildings create more greenhouse gas than other 
sectors such as the transportation and industrial sectors. Dennis said all of Gerding Edlen’s 
projects are LEED certified, most of them going for gold or platinum. Gold buildings are coming 
in cost neutral. Living buildings will go considerably farther than LEED Platinum and carry a 
higher cost premium.  
 
The Living Building Challenge has 16 prerequisites. The approach is different from LEED, which 
bases its rating on points for design features. The Living Building must operate for at least a 
year before it can be judged to meet the requirements. Clark reviewed quickly the 16 
prerequisites of the Living Building Challenge: 


• Responsible site design 
• Limits to growth (not on undeveloped land) 
• Habitat exchange (devote a piece of land equal to your site to preserve for 


perpetuity) 
• Net zero water (got grant from Bullitt foundation to analyze code compatibility 


with net zero water) 
• Sustainable water discharge 
• Net zero energy (65% better than code before adding renewables) 
• Materials red-list (12 chemicals that are permitted but shouldn’t be used) 
• Construction carbon footprint 
• Responsible industry (FSC or reclaimed wood) 
• Materials service radius 
• Civilized work environment (operable windows) 
• Healthy air source control 
• Healthy air ventilation 
• Beauty and inspiration 
• Inspiration and education 
• Healthy air / ventilation  


 
Dan Enloe left the meeting at 3:45 pm. 
 
Alan asked why FSC and not SFI (Sustainable Forestry Initiative). Clark said Cascadia 
concluded the former is more verifiable. Alan noted there is more product locally available 
certified as SFI. 
 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
14


Clark said a draft analysis of Living Building incremental costs for buildings of different sizes, 
based on national data, will come out next week. He said the high rise building will cost about 
16% more than LEED gold and have a 15 year payback. Dennis said the biggest challenge 
facing whoever gets selected to design and build this project will be to bring costs down to 
affordability for the prospective owners/tenants. He thinks the payback can be driven down to 2 
years. He thinks the way to get there is to figure out how to design and build more simply, and 
eliminate the “gee whiz” factor. He thinks the OSHU Center for Health & Healing is way too 
complex. If we can figure out how to simplify and achieve affordable zero net commercial 
buildings, we can take that knowledge across the planet. We absolutely have to be able to do 
this. Clark said he totally agrees with Dennis. The renewable system could be done by a third 
party, for instance.  
 
Clark noted the cost study does not include new incentives he thinks are coming for net zero 
buildings. He reviewed some other lessons learned thus far in his work on the Living Buildings 
Challenge.  
 
He reported Portland Development Commission has issued an RFP for a feasibility study for the 
Living Building on the Jasmine site at PSU, SW Montgomery & 4th. Proposals are due February 
18. Four teams are expected to submit proposals, including Clark/Dennis’ team. The selected 
team will have 90 days to conduct the study. Clark noted there is an item in the Governor’s 
budget for bond support for a Living Building as part of the Oregon University System. The 
design process is being fast-tracked to position the building to receive federal stimulus money, 
should some be made available.  
 
Sue Meyer Sample has been attending Living Building Initiative meetings and representing 
Energy Trust. She named groups involved prospectively as owners/tenants. They include, in 
addition to Energy Trust: 


• Community Health Partners 
• The Bus Project 
• Audubon Society 
• Friends of the Columbia Gorge 
• 100 Friends of Oregon 
• League of Conservation Voters Education Fund 
• Conservation Services Group 
• Green Building Services 
• Oregon Environmental Council 
• Earth Advantage 
• Oregon University System 
 


This group envisions fundraising $20-$40 million and will issue an RFP from fundraising 
organizations. Energy Trust is being asked to contribute $12,500 now toward fundraising 
activities, with a potential additional $37,500 if the selected fundraising consultant demonstrates 
fundraising to be an effective strategy. Rick asked if a contribution toward fundraising is a 
legitimate use of Energy Trust funds; John Volkman thinks it would be. Sue said the fundraising 
would reduce the overall net rent. Sue said Oregon University System would own the building 
and lease the space, giving tenants the option to purchase after perhaps 10 years.  
 
Margie noted PDC is donating the land. Dennis said the land is worth $4.5-5 million. Clark noted 
there would be no energy costs, a savings of about $1.50-$2.50/sf per year.  
 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
15


Margie said she talked to John Savage about this. He told her he thought there could be some 
room for some percentage over a base lease costs.  
 
Sue noted Energy Trust would potentially occupy roughly 25% of the LBI space.  
 
Rick asked what analytical steps we would take next. Margie said assuming the board concurs, 
we would invest the $12,500 in fundraising, we would complete the feasibility study and obtain a 
financial proforma, by late spring. By that time we would know the fate of the $80 million bond 
measure in the state budget and the availability of stimulus monies and have the fundraising 
feasibility results to consider.  
 
Preston Michie left the meeting at 4:15 pm. 
 
Roger asked if the building design would/should anticipate Portland shifting to summer peaking 
rather than winter peaking in light of climate change effects by mid-century? Clark said the 
Living Building standard is framed by current climate. In a way Roger is looking toward the next 
level of challenge, which would be to create a restorative building that goes beyond sustainable.  
 
Alan says this venture feels like it’s on the bleeding edge, away from our mission. Debbie said 
at this point we are paying for an option now. We’re spending very little money now to explore 
that option a little more. She shares Alan’s concerns if the cost/benefits were not to support 
commitment. We should clearly have the option to step back later. Sue said the only thing we 
have at risk now is the first $12,500.  
 
Al said this has been one of the best presentations he’s seen in a long time. He noted there is 
no resolution for board action. Margie said at this nominal dollar amount board approval is not 
required but she wanted a sense of the board before moving forward. Al noted he doesn’t have 
enough information now to commit. Rick said he thinks what we have now is the opportunity to 
get the information we need to make a decision. He thinks it is good Margie brought the matter 
to the board now. Al asked who is in the lead. Dennis said initially he and Clark would have said 
they were in the lead. Clark said that when the city came forward to offer donated land, and the 
Oregon University System offered to bond the funds, it made sense to have a public process. 
Whoever is selected as developer later in February will lead the effort to bring the building to 
fruition.  
 
John Reynolds said he thinks this represents an unprecedented opportunity, and that our 
investment of $12,500 is modest for what potentially is at stake. If we don’t do this, who would? 
We can back out later if information shows it is a bad idea. Alan said he is concerned about 
going in this direction. Julie asked whether the building is sized appropriately. Caddy said she is 
comfortable with this action. She has been part of a couple of nonprofit organizations who have 
hired fundraisers to raise large amounts of money. Julie said she is comfortable and is pleased 
to be able to get enough information to look over the edge, whether or not it is bleeding. Debbie 
concurred.  
 
Alan Meyer left the meeting at 4:50 pm. 
 
Sue said the group of nonprofits has formed their own nonprofit called Living Building Initiative. 
They have asked Energy Trust to serve as the fiscal agent for that group. There were no 
concerns expressed.  
 







Discussion Minutes  February 11, 2009 


 
16


Al asked whether there was consideration in siting the building as to accessibility to affordable 
housing for the building’s occupants. Dennis said transportation access to housing mix and 
ancillary services available to the occupants of the building were all given due consideration. 
The Jasmine site has MAX on both sides and a streetcar running through it, and is the densest 
location in the city in terms of bus access. There are some affordable housing units in the 
immediate vicinity. They also looked at what opportunities for district strategies exist. The 
proximity to Portland State offered some special opportunities for district heating and other 
measures. 
 
Year-end update. Margie said she had good news: 33.3 aMW of new renewable energy 
generation, the majority of which is from our final utility scale project, Goodnoe Hills. On the 
efficiency side, we had a best case stretch goal of 35 aMW; we achieved 96 percent of this goal. 
Fifty percent of efficiency savings came in during the last quarter of the year. The only program 
that came in less than we’d hoped was New Homes & Products. Overall electric savings were 
achieved at a levelized cost of $1.9 cents/kWh. On the gas side, we got 56 percent of savings in 
the last quarter, and exceeded stretch goals by 14%. She noted we spent into our gas reserves 
$2.3 million more than we had thought. Because we start 2009 with $2.3 million less gas 
funding available, we will closely monitor gas spending through the year. Should it be necessary 
to increase gas funding, we would come back to the board. We are approaching NW Natural 
now to see what opportunities might exist for increasing the gas public purpose charge should 
that become necessary.  
 
Margie said she will send the board comments from staff on the Northwest Energy Efficiency 
Task Force (NEET) recommendations and on the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 
business plan. She said she expects the amount Energy Trust will be asked to fund the Alliance 
to increase beginning in 2010; she will bring this back to the board at the appropriate time.  
 
The organization design team has started to meet and Peter West, now Director of Energy 
Programs and Steve Lacey, now Director of Operations are in their new roles.  
 
Al asked for an update on incentive changes discussed with the CAC. Steve said we will 
present a revised proposal to the CAC next week, which takes into consideration their 
comments about the down economy affecting their livelihoods as well as our need to maintain 
program funding. Al noted there are other things the contractors can sell, such as comfort 
zones. Debbie said this was not eligible for an incentive because of high cost. Fred said we 
haven’t focused a lot of attention on it. It is more effective in a big home, especially one with a 
lot of empty rooms.  
 
 
Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 5:15 pm. 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, April 1, 2009, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth 
Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon. 








 


 


 


 


Board Decision 
Acceptance of Audited Financial Report 
April 1, 2009 


 
Purpose 
 
Paragraph 3.a.iii(A) of the grant agreement with the Oregon Public Utility Commission requires 
that annual financial statements be audited by an outside independent certified public 
accountant. This resolution accepts the audited financial report prepared by Perkins & 
Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended December 31, 2008, as recommended by the audit 
committee.   


Committee Review 
 
Reviewed by the Audit Committee. 


Recommendation 
 


RESOLUTION 508 
ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT 


 
BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors 
accepts the audited financial statement report, including unqualified 
opinion, prepared and submitted by Perkins & Company, P.C. for the 
calendar year ended December 31, 2008. 


 


 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 
 
Finance Committee Notes 
February 17, 2009 
 
The finance committee met at 3:00 pm on February 17, 2009, with John Klosterman, finance 
committee chair and board treasurer; Debbie Kitchin, secretary; Dan Enloe, board member, 
John Reynolds, board chair, Steve Lacey, operations director, Sue Sample, chief financial 
officer, and Pati Presnail, controller in attendance. Margie Harris did not attend. 
 
December 31, 2008 Financial Statements 
Steve attended to make sure the committee was aware of the details surrounding the over 
spending that took place at the end of the year in the gas programs.  Primarily in the existing 
buildings program, the existing homes and in the new homes and products programs, these 
expenditures used up almost $2.5 million more in carryover than was originally anticipated in the 
forecast provided with the approved budget in December. While savings also exceeded our 
stretch goals, the impact of the overage will mean shortfalls in availability of funds in 2009. In 
2010, that shortfall will become even more significant. The compromise being offered at the 
February 18th CAC meeting around incentives for furnaces, duct and air sealing, etc. will only 
increase the effect. Energy Trust is pursuing alternatives to manage this: 


• Already in contact with NW Natural to pursue potential rate increase in July or 
October of this year. Steve estimated that the increase required would be roughly 
.9% for NWN. 


• Management of incentives in commercial and industrial programs via the reservation 
system, which has been replaced by the forecasted commitments system. 


• Quarterly caps being placed on residential contractors to manage quarterly demand 
so that Energy Trust is not caught by surprise. 


• Monitoring mitigating impacts of economy on demand. 
The committee wanted to make sure that any communication around a rate increase be 
couched in terms of being the gas company’s low cost capacity investment as other alternatives 
would be more expensive.  
 
Steve and the committee also discussed some specifics of potential program offerings, including 
a more comprehensive home evaluation with certain trade allies and on-bill financing piloting 
plans. Debbie shared some anecdotal information about perceptions of costs with Energy Trust 
trade allies. Steve also indicated that we’re looking into more behavioral type programs to 
improve our uptake. 
 
Dan suggested that Energy Trust consider changing its fiscal year to something other than the 
calendar year to mitigate the effects of the lack of predictability of year end activity (the “hockey 
stick”). 
 
Year End Results 
Sue reminded the committee about the 2008 accomplishments, as below: 


• Electric efficiency: results 34 aMW, 27% above conservative goal, 95% of stretch 
goal. 


• Gas efficiency: results 2.633 million annual therms, 52% above conservative goal, 
14% above stretch goal. 


• Renewable energy: results 33.3 aMW, 92% above stretch goal 
In all, 2008 was a very good year for Energy Trust. 







Finance Committee Notes  February 17, 2009 


 2 


4rd Quarter OPUC/Board Report (Draft) 
Not available at this time. 
 
Line of Credit  
The line of credit is due for renewal with the Bank of the Cascades on April 1, 2009. The 
principal amount is $4,000,000. Energy Trust has never used the line, but wishes to keep the 
option available. The interest rate is variable, at prime minus .5 percent. Today that rate would 
be 2.75%. Energy Trust does not pay a fee to maintain the line of credit. 
 
The committee discussed consideration of the RFP for banking services Energy Trust originally 
planned for this spring. Bank of the Cascades is currently in the process of a bank examination. 
Preliminary results should be available within the next few weeks. Sue has reviewed the bank’s 
most recent performance report (12/31/08) and is meeting with representatives of bank next 
week to discuss the credit line and other topics. Given the current banking industry problems the 
committee felt it would be wise to wait until we obtain information as to the results of the 
examination prior to undertaking an RFP.  
 
John K. requested that an analysis of reserve requirements be prepared in order to determine whether 
the committee should consider increasing the line amount. [Based on preparation 2/18/09, reserve 
requirements for Energy Trust for 2009/2010 amount to $6.8 million; Sue will discuss increasing the line 
credit to $7 million when she meets with the bank representatives on February 23rd.] 
 
Other Topics 
 
Form 990 
John K. brought up the topic of the Form 990 which was presented at the last board meeting by 
Perkins and Co. He wanted some clarity about the Board’s responsibility for reviewing the form, 
specifically whether it was better for the full Board to review or for just a committee of the Board to 
review.  The question on the Form 990 is: “Was a copy of the Form 990 provided to the 
organization’s governing body before it was filed?  All organizations must describe in Schedule O 
the process, if any, the organization uses to review the Form 990.” Sue described her 
understanding from trainings she’s attended of the intent of the question, which is to determine that 
the Board is meeting its fiduciary responsibilities with regard to the activities of the organization. 
The finance committee decided it would be best for the entire board to receive a draft copy of the 
Form 990 for their review and acceptance prior to filing. John K. would prefer that Energy Trust 
meet the highest standard in compliance with the disclosures to improve transparency. 
 
Living Building 
John also brought up the discussion the Board held about the Living Building Initiative. Sue let 
the committee know that she notified the LBI steering committee that we would contribute our 
share of the original fundraising contribution, but that Margie would prefer that we not serve as 
fiscal agent until such time as Energy Trust formally agrees to become a participant in the 
project, so as not to give any false impressions of the level of our involvement. Since we are still 
in the exploratory phases of our evaluation, the committee felt this was reasonable. 
 
The committee discussed both the risks and potential rewards for our participation in the LBI 
process.  All agreed that it was a very compelling opportunity with lots of potential advantage, 
but also held more risks (beyond cost) for the Energy Trust.  
 
Next Meeting 
The next Finance Committee meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, March 23, 2009 at 3:00 pm. 
The meeting adjourned at 4:20 pm. 








 
Finance Committee Notes 
March 23, 2009 
 
The finance committee met at 2:00 pm on March 23, 2009, with John Klosterman, Treasurer 
and Finance Committee chair; Debbie Kitchin, Secretary; Dan Enloe, Board member, John 
Reynolds, Board Chair, Margie Harris, Executive Director, Sue Sample, Chief Financial Officer, 
and Pati Presnail, Controller, Elise Bouneff, Vice President, Bank of the Cascades and Walt 
Krumbholz, Executive Vice President, Bank of the Cascades, in attendance. 


Bank of the Cascades update (Elise Bouneff, Walt Krumbholz) 
Elise Bouneff and Walt Krumbholz from the Bank of the Cascades came to address concerns 
expressed by John K. and the committee about the financial health of the bank and the safety of 
our funds held there. Additionally the committee was interested in the results of a recent bank 
examination by the FDIC. The FDIC conducted a routine audit of the bank in January 2009. The 
results of that work are not available yet and when they are, they won’t be made public. Elise 
assured the committee that the bank always responds in a timely and professional manner to 
recommendations made in the course of these audits and have already done so with some 
recommendations made during the exam.   
 
Elise and Walt also presented their annual report and a disclosure of the status of Energy Trust 
accounts as of March 20th. They indicated that the Bank had its worst year in 2008.  As part of 
the “mark to market” standard, the bank had formal appraisals done on all problem assets 
(defined as loans in excess of the market value of the asset or where the bank experienced 
non-payment of the debt). Restating the value of those assets to market value along with the 
write down of goodwill from prior bank acquisitions contributed to a loss in 2008 of $136 million.  
By making these efforts and taking the losses, the bank feels it has much less exposure to 
future write downs. The bank is still considered “well-capitalized” under federal regulatory 
guidelines.  
 
To provide additional assurance, Sue has been monitoring the situation by regularly reviewing 
the bank’s Uniform Bank Performance Reports.  Cascade Bancorp also obtained an unqualified 
audit opinion in its audit of consolidated financial results for December 31, 2008. The bank 
continues to work toward reducing the amount of its nonperforming assets and its controllable 
operating costs. 
 
As for Energy Trust’s investments: 


• Money market mutual funds are in Treasury Obligations accounts which are insured 
by a federal program through April 30, 2009. This insurance may be extended again. 


• Majority of investments are in CDARs investments of varying maturities. These 
investments are fully FDIC insured.  


• Checking account funds are also insured through a transaction account guarantee 
program. NOW accounts with interest rates of 0.5 percent or less are included in the 
program. (Currently the rate of return on these accounts earn is more than the short-
term CDARs investments.) 


Debbie asked what percentage Energy Trust’s accounts were of Bank of the Cascades’ total 
capitalization. Elise responded that their total deposits are roughly $1.7 billion.  


Bank of the Cascades responded to a request by Energy Trust for a proposal for an increased 
line of credit with the renewal this year, from $4 million to $7 million. The purpose was to match 
what Energy Trust considers its desired reserve amount based on the 2009 and 2010 budget 







Finance Committee Notes  March 23, 2009 


 2


and projections. The proposal from the bank agreed to the request, with the following 
stipulations: 


• Rate would continue to be floating at prime minus .50%. 
• There would be a new fee of .25% assessed on the additional amount requested of 


$3 million above the original $4 million line. There would continue to be no fee 
assessed on the first $4 million. 


• A new requirement for Energy Trust to maintain minimum cash balances of not less 
than $21 million. 


• A new requirement for Energy Trust to maintain Net Assets of not less than $21 
million. 


• A new requirement that Energy Trust maintain its primary deposit and banking 
relationship with Bank of the Cascades. 


Sue expressed her concerned that the new minimum requirements would effectively defeat the 
purpose of Energy Trust obtaining the line of credit as its purpose is to facilitate shortfalls until 
funding becomes available and to provide a resource where funding streams could not be 
redistributed between sources.  Energy Trust’s relatively stable income stream has replaced the 
minimum balance requirement in the past with the bank. Walt said that the minimums could be 
negotiated. 


The committee decided to renew the line of credit at its original $4 million amount with the 
original stipulations and covenants, and perhaps reassess later in the year when a need may 
become more apparent. John K. expressed the committees’ appreciation for Elise and Walt’s 
attendance at the meeting and asked for regular (quarterly) meetings to keep updated on the 
banking situation. 


December 31, 2008 Audited Financial Statements 
With the timing on the receipt of the draft audited financial statements (the day before the 
meeting) most of the committee had not had a chance to thoroughly review the document.  Dan 
brought forth a couple of questions about cash restricted in escrow accounts and about the 
401K expense as a percentage of payroll expense. Upon subsequent confirmation with John 
Volkman, the escrow accounts represent contractual commitments that are not available for 
other purposes, and are therefore secure.   Sue explained that the 401K expense in the audited 
financial statements includes both the employer portion of the premiums plus the administrative 
fees. The Compensation Committee reviews the fees assessed as part of their annual reviews 
of the plan. Payroll costs are both a named line item in the statement of functional expenses as 
well as part of allocated costs, which makes a direct calculation difficult to do with the supporting 
documentation. 


January 31, 2009 Financial Statements 
Debbie questioned why incentives are so far below budget in January. It seems like they’re 
even lower than usual for this time of year. [In January 2008, incentives were 26% of budget; in 
January 2009 they amounted to only 21% of budget.] Pati responded that incentives are 
currently closer to 50% of budget. 


Other Items 
Margie provided a brief legislative update. 


Next Meeting 
The next Finance Committee meeting is tentatively scheduled for Monday, May 18, 2009 at 3:00 
pm. Debbie will be unavailable for that meeting. The meeting adjourned at 3:30 pm. 








 


 
 
Board Decision 
Renewing a $4 Million Line of Credit at the Bank of the 
Cascades 
April 1, 2009 


Summary 
The Energy Trust wishes to renew the $4 million line of credit with the Bank of the Cascades. 


Background 
• The Energy Trust board first approved a $4 million line of credit in March, 2002. The limit 


was subsequently reduced to $1 million and in December, 2005, restored to $4 million. 
The Energy Trust established a $4 million line of credit with its new bank, the Bank of the 
Cascades in April 2006. 


• The Bank of the Cascades authorized a commitment for a revolving line of credit in the 
amount of $4 million to bridge timing issues of revenue receipt and program expense, 
conditioned upon the board’s approval by resolution. 


• The line of credit at the Bank of the Cascades will expire on April 1, 2009. 


• The Finance Committee discussed the line of credit at its meeting on March 23 and they 
recommend renewing a $4 million line of credit at the Bank of the Cascades to be 
effective through March 31, 2010.   


Recommendation 
• Approve resolution 510 renewing a $4 million line of credit at the Bank of the Cascades. 


 
 


RESOLUTION 510 
RENEWING A $4 MILLION LINE OF CREDIT 


AT THE BANK OF THE CASCADES 
 


 WHEREAS: 
 
1. The Energy Trust board first approved a $4 million line of credit in March, 2002. 


The limit was subsequently reduced to $1 million and in December, 2005, 
restored to $4 million.  


 
2. The Energy Trust established such line of credit with the Bank of the Cascades 


in April 2006.  
 
3. The Energy Trust wishes to renew such line of credit with the Bank of the 


Cascades to be effective through March 31, 2010. 
 
4. The Bank of the Cascades has authorized a commitment for a revolving line of 


credit in the amount of $4M to bridge timing issues of revenue receipt and 
program expense, conditioned upon the board’s approval by resolution. 


 







Resolution 510 Renewing a $4 million Line of Credit 
at the Bank of the Cascades  April 1, 2009 


2 


 


 
 
 
IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED:  by the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors: 
 
1. That this corporation, Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., may: 


• Borrow up to $4 million from a revolving unsecured line of credit offered by 
the Bank of the Cascades at an interest rate of prime minus .50% to bridge 
timing issues of revenue receipt and program expense. 


• Repay the line of credit with monthly interest payments and principal due 
at maturity, within one year from the date of the agreement. 


 
2. Any two (2) of the following officers of this corporation, one a representative 


from management and one a representative from the board: 
a. President 
b. Vice President 
c. Treasurer 
d. Executive Director 
e. Chief Financial Officer 


are hereby authorized and directed, in the name of this corporation to execute 
and deliver to Bank and the Bank is requested to accept the credit agreements, 
letter of credit applications and agreements, or other instruments, agreements 
and documents which evidence the obligations of this corporation under the 
credit facilities obtained or to be obtained pursuant to this resolution.  
  


3. The Bank is authorized to act upon the foregoing resolutions until written 
notice of revocation is received by the Bank, and the authority hereby granted 
shall apply with equal force and effect to the successors in office of the 
authorized officers. 


 


 
Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








DEC NOV DEC Change from Change from
2008 2008 2007 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents* 51,901,588 60,863,200 40,358,008 (8,961,612) 11,543,580
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 10,128,530 10,269,480 8,504,055 (140,950) 1,624,475
  Investments* 9,827,698 9,806,460 12,636,975 21,238 (2,809,278)
  Restricted Investments (Escrow Funds) 1,049,537 1,047,266 3,592,594 2,270 (2,543,057)
  Receivables 324,410 8,679 62,208 315,731 262,202
  Prepaid Expenses 193,832 125,320 77,175 68,511 116,656
  Advances to Vendors 784,287 437,286 922,974 347,001 (138,687)


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
   Total Current Assets 74,209,881 82,557,691 66,153,990 (8,347,810) 8,055,891


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 70,795 54,160 -                          16,635 70,795
  Computer Hardware and Software 907,867 910,855 885,669 (2,988) 22,198
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 113,343 113,343 (90,960) (90,960)
  Office Equipment and Furniture 49,192 41,323 41,323 7,869 7,869


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,050,236 1,119,680 1,040,334 (69,445) 9,901
  Less Depreciation (891,800) (976,037) (905,274) 84,237 13,473


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 158,435 143,643 135,061 14,792 23,375


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 26,000 -                          -                          
  Deferred Compensation Asset 68,954 92,922 49,684 (23,968) 19,270


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Other Assets 94,954 118,922 75,684 (23,968) 19,270


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Assets 74,463,272 82,820,256 66,364,735 (8,356,985) 8,098,537


=============== =============== =============== =============== ===============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 10,169,810 6,213,913 6,236,442 3,955,896 3,933,368
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 340,283 317,217 275,553 23,066 64,730


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 10,510,093 6,531,130 6,511,995 3,978,963 3,998,098


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 142,828 145,212 171,430 (2,384) (28,602)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 68,954 92,922 49,684 (23,968) 19,270
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 3,810 3,175 12,386 635 (8,576)


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 215,593 241,309 233,501 (25,716) (17,908)


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Liabilities 10,725,686 6,772,439 6,745,496 3,953,247 3,980,190


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrest Net Assets 5,036,929 17,208,480.56 10,542,502 (12,171,552) (5,505,573)
  Escrow 11,178,067 11,316,746.00 12,096,649 (138,679) (918,582)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beg of Yr 47,522,591 47,522,590.66 36,980,089 0 10,542,502


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Net Assets 63,737,586 76,047,817 59,619,239 (12,310,231) 4,118,347


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 74,463,272 82,820,256 66,364,735 (8,356,984) 8,098,537


=============== =============== =============== =============== ===============
*Although these funds are not escrowed, they are committed via the budget process for approved programs.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2008


(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June July August September October November December Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$    3,757,295$    2,894,504$    2,755,250$    1,822,278$    400,998$       184,811$       1,243,479$    1,426,588$    (464,035)$      (1,187,386)$   (12,310,231)$    4,118,347$        


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752            6,753            6,753            6,752            6,932            6,932            6,932            6,225            5,626            5,626            5,481            13,431             84,194              
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)           (2,384)           (2,383)           (2,384)           (2,383)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,383)           (2,384)              (28,602)             


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041            4,357            (1,178)           (8,085)           1,568            (534)              9,846            (1,774)           (2,299)           6,047            597               589                 11,176              
Other Receivables 42,200           (4,645)           2,094            50                 (22)               (434)              351               (14,318)         6,022            11,508           136               (316,320)          (273,378)           
Advances to Vendors 282,109         278,827         (517,346)        137,275         293,128         (397,822)        177,726         282,267         (567,529)        198,939         318,113         (347,001)          138,687            
Other Assets 16,618           4,373            17,949           (28,724)         (75,367)         5,382            (4,543)           9,233            (24,552)         12,129           (23,879)         (44,544)            (135,925)           
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879         (184,085)        (726,125)        1,104,414      (1,084,865)     126,274         369,058         408,184         (212,819)        835,467         1,547,228      (772,091)          1,566,520          
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)     (335,765)        -               -               -               -               494,769         (450,089)        (44,680)         -               841,185         4,805,511         2,375,682          
A/P - Professional Services 10,199           2,242            14,854           (9,175)           2,876            3,506            (2,905)           11,318           (14,870)         4,861            24,892           (20,897)            26,901              
A/P - Operations (61,703)         (43,861)         43,275           (46,831)         (8,887)           (22,469)         25,707           18,206           109,385         (58,669)         66,738           (56,627)            (35,735)             
Payroll and related accruals 26,392           11,599           (960)              7,903            8,379            19,774           (8,621)           (13,804)         9,785            13,329           11,125           (901)                84,000              
Other liabilities (5,000)           -               (999)              (3,212)           -               -               635                 (8,576)              


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652      3,494,706      1,731,436      3,916,445      963,637         134,223         1,250,748      1,495,545      685,062         562,819         1,601,848      (9,050,829)        7,923,291          


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (12,292)         -               -               (39,307)         (6,447)           (21,300)         (28,224)            (107,570)           
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)         -               -               (39,307)         (6,447)           -               -               (21,300)         -               -               -               (28,224)            (107,570)           


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632     66,216,992     69,711,698     71,443,134     75,320,272     76,277,462     76,411,685     77,662,433     79,136,678     79,821,740     80,384,558     81,986,406       65,091,632        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360      3,494,706      1,731,436      3,877,138      957,190         134,223         1,250,748      1,474,245      685,062         562,819         1,601,848      (9,079,053)        7,815,721          


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$   69,711,698$   71,443,134$   75,320,272$   76,277,462$   76,411,685$   77,662,433$   79,136,678$   79,821,740$   80,384,558$   81,986,406$   72,907,353$     72,907,353$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008
(Unaudited)







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals, 2008 Forecasts, 2009 Budget


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental funding 6,508,323        7,337,337        7,345,672        6,757,067        6,405,186        5,641,637        5,564,566        6,452,848        6,444,493        6,320,242        6,132,854        6,659,526        


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income 224,303           209,380           167,751           138,724           134,653           125,749           148,676           136,366 129,536           137,221           117,514           108,167           


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,546,717        7,513,423        6,895,791        6,539,840        5,767,386        5,713,241        6,589,214        6,574,029        6,457,463        6,250,368        6,767,693        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,504,786        2,914,937        406,287           2,482,857        2,042,506        1,221,592        1,296,152        2,847,443        1,256,066        382,649           3,675,691        


    Incentives 3,718,094        1,618,433        1,987,756        1,790,004        2,124,174        2,551,985        2,162,431        2,897,347        2,250,179        3,491,498        3,268,878        10,735,416      


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           430,496           449,836           441,158           425,719           423,613           450,140           425,796           458,436           447,372           426,912           427,375           


    Professional services 176,920           354,775           384,226           254,251           365,759           498,150           536,950           367,672           328,839           548,714           521,640           767,749           


    General operating expenses 184,139           143,521           45,232            126,953           184,141           116,908           91,380            128,002           4,071              150,994           48,442            240,516           


-                     


Total cash out 5,607,266        4,052,011        5,781,987        3,018,653        5,582,650        5,633,162        4,462,493        5,114,969        5,888,968        5,894,644        4,648,521        15,846,747      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        957,190           134,223           1,250,748        1,474,245        685,062           562,819           1,601,848        (9,079,053)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      79,821,740      80,384,558      81,986,406      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      79,821,740      80,384,558      81,986,406      72,907,353      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,621,758      11,377,850      11,331,557      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (255,950)          (152,667)          (308,363)          (281,128)          (63,987)           (153,204)          


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            32,859            31,176            19,514            25,386            19,988            25,874            23,156            21,065            37,221            17,693            14,525            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,621,758      11,377,850      11,331,557      11,192,878      


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals, 2008 Forecasts, 2


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Forecast 2009-B-02


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


8,938,719     9,351,591     8,820,658     8,183,280     7,798,232     7,260,342     7,136,307     7,324,212     6,938,813         6,826,605     7,188,814        7,739,699       


292,714       -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -                  -              -                 -                


78,508         101,884       105,059       106,230       106,262       103,730       99,709         96,475         92,786             84,056         74,280            62,768           


9,309,941     9,453,476     8,925,717     8,289,510     7,904,494     7,364,072     7,236,016     7,420,688     7,031,599         6,910,661     7,263,093        7,802,467       


2,852,888     2,475,160     3,057,033     2,258,933     2,261,783     3,069,256     2,279,532     2,265,083     3,041,589         2,272,432     2,426,873        3,204,315       


9,392,205     3,534,358     4,307,481     5,048,973     5,043,000     6,173,591     5,708,299     5,336,587     5,349,517         11,298,720   7,405,304        14,554,489     


706,074       567,924       569,977       579,270       579,270       579,752       579,752       579,752       579,752           579,752       579,752          579,752          


(448,657)      746,852       917,036       917,336       1,003,561     850,463       850,513       946,438       942,680           942,730       1,028,355        866,847          


262,426       234,083       193,648       197,198       185,117       185,553       189,420       177,852       193,850           186,740       200,608          187,791          


12,764,936   7,558,379     9,045,175     9,001,710     9,072,731     10,858,615   9,607,516     9,305,712     10,107,387       15,280,373   11,640,891      19,393,194     


(3,454,995)    1,895,097     (119,458)      (712,199)      (1,168,237)    (3,494,543)    (2,371,500)    (1,885,025)    (3,075,788)       (8,369,712)    (4,377,798)       (11,590,727)    


72,907,353   69,452,358   71,347,455   71,227,998   70,515,798   69,347,561   65,853,018   63,481,519   61,596,494       58,520,706   50,150,994      45,773,196     


69,452,358   71,347,455   71,227,998   70,515,798   69,347,561   65,853,018   63,481,519   61,596,494   58,520,706       50,150,994   45,773,196      34,182,470     


11,192,878   10,561,545   9,347,579     8,713,479     7,953,458     7,210,936     6,573,631     6,458,523     6,361,881         6,371,424     6,255,637        6,158,690       


(647,636)      (1,228,886)    (647,636)      (772,511)      (753,886)      (647,636)      (124,875)      (106,250)      -                     (125,250)      (106,250)         -                    


16,304         14,921         13,536         12,491         11,365         10,331         9,767           9,608           9,543               9,463           9,304              9,238             


10,561,545   9,347,579     8,713,479     7,953,458     7,210,936     6,573,631     6,458,523     6,361,881     6,371,424         6,255,637     6,158,690        6,167,929       







December YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,591,086 2,835,542 (244,456) 34,267,152 35,096,953 (829,801)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,638,050 1,939,492 (301,442) 20,915,923 21,828,367 (912,444)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 679,361 682,621 (3,259) 9,282,857 8,540,133 742,724


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 94,411 118,700 (24,289) 967,082 905,757 61,324
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 5,002,909 5,576,355 (573,446) 65,433,013 66,371,210 (938,197)


Incremental Funds - PGE 1,033,213 1,131,084 (97,871) 5,717,957 5,011,745 706,212


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 623,404 804,710 (181,306) 6,419,261 6,449,128 (29,867)


Self-Direct Repayment Revenue 292,714 0 292,714 292,714 0 292,714


Revenue from Investments 107,578 112,509 (4,931) 1,766,865 1,842,528 (75,663)
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 7,059,818 7,624,658 (564,840) 79,629,810 79,674,610 (44,800)
============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,533,629 2,169,062 (364,567) 22,895,690 24,026,354 1,130,664


Incentives 15,540,926 13,291,034 (2,249,892) 40,971,877 63,818,936 22,847,060


Salaries and Related Expenses 426,474 510,779 84,305 5,270,689 6,129,342 858,654


Professional Services 746,852 608,760 (138,092) 5,132,547 7,167,706 2,035,160


Supplies 3,333 4,075 742 41,813 58,400 16,587


Telephone 5,752 4,725 (1,027) 55,904 56,700 796


Postage and Shipping Expenses 2,308 5,496 3,188 20,794 65,950 45,156


Occupancy Expenses 26,703 27,801 1,099 222,648 340,481 117,833


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 37,323 67,491 30,168 226,003 380,231 154,229


Call Center 12,941 18,091 5,150 148,436 200,000 51,564


Printing and Publications 15,795 22,119 6,324 160,485 209,425 48,940


Travel 5,815 17,946 12,130 116,017 183,849 67,832


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 4,253 25,663 21,409 137,051 322,700 185,649


Insurance 6,322 8,000 1,678 66,547 96,000 29,453


Miscellaneous Expenses 900 217 (683) 2,662 2,600 (62)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 723 5,247 4,524 42,302 71,355 29,054
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 19,370,049 16,786,505 (2,583,545) 75,511,463 103,130,032 27,618,569
============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSE (12,310,231) (9,161,846) (3,148,385) 4,118,347 (23,455,421) 27,573,768
============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Mgmt & Delivery 56,095,886 7,771,680 63,867,566 -                          63,867,566
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,226,780 835,912 2,062,692 1,160,584 346,143 1,506,727 3,569,419
Outsourced Services 2,651,061 1,004,880 3,655,941 288,858 333,474 622,332 4,278,273
Planning and Evaluation 966,140 217,843 1,183,983 15,510 1,431 16,941 1,200,924
Customer Service Management 551,159 60,438 611,597 -                          611,597


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 61,491,026 9,890,753 71,381,779 1,464,952 681,048 2,146,000 73,527,779


Program Support Costs


Supplies 8,427 5,913 14,340 8,348 3,599 11,947 26,287
Postage and Shipping Expenses 6,413 1,993 8,406 4,520 3,873 8,393 16,799
Telephone 6,621 4,434 11,055 5,095 855 5,950 17,005
Printing and Publications 89,401 15,445 104,846 3,114 35,816 38,930 143,776
Occupancy Expenses 48,801 34,939 83,740 42,347 15,001 57,348 141,088
Insurance 14,586 10,443 25,029 12,657 4,484 17,141 42,170
Equipment 6,098 18,530 24,628 5,187 1,858 7,045 31,673
Travel 44,438 24,938 69,376 22,172 8,723 30,895 100,271
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 33,694 9,049 42,743 43,000 9,197 52,197 94,940
Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                          -                          -                          
Depreciation & Amortization 2,671                       10,373                     13,044 2,317 821 3,138 16,182
Dues, Licenses and Fees 28,189                     1,187                       29,376 6,979 4,474 11,453 40,829
Miscellaneous Expenses 2,133                       223                         2,356 83 28 111 2,467
IT Services 897,988                   148,246                   1,046,234 179,422 84,541 263,963 1,310,197


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,189,460 285,713 1,475,173 335,241 173,270 508,511 1,983,684


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 62,680,486 10,176,466 72,856,952 1,800,193 854,318 2,654,511 75,511,463


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.3%


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $26,598,123 $16,068,161 $9,282,857 $967,082 $52,916,223 $7,669,029 $4,847,762 $12,516,791 $65,433,014
Incremental Funding 5,717,957 6,419,261 12,137,218 12,137,218
Self Direct Repayment 292,714 292,714 292,714
Revenue from Investments 1,766,865 1,766,865


------------------- ------------------- --------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------- ----------------- ----------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 32,608,794 22,487,422 9,282,857 967,082 65,346,155 7,669,029 4,847,762 12,516,791 1,766,865 79,629,810


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------- -------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,339,722 737,387 702,782 36,740 6,271 2,822,902 561,096 275,815 836,911 -             3,659,813
  Program Delivery 9,550,781 5,751,812 3,397,482 196,385 40,330 18,936,790 58,943 61,102 120,045 -             19,056,835
  Incentives 15,478,669 9,711,979 7,671,410 412,991 46,194 33,321,243 4,722,041 2,928,595 7,650,636 -             40,971,879
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 1,016,675 587,170 457,071 24,011 2,008 2,086,934 234,290 100,031 334,321 -             2,421,255
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,508,087 758,306 852,482 49,526 8,695 3,177,096 211,801 127,287 339,088 -             3,516,184
  Program Legal Services 215 108 148 8 1 480 6,898 43 6,941 -             7,421
  Program Quality Assurance 56,950 28,328 47,020 2,127 137 134,562 1,272 4,068 5,340 -             139,902
  Outsourced  Services 225,863 139,997 86,552 7,261 186 459,859 360,260 176,774 537,034 -             996,893
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 210,536 102,582 227,962 9,578 501 551,159 39,519 20,919 60,438 -             611,597
  IT Services 411,796 218,612 251,704 13,732 2,144 897,988 100,009 48,236 148,245 -             1,046,233
  Other Program Expenses 132,210 78,930 76,109 3,837 386 291,473 90,343 47,124 137,467 -             428,940


------------------- ------------------- --------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------- ----------------- ----------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 29,931,505 18,115,211 13,770,722 756,195 106,853 62,680,486 6,386,472 3,789,994 10,176,466 -            72,856,952


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------- -------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 739,565 447,602 340,255 18,684 2,640 1,548,746 157,801 93,646 251,447 -             1,800,193
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 350,975 212,418 161,475 8,867 1,253 734,989 74,888 44,441 119,329 -             854,318


------------------- ------------------- --------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------- ----------------- ----------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,090,540 660,020 501,730 27,552 3,893 2,283,735 232,689 138,087 370,776 -            2,654,511


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------- -------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 31,022,045 18,775,231 14,272,452 783,747 110,747 64,964,221 6,619,161 3,928,081 10,547,242 -            75,511,463


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------- -------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 1,586,749 3,712,191 (4,989,595) 183,335 (110,747) 381,934 1,049,868 919,681 1,969,549 1,766,865 4,118,347


========== ========== =========== ======== ======== ========== ========= ========== ========== ========= ============
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 4) 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,994 446,188 189,069 15,777,585 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,239
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


========== ========== =========== ======== ======== ========== ========= ========== ========== ========= ============
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 18,485,829 (2,557,555) 2,423,399 629,523 78,322 19,059,519 25,147,380 14,817,535 39,964,915 4,713,153 63,737,586


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 reflects audited results.


(Unaudited)


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $4,829,099 $2,192,179 7,021,278 $3,163,520 $148,512 3,312,032 10,333,310 $11,880,167 1,546,857            
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 4,936,549            2,853,654           7,790,203 1,000,438           86,939          1,087,377 8,877,580 9,673,070               795,490              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 938,793              708,213              1,647,006 -                        1,647,006 1,582,620               (64,386)               


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Commercial 10,704,441    5,754,046     16,458,487     4,163,958     235,451    -           4,399,409         20,857,896    23,135,857       2,277,961      


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 6,122,031            5,785,372           11,907,403 82,136               3,873            86,009 11,993,412 16,087,116             4,093,704            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 484,729              365,671              850,400 -                        850,400 949,483                  99,083                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Industrial 6,606,760      6,151,043     12,757,803     82,136          3,873        -           86,009              12,843,812    17,036,599       4,192,787      


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 5,826,500            2,816,476           8,642,976 7,903,665           298,930        8,202,595 16,845,571 16,905,123             59,552                
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 7,324,990            3,631,698           10,956,688 2,122,693           245,493        110,746        2,478,932 13,435,620 14,142,089             706,469              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 559,354              421,968              981,322 -                        981,322 1,029,650               48,328                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Residential 13,710,844    6,870,142     20,580,986     10,026,358   544,423    110,746    10,681,527       31,262,513    32,076,862       814,349         


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 31,022,045    18,775,231   49,797,276     14,272,452   783,747    110,746    15,166,945       64,964,221    72,249,318       7,285,097      
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 724,180              769,464              1,493,644 -                        1,493,644 2,048,992               555,348              
Open Solicitation 1,861,216            250,683              2,111,899 -                        2,111,899 9,224,799               7,112,900            
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 3,681,151            1,948,584           5,629,735 -                        5,629,735 9,092,038               3,462,303            
Utility Scale Projects 22,027                822,545              844,572 -                        844,572 4,595,365               3,750,793            
Wind 330,587              136,805              467,392 -                        467,392 5,919,518               5,452,126            


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 6,619,161      3,928,081     10,547,242     -                -           -           -                    10,547,242    30,880,712       20,333,470    
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 37,641,206    22,703,312   60,344,518     14,272,452   783,747    110,746    15,166,945       75,511,463    103,130,032     27,618,569    


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended December 31, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH
QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $117,154 $81,647 ($35,507) $272,174 $346,855 $74,681 $61,663 $102,255 $40,592 $333,474 $409,020 $75,546


Legal Services 3,154 10,125 6,971 16,683 40,500 23,817 1,875 1,875 7,500 7,500


Salaries and Related Expenses 292,193 315,715 23,522 1,160,584 1,262,860 102,276 95,895 91,566 (4,329) 346,143 366,263 20,120


Supplies 827 1,425 598 2,163 5,700 3,537 388 300 (88) 1,410 1,200 (210)


Telephone 1,810 300 (1,510) 3,541 1,200 (2,341) 167 (167) 304 (304)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 723 675 (48) 2,456 2,700 244 263 5,113 4,850 3,142 20,450 17,308


Noncapitalized Equipment 13,200 13,200 300 300 20 1,200 1,180


Printing and Publications 53 125 72 277 500 223 2,244 12,313 10,068 34,811 49,250 14,439


Travel 5,567 11,475 5,908 22,169 45,900 23,731 4,516 1,850 (2,666) 8,722 7,400 (1,322)


Conference, Training & Mtngs (11,154) 31,187 42,342 43,000 124,750 81,750 1,883 3,625 1,742 9,197 14,500 5,303


Miscellaneous Expenses 25 25 5 100 95


Dues, Licenses and Fees 482 1,179 697 6,646 8,105 1,459 1,614 1,250 (363) 4,356 5,000 644


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 24,785 28,810 4,026 75,561 114,335 38,774 9,991 10,135 144 26,767 40,220 13,453


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 47,266 75,065 27,799 179,422 266,276 86,853 22,271 35,369 13,098 84,541 125,464 40,924


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 4,909 5,019 110 15,510 19,738 4,227 453 463 10 1,431 1,821 390


------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 487,768 562,773 75,005 1,800,193 2,252,719 452,526 201,347 266,413 65,066 854,318 1,049,289 194,971
========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$20


$40


$60


$80


$100


$120


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Marc


h
Apr


il
May
Jun


e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


Octo
be


r
Nov


em
be


r
Dec


em
be


r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-


$5


$10


$15


$20


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-
$2
$4
$6
$8


$10
$12
$14
$16


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May
Jun


e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-
$10
$20
$30
$40
$50
$60
$70


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








R00407 2/9/2009Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 2/9/2009Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 12/31/2008 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


December 2008


Administration


Administration Total:  4,486,720  1,879,604  2,607,116


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  3,049,447  1,117,296  1,932,152


Energy Efficiency Programs


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/09 19,090,000  13,152,023  5,937,977


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. Energy Star Homes & Products 1/1/08 12/31/08 6,519,071  6,354,042  165,029


Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 5,225,120  4,679,917  545,203


Science Applications International 


Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/08 3,175,500  2,236,979  938,521


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 2,865,380  2,765,197  100,183


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2009 1/1/09 12/31/11 940,970  0  940,970


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/09 12/31/11 858,586  0  858,586


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/10 650,000  540,974  109,026


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC PE 1/1/09 12/31/11 640,508  0  640,508


Resource Actions Programs LivingWise program kits 6/15/08 2/28/09 553,317  15,000  538,317


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC 2008 PE Evaluation 10/22/08 7/30/10 450,000  48,290  401,710


Opinion Dynamics Corporation 2008 HES Impact Evaluation 12/1/08 9/30/10 400,000  18,903  381,097


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


80+ computer power supply 


prog


8/1/08 12/31/09 386,236  193,118  193,118


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 6/30/09 385,000  379,730  5,270


Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting PDC 1/1/09 12/31/09 337,831  26,352  311,479


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 6/30/09 290,000  222,664  67,336


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE - Hitech pilot 1/1/09 12/31/11 273,880  0  273,880


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 1/30/09 261,586  104,638  156,948


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. PMC transition 9/3/08 12/31/08 250,000  228,289  21,711


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/09 170,000  79,996  90,004


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 1/1/09 12/31/11 155,734  0  155,734


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  60,228  77,272


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit provider 5/1/08 4/30/09 123,000  98,503  24,497


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 90,000  50,582  39,418


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/09 89,300  66,083  23,217


Science Applications International 


Corporation


PMC Transition agreement 09 1/1/09 1/30/09 75,000  0  75,000


Walt Mintkeski PDC PE Waste water treatment 1/1/09 12/31/09 65,000  6,098  58,903


Resource Consultants So. OR Trade Ally Coordinator 1/1/09 12/31/09 60,000  0  60,000


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 9/30/09 57,000  31,385  25,615


Weyerhaeuser Paper Company Albany CHP feasibilty study 3/20/08 3/19/09 50,000  0  50,000


Corvallis Environmental Center Corvallis initiative consult. 3/1/08 3/1/09 44,300  37,479  6,821


The Cadmus Group Inc. Energy Star commercial bldgs 10/31/08 12/31/08 30,450  23,075  7,375


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Review 9/1/08 1/30/09 30,000  9,720  20,280


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 1/31/09 30,000  9,240  20,760


Market Development Group, LLC Home Performance Contest 9/1/08 11/30/09 30,000  10,994  19,006


KEMA Incorporated Billing Analysis Methodology 9/1/08 1/31/09 20,000  6,231  13,769


Northwest Energy Education 


Institute, Lane Community College


2009 Scholarship Grant 12/29/08 12/31/09 16,000  0  16,000


Geavista Group, Inc. New Homes QA 7/1/08 6/30/09 15,400  14,985  415


Ecos Consulting Assess OR comm. window 


market


5/13/08 12/31/09 15,000  5,000  10,000


Consortium for Energy Efficiency 2009 Membership Dues 2/4/09 2/28/09 13,650  0  13,650


Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/08 11,800  5,800  6,000


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/09 11,000  10,753  247


Landerholm, Memovich, Lansverk 


& Whitesides P.S.


Cascade Natural legal advise 5/30/07 12/31/09 10,000  8,477  1,523


Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen cans 3/1/08 1/30/09 10,000  1,617  8,383







R00407 2/9/2009Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 2/9/2009Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 12/31/2008 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


December 2008


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


Emerging/underuntilized tech. 3/20/08 3/31/09 10,000  0  10,000


NW Natural Apogee data agreement 5/1/08 4/30/09 7,200  7,200  0


Mike Fenske PE Consulting 2/1/08 2/28/09 5,000  2,800  2,200


Energy Efficiency Total:  44,935,319  31,512,361  13,422,958


Joint Programs


Umpqua Bank Co-branding agreement 9/1/08 8/31/10 160,000  31,034  128,966


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/09 99,767  45,657  54,110


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 3/31/09 93,150  76,566  16,584


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/09 72,330  29,589  42,741


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/09 69,000  49,099  19,901


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/09 68,800  51,943  16,857


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 68,440  31,039  37,402


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/09 50,820  39,325  11,495


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/09 45,325  45,325  0


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


2009 Reg Tech Forum Sponsor 2/5/09 2/27/09 35,000  35,000  0


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC Planning services 9/15/08 9/14/09 33,000  6,449  26,551


Watkins and Associates, Inc. Residential solar values study 9/1/08 12/31/08 26,100  1,700  24,400


Luxurious Plumbing and Heating, 


Inc.


Solar  services 5/1/08 4/30/09 25,000  6,600  18,400


The Cadmus Group Inc. Billing Anal. Process Review 9/1/08 1/30/09 20,000  15,363  4,638


Stellar Processes, Inc. billing analysis evaluation 9/1/08 1/30/09 15,000  1,540  13,460


Association of Energy Services 


Professionals


Demand side management 


conf.


1/20/09 6/30/09 11,130  0  11,130


Salesgenie.com Inc. Sales Genie Online 7/7/08 5/31/09 6,000  6,000  0


Dethman & Associates SER Pilot evaluation 9/1/08 1/10/09 5,000  2,180  2,820


Joint Programs Total:  903,862  474,408  429,454


Renewable Energy Program


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 1/31/10 4,500,000  767,387  3,732,613


Sunway 2, LLC Prologis PV installation 9/30/08 9/30/28 3,405,000  0  3,405,000


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  447,912  1,237,176


Alder Solar LLC HAbilitation Center PV 1/18/08 12/31/28 1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506


Central Oregon Irrigation District Juniper Ridge Hydroelectric 10/31/08 6/30/31 1,000,000  0  1,000,000


Swalley Irrigation District Swalley irrigation hydro proj. 5/15/08 5/15/28 895,609  0  895,609


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/09 386,266  382,317  3,949


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 5/31/28 362,000  362,000  0


TSS Renewables, Inc. biopower services 4/1/08 3/31/10 148,832  78,271  70,561


Northwest Dairy Association LOA - Feasibility Studies 11/13/08 11/30/09 140,000  0  140,000


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC RE New Markets Study 3/19/08 3/15/09 125,000  111,129  13,871


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 6/14/09 99,600  76,211  23,389


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/08 87,700  74,261  13,439


Resource Consultants USDA Grant Workshops 9/1/08 7/31/09 83,000  27,800  55,200


Stephen F. Anderson RETAA 3/15/07 3/31/09 80,088  66,619  13,470


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  77,390  2,425


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/09 77,500  27,912  49,588


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R schools PV systems 1/1/08 6/30/09 71,600  69,598  2,002


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 7/31/09 60,000  23,347  36,653


Stephen F. Anderson Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/08 42,130  24,706  17,424


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 6 (2009) 7/1/08 6/30/09 39,543  39,543  0


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


RE Consultant 9/1/08 8/31/09 36,000  19,556  16,444


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/09 33,200  25,698  7,503


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500







R00407 2/9/2009Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 2/9/2009Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 12/31/2008 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


December 2008


Eastern Oregon Power & Light Co. Rock Creek hydro study 5/9/08 6/30/09 30,000  0  30,000


Clean Water Services Small wind technical assist. 8/22/08 7/31/09 30,000  616  29,384


City of Salem Willow Lake H2O Fac. bio study 8/12/08 1/31/09 30,000  0  30,000


City of Medford Energy Master Plan 10/20/08 3/31/09 25,000  0  25,000


Lane County Ryegrass Digester 9/16/08 2/15/09 25,000  0  25,000


CIty of Gresham hydro study City of Gresham 5/30/08 12/31/08 24,946  24,742  204


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 1/31/24 24,125  0  24,125


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 5/31/28 23,863  23,863  1


Hood River County School District Small wind demo project 6/25/08 6/25/23 22,600  0  22,600


Solar Energy Association of 


Oregon


Americorp position OR Solar 5/20/08 5/31/09 22,500  22,500  0


Earth By Design Inc. Ochoco Irrigation MicroHydro 12/18/08 7/31/09 20,675  0  20,675


Earth by Design, Inc. N. Unit Irrigation Canal #4 12/18/08 7/31/09 19,375  0  19,375


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/08 16,900  10,622  6,278


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 6/30/09 16,619  13,833  2,786


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/08 15,000  4,984  10,016


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/09 14,500  2,726  11,775


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  2,170  10,981


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RETAA 6/7/07 5/31/09 13,100  7,116  5,984


Electrical Power Engineers, Inc. Grid Interconnection study 12/18/08 10/31/09 13,000  0  13,000


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/09 13,000  3,822  9,178


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


RETAA (Solar) 11/12/07 10/31/09 12,700  10,915  1,785


Commercial Solar Ventures, LLC Structural pull test 1/13/09 2/27/09 7,996  0  7,996


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 9/30/09 6,590  1,665  4,925


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 8/31/09 6,300  4,750  1,550


David Bugni & Associates RE services 4/15/08 4/14/09 5,341  656  4,685


Crystal Springs Water District Crystal Springs Water study 3/18/08 1/31/09 5,000  0  5,000


Renewable Energy Solutions, LLC Grouse Creek Ranch 


microhydro


10/30/08 4/30/09 3,000  0  3,000


Wallowa Resources Community 


Solutions Inc


Harker Ranch  microhydro 


study


6/30/08 12/31/08 3,000  0  3,000


Renewable Energy Total:  15,645,501  4,060,879  11,584,622


 69,020,850  39,044,548  29,976,302Grand Totals:








JAN DEC Change from
2009 2008 Prior Month


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents* 50,268,854 51,901,589 (1,632,735)
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 10,137,476 10,128,530 8,947
  Investments* 9,848,983 9,827,698 21,285
  Restricted Investments (Escrow Funds) 1,051,812 1,049,537 2,275
  Receivables 317,980 324,410 (6,430)
  Prepaid Expenses 219,426 193,832 25,594
  Advances to Vendors 501,836 784,287 (282,451)


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
   Total Current Assets 72,346,367 74,209,882 (1,863,515)


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 70,795 70,795 -                                     
  Computer Hardware and Software 907,867 907,867 -                                     
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 22,382 -                                     
  Office Equipment and Furniture 49,192 49,192 -                                     


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,050,236 1,050,236 -                                    
  Less Depreciation (898,098) (891,800) (6,298)


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 152,138 158,435 (6,298)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 -                                     
  Deferred Compensation Asset 71,065 68,954 2,110


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Other Assets 97,065 94,954 2,110


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Assets 72,595,569 74,463,272 (1,867,703)


===================== ===================== =====================


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,931,165 10,169,809 (6,238,645)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 356,626 340,284 16,343


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 4,287,791 10,510,093 (6,222,302)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 139,668 142,828 (3,160)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 71,065 68,954 2,110
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 3,810 3,810 -                                     


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 214,543 215,593 (1,050)


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Liabilities 4,502,334 10,725,686 (6,223,352)


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 4,355,649 4,118,347 237,302
  Escrow 11,189,289 11,178,067 11,222
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 52,548,297 48,441,173 4,107,125


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Net Assets 68,093,235 63,737,586 4,355,649


------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 72,595,569 74,463,272 (1,867,703)


===================== ===================== =====================
*Although these funds are not escrowed, they are committed via the budget process for approved programs.


January 31, 2009
(Unaudited)


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET







 January Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 4,355,649$    4,355,649$        


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,298            6,298                
Deferred Rent Amortization (3,160)           (3,160)              


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 88                 88                    
Other Receivables 6,343            6,343                
Advances to Vendors 282,451         282,451            
Other Assets (27,704)         (27,704)             
A/P - Program Subcontracts (694,548)        (694,548)           
A/P - Incentives (5,646,696)     (5,646,696)        
A/P - Professional Services (6,945)           (6,945)              
A/P - Operations 109,544         109,544            
Payroll and related accruals 18,453           18,453              
Other liabilities 0 -                   


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies (1,600,228)     (1,600,228)        


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets -                   
Cash used in Investing Activities -                -                   


Cash at beginning of Period 72,907,353    72,907,353        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash (1,600,228)     (1,600,228)        


Cash at end of period 71,307,125$  71,307,125$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2009







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis: 2009 Forecast & 2010 Budg


Actual


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental funding 8,322,843       9,345,533       8,822,854       8,185,619       7,801,063       7,264,067       7,139,826       7,328,542       6,942,958         6,829,725       7,191,485        7,701,297       


  Self Direct Repayments -                292,714         -                -                -                -                -                -                -                  -                -                  -                


  Investment Income 84,838           77,659           105,059         106,230         106,262         103,730         99,709           96,475           92,786             84,056           74,280             62,768           


Total cash in 8,407,681       9,715,907       8,927,913       8,291,849       7,907,325       7,367,797       7,239,535       7,425,018       7,035,744         6,913,782       7,265,765        7,764,065       


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 2,551,757       2,323,569       3,057,033       2,258,933       2,261,783       3,069,256       2,279,532       2,265,083       3,041,589         2,272,432       2,426,873        3,204,315       


    Incentives 6,444,946       3,534,358       4,307,481       5,048,973       5,043,000       6,173,591       5,708,299       5,336,587       5,349,517         11,298,720     7,405,304        14,554,489     


    Salaries and related expense 448,322         740,299         569,977         579,270         579,270         579,752         579,752         579,752         579,752            579,752         579,752           579,752          


    Professional services 515,429         (217,234)        508,484         917,336         1,003,561       850,463         850,513         946,438         942,680            942,730         1,028,355        866,847          


    General operating expenses 47,454           353,551         193,648         197,198         185,117         185,553         189,420         177,852         193,850            186,740         200,608           187,791          


Total cash out 10,007,908     6,734,543       8,636,623       9,001,710       9,072,731       10,858,615     9,607,516       9,305,712       10,107,387       15,280,373     11,640,891       19,393,194     


Net cash flow for the month (1,600,228)      2,981,364       291,290         (709,861)        (1,165,407)      (3,490,818)      (2,367,981)      (1,880,695)      (3,071,643)        (8,366,591)      (4,375,126)       (11,629,129)    


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 72,907,353     71,307,125     74,288,489     74,579,778     73,869,918     72,704,511     69,213,694     66,845,713     64,965,018       61,893,375     53,526,783       49,151,657     


Ending cash & MM 71,307,125     74,288,489     74,579,778     73,869,918     72,704,511     69,213,694     66,845,713     64,965,018     61,893,375       53,526,783     49,151,657       37,522,528     


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 11,178,067     11,189,289     9,976,265       9,343,107       8,584,031       7,842,455       7,206,097       6,443,815       6,347,151         6,356,672       6,240,863        6,143,895       


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding -                   (1,228,886)      (647,636)        (772,511)        (753,886)        (647,636)        (772,511)        (106,250)        -                      (125,250)        (106,250)          -                    


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 11,222           15,862           14,479           13,435           12,311           11,278           10,230           9,586             9,521               9,441             9,282              9,216             


Ending Escrow Balance1
11,189,289     9,976,265       9,343,107       8,584,031       7,842,455       7,206,097       6,443,815       6,347,151       6,356,672         6,240,863       6,143,895        6,153,111       


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Forecast 2009-F-04







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis: 2009 Forecast & 2010 Bu


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Forecast 2010-P-01


2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010


January February March April May June July August September October November December


9,125,322       9,483,092       9,041,742       8,255,196       7,937,573       7,398,273       7,346,053       7,459,593       6,999,799         6,971,509       7,422,532        8,048,728        


-                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                  -                -                  -                 


60,000           45,000           36,000           30,600           26,010           22,109           18,792           15,973           13,577             11,541           9,810              10,588            


9,185,322       9,528,092       9,077,742       8,285,796       7,963,583       7,420,381       7,364,845       7,475,567       7,013,377         6,983,049       7,432,342        8,059,316        


2,443,784       2,661,480       2,667,162       1,872,038       1,929,847       2,737,320       1,941,584       2,054,187       2,830,693         2,066,536       2,127,929        2,904,360        


9,139,179       2,195,249       3,012,603       6,629,528       3,292,659       4,465,460       7,281,058       4,067,495       4,611,329         8,960,860       6,371,388        13,335,076      


584,782         601,502         603,678         613,528         613,528         614,039         614,039         614,039         614,039            614,039         614,039           614,039          


867,197         955,572         883,525         783,825         797,175         785,421         785,471         798,521         891,644            879,694         892,444           869,028          


238,503         252,770         190,716         193,225         184,516         186,891         177,271         178,177         189,556            181,175         190,933           181,996          


13,273,445     6,666,573       7,357,684       10,092,144     6,817,725       8,789,131       10,799,423     7,712,420       9,137,261         12,702,304     10,196,734       17,904,499      


(4,088,123)      2,861,519       1,720,058       (1,806,347)      1,145,857       (1,368,750)      (3,434,578)      (236,853)        (2,123,884)        (5,719,255)      (2,764,392)       (9,845,183)       


37,522,528     33,434,405     36,295,924     38,015,982     36,209,635     37,355,492     35,986,743     32,552,165     32,315,312       30,191,428     24,472,174       21,707,781      


33,434,405     36,295,924     38,015,982     36,209,635     37,355,492     35,986,743     32,552,165     32,315,312     30,191,428       24,472,174     21,707,781       11,862,599      


6,153,111       6,162,340       6,065,254       6,074,352       4,542,183       4,442,667       4,449,331       2,914,725       2,812,767         2,816,986       1,275,303        1,170,887        


-                   (106,250)        -                   (1,540,125)      (106,250)        -                   (1,540,125)      (106,250)        -                      (1,544,750)      (106,250)          -                     


9,230             9,164             9,098             7,956             6,734             6,664             5,519             4,292             4,219               3,067             1,833              1,756              


6,162,340       6,065,254       6,074,352       4,542,183       4,442,667       4,449,331       2,914,725       2,812,767       2,816,986         1,275,303       1,170,887        1,172,643        







January YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,877,411 3,211,418 (334,007) 2,877,411 3,211,418 (334,007)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,954,758 2,132,423 (177,665) 1,954,758 2,132,423 (177,665)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 1,301,895 1,326,744 (24,849) 1,301,895 1,326,744 (24,849)


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 169,236 154,157 15,079 169,236 154,157 15,079
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 6,303,300 6,824,742 (521,442) 6,303,300 6,824,742 (521,442)


Incremental Funds - PGE 1,212,465 1,336,052 (123,586) 1,212,465 1,336,052 (123,586)


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 807,078 777,926 29,152 807,078 777,926 29,152


Revenue from Investments 84,750 102,733 (17,983) 84,750 102,733 (17,983)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 8,407,593 9,041,452 (633,859) 8,407,593 9,041,452 (633,859)
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,146,003 2,598,308 452,305 2,146,003 2,598,308 452,305


Incentives 798,250 3,745,510 2,947,260 798,250 3,745,510 2,947,260


Salaries and Related Expenses 466,775 552,151 85,377 466,775 552,151 85,377


Professional Services 508,484 917,036 408,552 508,484 917,036 408,552


Supplies 4,250 6,072 1,822 4,250 6,072 1,822


Telephone 3,982 5,608 1,626 3,982 5,608 1,626


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,537 4,119 2,582 1,537 4,119 2,582


Occupancy Expenses 27,821 36,041 8,220 27,821 36,041 8,220


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 18,409 79,371 60,962 18,409 79,371 60,962


Call Center 12,969 15,963 2,993 12,969 15,963 2,993


Printing and Publications 2,267 21,008 18,741 2,267 21,008 18,741


Travel 8,667 19,592 10,926 8,667 19,592 10,926


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 11,525 33,354 21,829 11,525 33,354 21,829


Insurance 9,135 6,958 (2,176) 9,135 6,958 (2,176)


Miscellaneous Expenses 55 217 162 55 217 162


Dues, Licenses and Fees 31,815 9,130 (22,685) 31,815 9,130 (22,685)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 4,051,944 8,050,438 3,998,495 4,051,944 8,050,438 3,998,495
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPEN 4,355,649 991,014 3,364,635 4,355,649 991,014 3,364,635
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Month Ending January 31, 2009
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Mgmt & Delivery 2,618,161 326,092 2,944,253 -                          2,944,253
Payroll and Related Expenses 111,931 68,635 180,566 97,925 36,682 134,607 315,173
Outsourced Services 233,252 62,146 295,398 39,936 43,983 83,919 379,317
Planning and Evaluation 121,320 27,355 148,675 1,948 180 2,128 150,803
Customer Service Management 52,438 4,317 56,755 -                          56,755


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 3,137,102 488,545 3,625,647 139,809 80,845 220,654 3,846,301


Program Support Costs


Supplies 940 543 1,483 679 308 987 2,470
Postage and Shipping Expenses 362 141 503 612 80 692 1,195
Telephone 190 218 408 141 64 205 613
Printing and Publications 803 291 1,094 263 120 383 1,477
Occupancy Expenses 6,577 4,055 10,632 5,065 2,300 7,365 17,997
Insurance 2,159 1,331 3,490 1,663 755 2,418 5,908
Equipment 285 176 461 220 100 320 781
Travel 3,868 967 4,835 1,598 1,598 6,433
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 732 34 766 2,486 410 2,896 3,662
Depreciation & Amortization 145 956 1,101 112 51 163 1,264
Dues, Licenses and Fees 29,503 667 30,170 1,126 519 1,645 31,815
Miscellaneous Expenses 48 48 7 7 55
IT Services 90,452 14,932 105,384 18,073 8,516 26,589 131,973


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 136,064 24,311 160,375 32,045 13,223 45,268 205,643


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 3,273,166 512,856 3,786,022 171,854 94,068 265,922 4,051,944


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.1%


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Month Ending January 31, 2009
(Unaudited)







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Month Ending January 31, 2009
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $2,236,845 $1,501,566 $1,301,895 $169,236 5,209,542 $640,566 $453,192 1,093,758 0 6,303,300
Incremental Funding 1,212,465 807,078 2,019,543 0 0 2,019,543
Revenue from Investments 0 0 84,750 84,750


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 3,449,310 2,308,644 1,301,895 169,236 0 7,229,085 640,566 453,192 1,093,758 84,750 8,407,593


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 104,498 80,546 93,970 21,452 6,358 306,823 36,219 32,620 68,839 0 375,662
  Program Delivery 698,284 603,764 363,637 98,822 0 1,764,507 12,417 9,168 21,585 0 1,786,092
  Incentives 161,389 161,978 151,341 17,455 1,790 493,953 230,345 73,953 304,298 0 798,251
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 64,980 54,664 31,681 8,242 324 159,890 14,281 13,073 27,354 0 187,244
  Program Marketing/Outreach 126,809 81,353 114,889 18,914 445 342,411 29,608 14,734 44,342 0 386,753
  Program Quality Assurance 2,057 1,333 4,357 158 0 7,905 0 0 0 0 7,905
  Outsourced  Services 2,873 3,070 2,097 1,097 36 9,172 5,403 12,405 17,808 0 26,980
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 15,318 9,184 26,528 1,353 56 52,438 3,213 1,104 4,317 0 56,755
  IT Services 30,049 24,314 30,334 5,450 304 90,451 7,834 7,099 14,933 0 105,384
  Other Program Expenses 15,357 14,690 11,245 4,218 106 45,616 5,353 4,027 9,380 0 54,996


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 1,221,615 1,034,895 830,078 177,160 9,419 3,273,166 344,673 168,183 512,856 0 3,786,022


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 55,452 46,976 37,678 8,042 427 148,575 15,645 7,634 23,279 0 171,854
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 30,354 25,713 20,624 4,402 234 81,326 8,563 4,179 12,742 0 94,068


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
Total Administrative Costs 85,806 72,688 58,302 12,443 662 229,901 24,209 11,812 36,021 0 265,922


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 1,307,421 1,107,583 888,380 189,603 10,081 3,503,067 368,882 179,995 548,877 0 4,051,944


---------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------- ------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- --------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 2,141,889 1,201,061 413,515 (20,367) (10,081) 3,726,018 271,684 273,197 544,881 84,750 4,355,649


========= ========= =========== ======= ======= ========= ========= ========= ========= ======== ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/08 (Note 4) 16,745,829 (3,717,555) 2,423,399 629,523 78,322 16,159,518 25,147,380 13,117,535 38,264,915 9,313,153 63,737,586
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


========= ========= =========== ======= ======= ========= ========= ========= ========= ======== ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 20,627,718 (1,356,494) 2,836,914 609,156 68,241 22,785,536 25,419,064 15,090,732 40,509,796 4,797,903 68,093,235


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2008 reflects audited results.







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Difference


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $181,396 $18,352 $199,748 $189,124 $10,380 $199,504 $399,252 $681,155 $281,903
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 61,433 247,250 308,683            9,048 117,059 126,107 434,790            1,474,913 1,040,123         
Market Transformation (NEEA) 88,458 66,733 155,191            0 155,191            147,945 (7,246)              


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Total Commercial 331,287 332,335 663,622 198,172 127,439 0 325,611 989,233 2,304,013 1,314,780


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 285,739 243,321 529,060            14,263 14,263 543,323            752,534 209,211            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 42,135 31,786 73,921              0 73,921              79,714 5,793               


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Total Industrial 327,874 275,107 602,981 14,263 0 0 14,263 617,244 832,248 215,004


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 245,740 159,238 404,978            510,795 18,500 529,295 934,273            1,597,363 663,090            
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 354,732 304,852 659,584            165,150 43,664 10,081 218,895 878,479            1,512,769 634,290            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 47,788 36,051 83,839 0 83,839              73,547 (10,292)             


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Total Residential 648,260 500,141 1,148,401 675,945 62,164 10,081 748,190 1,896,591 3,183,679 1,287,088


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 1,307,421 1,107,583 2,415,004 888,380 189,603 10,081 1,088,064 3,503,067 6,319,940 2,816,872


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


Renewables


Biopower 16,126 11,631 27,757              0 27,757              120,378 92,621              
Open Solicitation 5,633 41,356 46,989              0 46,989              569,096 522,107            
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 323,943 111,259 435,202            0 435,202            284,815 (150,387)           
Utility Scale Projects -                   0 -                   659,376 659,376            
Wind 23,180 15,749 38,929              0 38,929              96,833 57,904              


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
  Renewables Program Costs 368,882 179,995 548,877 0 0 0 0 548,877 1,730,498 1,181,621


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
  Cost Grand Total 1,676,303 1,287,578 2,963,881 888,380 189,603 10,081 1,088,064 4,051,944 8,050,438 3,998,495


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory
For the Month Ending January 31, 2009


(Unaudited)







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Month and Year to Date Ended January 31, 2009
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH
YTD YTD


MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $39,936 $93,114 $53,178 $39,936 $31,038 ($8,898) $43,983 $102,255 $58,272 $43,983 $34,085 ($9,898)


Legal Services 10,125 10,125 3,375 3,375 1,875 1,875 625 625


Salaries and Related Expenses 97,925 315,715 217,790 97,925 105,238 7,313 36,682 91,566 54,884 36,682 30,522 (6,160)


Supplies 1,425 1,425 475 475 300 300 100 100


Telephone 300 300 100 100


Postage and Shipping Expenses 435 675 240 435 225 (210) 5,113 5,113 1,704 1,704


Noncapitalized Equipment 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 300 300 100 100


Printing and Publications 125 125 42 42 12,313 12,313 4,104 4,104


Travel 1,598 11,475 9,877 1,598 3,825 2,227 1,850 1,850 617 617


Conference, Training & Mtngs 2,486 31,187 28,701 2,486 10,396 7,910 410 3,625 3,215 410 1,208 799


Miscellaneous Expenses 7 25 18 7 8 1


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,126 2,679 1,553 1,126 393 (733) 519 1,250 731 519 417 (102)


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 8,318 28,475 20,156 8,318 9,492 1,173 3,778 10,017 6,239 3,778 3,339 (439)


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 18,073 52,999 34,926 18,073 17,717 (356) 8,516 24,972 16,457 8,516 8,348 (168)


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 1,948 4,802 2,855 1,948 1,601 (346) 180 443 263 180 148 (32)
---------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 171,854 554,321 382,468 171,854 185,125 13,272 94,068 255,878 161,811 94,068 85,316 (8,750)
============ ============== ============= ========== ========== ============ ============ ============== ============= ========== ========== ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-001







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2009


$-
$1
$2
$3
$4
$5
$6
$7
$8
$9


$10


January


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2009


$-


$5


$10


$15


$20


January


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2009


$-


$2


$4


$6


$8


$10


$12


$14


$16


January


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2009


$-
$1
$1
$2
$2
$3
$3
$4
$4


January


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated January 14, 2009 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly attributed 
to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 


to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 


charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


Ø Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
Ø Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well as 
current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and provide 
a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such as 
websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program delivery, 
Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, Travel, Business 
meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
Ø Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
Ø Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric 


measure savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 


energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








Evaluation Committee Report  
January 30, 2009 


 


The Evaluation Committee met on January 30, 2009 with Debbie Kitchin, Chair; Alan Meyer, Board 
member; Dan Enloe, Board member, by phone; Ken Keating, evaluation expert; Philipp Degens, 
Evaluation Manager; Fred Gordon, Planning & Evaluation Manager; Steve Lacey, Director of 
Energy Efficiency and incoming Director of Program Support; Matthew Taylor, Evaluation intern; 
Brien Sipe, Evaluation Analyst, and Sarah Castor, Market Research & Evaluation Analyst attending. 
Matt Braman, Planning Analyst, attended for the second half of the meeting.  


The meeting began at 10:00am with a review of the agenda. 
 
Matthew presented an analysis of Home Energy Review (HER) participant follow through. “Follow 
through” was defined as participating at least once in an Energy Trust program - including Home 
Energy Solutions (HES), ENERGY STAR products, or Solar – after receiving an HER. The issue of 
follow through rates arose when a PMC quoted a follow through rate of 40% without documentation 
of its source. Evaluation’s analysis found an overall follow through rate across all program years of 
32%. When looking at specific time periods, the following results were found: 


• The typical follow through rates after 3 months, 6 months, and 1 year are about 15%, 20% 
and 25%, respectively. 


• At 3 or more years after an HER, the follow through rate approaches 40%. 
• The Portland Metro area has the highest follow through rate after one year (27%). 
• The follow through rate for all periods is significantly lower for home built after 1990. 
• Follow through on specific recommendations from the review was 21% after one year. 


Information on specific recommendations is only available for HERs in 2007 and later. 
• While most follow through measures are installed within one year of the HER, significant 


savings are obtained from measures installed after one year, as homeowners replace wait to 
replace expensive equipment, such as heating equipment, until it is no longer functional.  


Ken noted that there may be more follow through that does not go through the program, so these 
estimates are a lower bound.  
 
Phil noted that other reasons for performing the analysis were: 


• Interest in knowing when would be the best time to contact HER participants to remind them 
of their recommendations and our offerings. 


• Interest in knowing which measures were most commonly installed after an HER and which 
houses/participants are most likely to install measures. 


 
In the future, Evaluation hopes to explore which measures are likely to be installed more than one 
year after an HER and whether homeowners who install measures within one year are likely to go 
through another round of measures at a later date. The current analysis only considers the time until 
the first post-HER measure installation.  
 
Fred pointed out that most of the measures we pay incentives on are not preceded by an HER, but 
are contractor-driven. Ken noted that the analysis indicates Energy Trust programs have been very 
successful compared to similar programs in California.  
 
Phil presented on the billing analysis workshops undertaken by Evaluation staff. Between August 
and October 2008, Energy Trust invited leading experts in the field of billing data analysis to present 
on best practices. The workshops were motivated by: 


• Lack of transparency in how final billing models have been determined in the past 







Evaluation Committee Report                          January 30, 2009 


 2 


• Need to generate consistent comparable billing analysis results 
• Unstable and unreliable results from billing analyses 
• Inconsistent use of diagnostics in model development 
• Lack of reconciliation of free rider adjustments from participant and nonparticipant billing 


models and those elicited from surveys 
• Lack of reconciliation of internal and external spillover from savings estimates. 


 
The goals of the workshop were: 


• To obtain recommendations on how to improve current billing analysis to obtain accurate, 
unbiased estimates of savings 


• Develop a roadmap to implement and test billing analysis methods to advance the art, and 
make it relevant to our work 


• Document the process in a white paper. 
 
The workshops discussed issues around data cleaning and screening; model selection and 
specification; sample selection, particularly of nonparticipant (comparison) groups; and new 
advances in analysis. 
 
After the workshops, the consultants were asked to perform impact analyses on the residential 
tankless water heater measure, duct sealing and insulation measures, and the multifamily program 
using their preferred methods. These measures and program have been a challenge to analyze in 
the past. Results will be compared to assess the differences between the methods, as well as to 
help determine evaluation factors for the annual true up process.  
 
The committee discussed the option of end-use metering for determining savings rather than using 
billing analysis, but the technologies and process are still quite expensive, time-intensive, and it can 
be difficult to find contractors to perform such data collection and analysis. Energy Trust continues to 
employ these tools selectively, especially for business programs, and monitor the state of metering 
techniques for future applications. 
 
The committee reviewed the different billing analysis models presented at the workshops, their 
strengths and weakness, and best applications. Major conclusions were: 


• The amount of billing data available will influence which model is used.  
• Some models are more intuitive and allow more insight into the source of savings (or lack 


thereof). 
• Regardless of the model type, the selection of a comparison group is a process that needs 


careful consideration in order to accurately estimate savings.  
• Billing analysis cannot determine the extent of free ridership or spillover; these effects 


should be assessed with a survey of participants and nonparticipants and the results used to 
adjust estimates obtained from billing analysis. 


• A commonly-recommended correction for self selection (Heckman Correction using the Mills 
ratio) is unlikely to be successful and just adds expense to an evaluation.  


• Descriptive statistics should be used to assess the quality of data and to explain how the 
savings estimates were obtained.  


• Billing data analysis is better at estimating program saving than measure-level savings.  
Estimating measure-level savings affordably is difficult but sometimes important. 


Evaluation staff gained much insight from the workshops and believes the workshops will help 
Energy Trust obtain more accurate savings estimates in its impact evaluations. 
 
In the future, Evaluation staff would like to require evaluation contractors to estimate more than one 
model to verify savings estimates.  







Evaluation Committee Report                          January 30, 2009 


 3 


 
Fred noted that Evaluation would like the Committee’s opinion and recommendation to the Board 
regarding these recommendations, since the independence of the evaluations could potentially be 
called into question by those outside the organization. Debbie, Alan, Ken, and Dan agreed that 
these recommendations do not reduce the independence of the process if Energy Trust does not 
dictate the exact methods and models to be used. Fred noted that the requirement is simply to make 
sure evaluation contractors can explain and defend their results. Steve noted that the PUC may 
ultimately comment on this approach, as well.  
 
Phil then presented the results of some of the consultants’ analyses of the measures of interest. The 
number of consultants analyzing each measure was determined by the number of research designs 
proposed; if two or more consultants proposed the same approach, only one was asked to perform 
that evaluation, to avoid duplication. Major results were as follows:  


• Tankless Water Heaters 
o Savings were estimated by four of the five consultants 
o All found savings of between 59 and 71 therms per year 
o One consultant’s approach was able to identify evidence of water heating fuel 


switching (from electric to gas) for some participants, and that average hot water 
consumption was lower than generally assumed.  


o Two consultants were able to estimate savings from gas furnaces also installed by 
participants who also installed a gas furnace through the HES program. 


• Multifamily program 
o All five consultants will evaluate this program; only two have provided results to date. 
o One consultant found a realization rate of ~50% for electric measures and negative 


savings for gas; the other found a realization rate of 8% for electric measures and 
65% for gas. 


o Large difference in results is likely due to the different samples each consultant 
selected for analysis.  


o Evaluation hopes to gain some insight from remaining three consultants’ analyses.  
For this reason, and because of difficulties with these analyses, Evaluation cautions 
against drawing conclusions based on the results to date, other than as a directional 
indicator; it appears that savings are likely overestimated but we cannot yet say by 
how much. 


• Duct sealing and insulation 
o Three consultants were selected to evaluate these measures; only one report has 


been received to date.  
o Savings were particularly difficult to assess because homes frequently installed one 


or more measure at the same time; therefore the consultant estimated the savings 
from installing at least one of these measures or envelop insulation. 


o The realization rate for gas heated homes was 74%, while the realization rate for 
electrically heated homes was 224%.  


o There were also electric savings in gas heated homes, and more research is needed 
to understand why. 


o Evaluation hopes to gain more insight with the remaining consultants’ analyses. 
 
The next Evaluation committee meeting is scheduled for March 13th from 10am -1pm. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 1pm. 








 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
March 10, 2009, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds, Roger Hamilton (by telephone), Caddy 
McKeown (by telephone), Amber Cole, Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Steve Lacey, Jan 
Schaeffer, Peter West and John Volkman 
 
1. Report on efficiency incentives. Energy Trust has proposed and is discussing with 
the CAC incentive changes for the 2009 Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes 
program. However, trade allies are anxious about lower incentives given the economic 
turmoil, and avoided costs may be higher. We have explored some increase in 
incentives above those assumed. We think we will reach a solution at the next CAC.  
 
Staff will also brief the CAC on changes in the information provided to homeowners in 
Home Energy Reviews. Instead of a checklist of potential measures, we are working on 
a more customer-friendly report, prioritizing measures that would best work for the 
home, providing a relatively simple presentation of next steps and information about how 
to get follow-up support. This may generate comment from installation contractors. The 
committee thought the board would support a more active stance vis-à-vis homeowners, 
with the understanding that certain measures may be higher priority but not rank-
ordering them and not implying that other measures are unimportant. 
 
2. Portland on-bill financing pilot. We are negotiating with the City of Portland, 
Multnomah County, ODOE, the utilities and others for a pilot project aimed at eliminating 
up-front cost barriers to energy efficiency and renewable energy, using long-term, on-bill 
financing, and “energy advocates” who essentially act as the homeowner’s general 
contractor in implementing energy improvements. The pilot would also require deeper 
home audits. The pilot, which would target 500 homes, overlaps with the House Bill 
2626, discussed below. Loans would be made from a fund using state, federal stimulus 
and other sources. The pilot will entail additional cost but will answer some key 
questions. Audits will cost about $300 per home (compared to $100 for Home Energy 
Reviews). The audit will produce a list of measures, estimated pay-back, and ultimately 
a loan package. If accepted, the energy advocate would deploy implementation 
contractors. The loan would be repaid via the utility bill, and a lien or an assessment on 
the utility meter would secure repayment. The loan obligation would attach to the meter 
even if the house is sold later. For the pilot, Energy Trust would recover the cost of the 
audit only if the homeowner proceeds with the project. We will pre-screen potential 
participants to work with the most promising homes first. Energy Trust would also pay 
the energy advocate’s cost ($300-500 per house). The homeowner could choose this 
approach or the current Home Energy Review route. The target date for launch is May, 
but could be somewhat later. Utilities would need to have a billing system in place in 
July. 
 
3. Legislative briefing. Staff is monitoring bills with direct implications for Energy Trust. 
One bill would transfer the energy efficiency portion of the public purpose charge to 
schools, cities and counties. Another would reinstate the 2012 sunset date for the public 
purpose charge. A third bill would require Energy Trust board members to make more 
extensive disclosures of interest than is now required. HB 2626 would designate Energy 







Policy Committee Notes  March 10, 2009 


 2 


Trust as a primary implementer of a program using methods like those involved in the 
Portland pilot above, throughout IOU service territory, and establish a similar system for 
consumer-owned utility territories. A group of interested parties is working on a provision 
that would call for this model to be tested over the next couple of years, and allow the 
OPUC to direct full or partial implementation. 
 
4. Open Solicitation Policy: This policy is scheduled for routine 3-year review. Staff 
expects to propose changes to this policy in April that would not require certain 
technologies like small wind and hydro to obtain board approval, and instead would be 
treated like other renewable programs. The open solicitation process would still be 
available for out-of-the-box projects. The committee supports administrative efficiency 
and does not want to lose the window for innovative projects. 
 
5. Stimulus package: Stimulus funds could afford opportunities to form new 
partnerships and test new ideas (e.g., the Portland on-bill financing pilot). However, they 
also could produce floods of projects that expect to use Energy Trust incentives to match 
stimulus funds, which could quickly exhaust Energy Trust’s budget. To account for both 
possibilities, we are initiating discussions with state and local government entities 
(recipients of stimulus funds) to discuss: 


• The agency’s needs, resources and ideas – do they need technical help? 
money?  


• Make clear that Energy Trust doesn’t have enough money to match everything 
(we are in the process of identifying how much each program budget can use to 
match stimulus projects without foreclosing program service for the rest of the 
year);  


• How we might use Energy Trust incentives and the entity’s stimulus money 
together to get the biggest bang;  


 
We have begun discussions with the Department of Administrative Services, which has 
jurisdiction over a comparable state stimulus fund to “green” state buildings. To help 
what could be a large number of local government projects, we are thinking about 
whether we can provide expertise to help prioritize projects. 
  
6. Information transfer policy: Lori Koho has left the OPUC and we expect delay in 
moving this policy proposal.  
 
 








 


Board Decision 
Klamath Falls OIT Geothermal Project 
April 1, 2009 
 
Summary 
 
Approve up to $487,000 for a geothermal electric project at the Oregon Institute of 
Technology’s (OIT) Klamath Falls campus. 


Background 


• OIT has three geothermal wells that provide heat for the entire Klamath Falls 
campus. Generally only one is needed, the second is added on very cold days, 
and the third serves as a back-up.  


• OIT proposes to use a UTC PureCycle geothermal electric module at one of the 
wells to generate electricity. The unit has a maximum capacity of 280 kilowatts. 


• The UTC units generate electricity from geothermal resources with lower 
temperatures, and are smaller and modular. With this type of technology, 
geothermal resources that were previously thought to be too small or not hot 
enough to generate electricity can now get a second look.  


• The system also requires a cooling tower to discharge heat. The project also has 
a parasitic load for pumps and fans. The plant is expected to operate day and 
night with minor interruptions for service, maintenance and occasional cold 
weather events. With these factors taken into account, the project is expected to 
produce an average of 669 megawatt hours per year, to be sold to Pacific Power. 


• Total project costs are $1,372,000, with above-market costs of $682,000. We 
based our analysis on a system life of 20 years and assumed the project will 
qualify as a commercial project eligible for a BETC pass-through.   


• Staff proposes an Energy Trust incentive of up to $487,000, or 71% of the above-
market costs. OIT has received a $100,000 Blue Sky grant from Pacific Power to 
offset some of the upfront cost.   


• The incentive would be paid at the time the project is commissioned. The project 
is expected to be completed this summer. If the project as completed has less 
generation capacity, we would reduce the incentive pro rata. OIT would be 
required to repay the incentive if the project fails to deliver the expected 
generation. 


• Energy Trust proposes to take claim up to 71% of the tags from the expected 
generation. 


• Funds for the project are available in the board approved budget for the Open 
Solicitation Program. The proposed incentive translates to a cost of $6.38 million 







Klamath Falls OIT Geothermal Project          April 1, 2009 
 


2 


 


per average megawatt. This is within the range forecast for this Program for 
2009. 


• Under the procedures for the Open Solicitation Program projects with proposed 
incentives of $125,000 or greater must be approved by the board.  


 
Analysis 


• This is Energy Trust’s first geothermal electric project, and it continues an 
ongoing collaboration between Energy Trust and OIT. 


• The Renewable Advisory Council endorsed the project at its March 11 meeting. 


• Over the first 20 years of the project, the project will help avoid over 13,935 tons 
of CO2 emissions, the equivalent of planting 46 acres of trees. 


• The project will provide OIT students with an opportunity to study geothermal 
operations, maintenance and technology in general, and the UTC unit in 
particular.  


• It provides experience with a technology that can utilize geothermal resources at 
lower temperature and lower volume than has been common. 


Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the board approve up to $487,000 for the project.   


 
 


RESOLUTION 509 
APPROVING AN INCENTIVE FOR THE OIT GEOTHERMAL PROJECT 


 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Oregon Institute of Technology (OIT) proposes to use hot water from an 


existing well on its Klamath Falls campus to generate an estimated 669 
megawatt hours of electricity per year. 


2. The project will use an innovative technology that is capable of operating at 
lower temperatures using a smaller, modular unit. 


3. Total project costs are projected to be $1,372,000. Staff estimates the above-
market costs at $682,000. 


4. The project would be Energy Trust’s first geothermal project.  
 
 







Klamath Falls OIT Geothermal Project          April 1, 2009 
 


3 


 


BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors  
1. Approves an incentive of up to $487,000 for a geothermal electric generation 


project at the OIT Klamath Falls campus, expected to generate 669 MWh per 
year; if the completed project has less generation capacity, the incentive shall 
be reduced pro rata.   


2. Energy Trust will take or claim for the benefit of ratepayers 71% of the green 
tags from the expected generation. 


3. The incentive will be paid on commissioning, and OIT must agree to repay the 
incentive on a pro rata basis if the expected generation is not produced. 


4. The executive director is authorized to negotiate and sign a contract with OIT 
consistent with the terms of this resolution. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 
 








Contact: Fred Gordon
fred.gordon@energytrust.org
503-445-7602


Sector Project/Program Annual Savings Annual Savings
Total Project 


Cost ($M)
Stimulus 


Contribution ($M)
Stimulus 


Cost share
Annual Participant 


Rate $ Savings
Annual Participant 


Rate $ Savings
Estimated Job 


Creation
INDUSTRIAL kwh/year therms/year includes admin Elec $/year Gas $/year direct and indirect


1 Increase incentives for wastewater plants to 75% 11,151,000            $11.6 $3.3 28% $925,533 50


2
Energy managers in 10 plants & incentives for 
additional projects generated 22,500,000            $24.7 $10.8 44% $1,440,000 50


3 Increase CHP incentive 80,000,000            $13.4 $3.8 28% $1,280,000 21
Industrial Subtotal 113,651,000          -                         $49.6 $17.9 36% $3,645,533 $0 121                       


RESIDENTIAL
New Homes and Products


1 Fridge recycling- higher incentives, more marketing. 36,288,000            $23.4 $18.6 100% $3,374,784 90
2 Specialty CFLs- more marketing 38,432,000            $6.1 $2.1 34% $3,574,176 12


Existing Homes


1 Increase incentives to 50%, increase workforce, train 1,100,000              384,000                 $28.5 $10.9 38% $102,300 $533,760 110
2 Multifamily windows promo incentive 15,849,000            14,064                   $38.6 $4.2 11% $1,473,957 $19,549 150
3 Workforce development 1,100,000              384,000                 $1.33 $0.70 53% $102,300 $533,760 250-350
4 Fund- 20,000 living wise kits/year 4,648,000              72,640                   $2.0 $2.0 100% $432,264 $100,970 5
5 Delta Q duct sealing pilot 6,000                     $0.33 $0.22 67% $0 $8,340 5
6 Rural weatherization outreach 616,000                 19,200                   $2.49 $1.44 58% $57,288 $26,688 12


Residential Subtotal 98,033,000            879,904                 $102.8 $40.3 39% $9,117,069 $1,223,067 384                       


Commercial- New and Existing
1 Existing Buildings- small and public 53,436,000            402,000                 $68.6 $42.8 62% $4,435,188 $516,570 270
2 New Buildings- small and public 9,110,400              210,420                 $14.9 $12.1 82% $756,163 $270,390 60
3 Solar water heat restaurants, pools, large projects 150,000                 43,200                   $3.1 $0.7 22% $12,450 $55,512 12
4 Near Zero Demo 1,000,000              100,000                 $2.1 $1.1 53% $83,000 $128,500 8
5 Commercial lighting training 5,000,000              $0.35 $0.22 64% $415,000 $0 11
6 Commercial Benchmarking 9,500,000              150,000                 $2.33 $2.33 100% $788,500 $192,750 15
7 Whole Building Commissioning for Stimulus projects -                         -                         $2.22 $2.22 100% $0 $0 18
8 Commercial energy efficiency training 16,000,000            260,000                 $2.55 $2.55 100% $1,328,000 $334,100 30
9 Schools facilitation -                         -                         $0.33 $0.33 100% $0 $0 21


10 School project funding 7,700,000              280,000                 $5.0 $3.3 65% $639,100 $359,800 28
11 PDX facilitation 330,000                 18,000                   $5.20 $0.90 17% $27,390 $23,130 50


Commercial Subtotal 102,226,400          1,463,620              $106.6 $68.6 64% $8,484,791 $1,880,752 524                       


General
1 Non-covered fuels 3.33$                     3.33$                       100% 21                         


Renewables
1 Small Wind contractor training 200,000                 $0.032 $0.022 69% $16,600 4
2 Community Wind sodar 44,000,000            $0.13 $0.10 77% None- not on site 62
3 Solar Contractor Training 207,500                 4,620                     $0.084 $0.044 53% $17,223 5,937$                       7


Renewable Subtotal 44,407,500            4,620                     $0.25 $0.17 68% $33,823 $5,937 73                         


GRAND TOTAL - All Stimulus Proposals 358,317,900          2,348,144              $262.5 $130.2 50% $21,281,216 $3,109,755 1,123                    


ETO PROGRAM PROPOSALS FOR FEDERAL STIMULUS PACKAGE








OREGON 2009 LEGISLATIVE SESSION 
3/18/09 


 
Public purpose charge 
 
SB 832 – applies to “each entity denominated by statute as a semi-independent state 
agency, an independent not-for-profit public corporation or an independent public 
corporation, and each nongovernmental entity that receives moneys from the state to 
provide services described by law or under a contract.” These entities “shall provide to 
the Legislative Assembly, upon request, information about the budget of the agency, 
corporation or entity, the receipts and expenditures of the agency, corporation or entity 
or other financial records of the agency, corporation or entity. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0800.dir/sb0832.intro.html. Referred to Finance 
and Revenue. 
 
SB 476 – redirects the 63% Energy Trust portion of the public purpose charge. This 
percentage would go to ODOE for distribution to school districts (75%), cities (15%) and 
counties (10%) for energy conservation. The 19% that Energy Trust now uses for 
renewables would still be governed by SB 1149, but for expanded use: energy 
conservation, market transformation and renewable energy. The low-income and HCD 
percentage allocations would not change.   
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measpdf/sb0400.dir/sb0476.intro.pdf. Referred to Environment 
and Natural Resources. 
 
HB 2647 -- Changes the 2026 sunset date for the public purpose charge (current law) to 
2012. Referred to Sustainability and Economic Development, then to Revenue. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2600.dir/hb2647.intro.html.   
 
SB 597 – Subjects records related to funds collected through public purpose charges 
and paid to nongovernmental entity to audit by Secretary of State. Requires members of 
governing body of nongovernmental entities to file statements of economic interest with 
Oregon Government Ethics Commission, including: 


(a) The names of all positions as officer of a business and business directorships 
held by the person or a member of the household of the person during the preceding 
calendar year, and the principal address and a brief description of each business. 
(b) All names under which the person and members of the household of the person 
do business and the principal address and a brief description of each business. 
(c) The names, principal addresses and brief descriptions of the five most significant 
sources of income received at any time during the preceding calendar year by the 
person and by each member of the household of the person, a description of the 
type of income and the name of the person receiving the income. 
(d) The name of each member of the household of the person who is 18 years or 
older. 
(e) The name of each relative of the person who is 18 years of age or older and not a 
member of the household of the person. 


Referred to Rules Committee, first hearing held March 13.  
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measpdf/sb0500.dir/sb0597.intro.pdf  







Oregon 2009 Legislative Session  March 18, 2009 


 2


 
Energy efficiency ratings and codes:  
 
SB 79 - Directs Department of Energy to: (1) adopt energy efficiency rating system for 
residential and nonresidential buildings by specified dates; and (2) convene advisory 
group to assist in establishing energy performance scores. Directs Director of 
Department of Consumer and Business Services to take certain actions to achieve 
increases in building energy efficiency, including to ensure an increase in nonresidential 
building energy efficiency of 30 percent by January 1, 2012, and adopt aspirational 
energy efficiency building code. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0001.dir/sb0079.intro.html. Assigned to 
Environment and Natural Resources. 
 
HB 3061 -- Directs ODOE to adopt energy efficiency rating system to be implemented 
for residential and nonresidential buildings by specified dates.  Requires ODOE to 
convene advisory group to help establish performance scores for residential and 
nonresidential buildings.  
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3000.dir/hb3061.intro.html. Referred to 
Environment and Water, then to Ways and Means. 
 
HB 3062 –Directs Department of Consumer and Business Services to take certain 
actions to achieve increases in building energy efficiency. Directs director to adopt 
aspirational code related to building energy efficiency. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3000.dir/hb3062.intro.html. Referred to 
Environment and Water, then to Ways and Means.  
 
Financing 
 
HB 2626 – Energy Efficiency and Sustainable Technology Act (EEAST). Requires State 
Treasurer to solicit investors for installation of energy efficiency features and packages. 
Creates Energy Efficiency and Productivity Fund for use by department in developing 
and administering energy efficiency program for one and two family residential dwellings 
in cooperation with certain nongovernmental entities and public and private utilities. 
Requires establishment of pilot program during biennium beginning July 1, 2009, and 
potential statewide implementation by January 2, 2012. Referred to Sustainability and 
Economic Development; Ways and Means.  Hearing scheduled for March 24. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measpdf/hb2600.dir/hb2626.intro.pdf  
 
HB 3372 -- Authorizes local governments to establish local improvement district within 
which owners of qualifying residential and commercial property may receive loan 
financing of energy efficiency and renewable energy improvements, and ODOE to make 
loans to finance improvements in districts. Not assigned. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3300.dir/hb3372.intro.html  
 
HB 2952 – Adds requirement that applicant filing application to obtain loan funds for 
small scale local energy project include proof that any necessary electrical, plumbing or 
other permits have been obtained. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2900.dir/hb2952.intro.html. Referred to 
Sustainability and Economic Development 







Oregon 2009 Legislative Session  March 18, 2009 


 3


 
BETC 
 
HB 2067 – Two-year extension of tax credit for alternative energy devices and vehicles 
(see HB 2068 summary for description) from end of 2015 to end of 2017, sunsets credit 
in 2018. Assigned to House Revenue Committee. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2000.dir/hb2067.intro.html.  
 
HB 2068 - Provides uniform procedures for transfer of certain income and excise tax 
credits under ORS 315.141 (biomass), 315.354 (energy conservation facilities), 316.116 
(alternative energy devices or fuels under ORS 469.160 - 469.180 
(http://www.leg.state.or.us/ors/469.html): category 1 = solar space heating or cooling, water 
heating, wind generators to offset electric, generators using alternative fuels, efficient 
appliances, premium efficiency biomass; category 2 = fuel cells, solar PV, wind electric. 
Applies to tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2010. Assigned to Revenue. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2000.dir/hb2068.intro.html  
 
HB 2159 - Provides for transfer of portion of business energy tax credit. Sale, exchange 
or other disposition of interest in partnership or of shares in S corporation is not basis for 
revocation of certificate for purposes of business energy tax credit.  Assigned to House 
Revenue. http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2100.dir/hb2159.intro.html  
 
HB 2181 - Energy conserving improvements in existing buildings. Authorizes local 
governments to establish local improvement district within which owners of qualifying 
residential and commercial property may receive loan financing of energy efficiency and 
renewable energy improvements to property. Assigned to Sustainability and Economic 
Development. Hearing Feb. 26, work session March 17. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2100.dir/hb2181.intro.html.  
 
HB 2472 - Establishes calendar year limit on total cost of facilities for which State 
Department of Energy may issue preliminary certificates for business energy tax credit.  
Assigned to Revenue. http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2400.dir/hb2472.intro.html  
 
Renewable energy 
 
HB 2121 - Pilot program for electricity generated from solar energy. Directs Public Utility 
Commission to develop pilot program to integrate up to 17 megawatts of electricity 
generated from solar power into load used in this state. Assigned to Sustainability and 
Economic Development. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2100.dir/hb2121.intro.html.  
 
HB 2180 - Establishes Oregon Renewable Energy Grant Account and allows credit 
against income taxes for contributions to account.  Assigned to Sustainability and 
Economic Development. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2100.dir/hb2180.intro.html.  
 
HB 2182 - Relating to small scale local energy projects. Broadens definition of 
alternative fuel projects eligible for loan funds as small scale local energy project. 
Assigned to Sustainability and Economic Development. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2100.dir/hb2182.intro.html.  
 







Oregon 2009 Legislative Session  March 18, 2009 


 4


SB 195 - Relating to wave energy. Adds exemption for wave energy projects from 
provisions related to hydroelectric projects.  Assigned to Environment and Natural 
Resources. http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0100.dir/sb0195.intro.html.  
 
SB 334 – Authorizes State Treasurer to issue Article XI-D bonds, subject to bond 
amounts issuance limitation, to finance state acquisition and operation of renewable 
energy electricity generation facilities and transmission facilities. Establishes Bond 
Administration Fund and Renewable Energy Fund. Assigned to Environment and Natural 
Resources. http://landru.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0300.dir/sb0334.intro.html  
 
SB 585 - Relating to renewable energy – allows electricity from certain older generating 
facilities (pre-1995 efficiency upgrades) to be used as qualifying electricity for purpose of 
compliance with renewable portfolio standard. Assigned to Environment and Natural 
Resources. http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0500.dir/sb0585.intro.html  
 
SB 624 – Prohibits future adoption, enactment or creation of homeowners association 
rules or private covenants, conditions, restrictions or other agreements that prohibit 
installation and use of renewable energy devices.  
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0600.dir/sb0624.intro.html. Referred to 
Environment and Natural Resources 
 
SB 651 – Provides that public improvement contact for construction or certain 
reconstruction or renovation of public building is considered to contain amount equal to 
at least 1.5 percent of total contract price for inclusion of solar, geothermal or wind 
energy technology. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0600.dir/sb0651.intro.html. Referred to 
Environment and Natural Resources. 
 
SB 662 – Authorizes ODOE to define “alternative fuel device,” or category one or two 
alternative energy device, and to define resource as renewable energy resource. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0600.dir/sb0662.intro.html. Referred to 
Environment and Natural Resources.  
 
HB 3005 – Appropriates moneys to State Department of Agriculture for 2009-2011 to 
develop business plan for project to produce energy from agricultural sources and from 
food or other 
wastes. http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3000.dir/hb3005.intro.html. 
Referred to Agriculture, Natural Resources and Rural Communities, then to Ways and 
Means.  
 
HB 3039 – Requires OPUC to study qualifying renewable energy projects, including 
solar PV.  Referred to Sustainability and Economic Development. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3000.dir/hb3039.intro.html  
 
HB 3291 - Tax credits for energy conservation. Reduces percentage of certified cost of 
renewable energy resources facility, renewable energy resource equipment 
manufacturing facility or high-efficiency combined heat and power facility that is 
recoverable as tax credit. Assigned to House Revenue. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3200.dir/hb3291.intro.html.  
 







Oregon 2009 Legislative Session  March 18, 2009 


 5


HB 3352 -- Requires State Department of Energy to develop model list of homebuilder-
installed renewable energy systems, and architects and developers to advice customers 
of them. Not assigned. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3300.dir/hb3352.intro.html  
 
HB 3377 –   Provides maximum allowable amount of credit for fuel cell system, other 
than homebuilder-installed renewable energy system, of 50 percent of total certified cost. 
Applies beginning 2010. Referred to Sustainability and Economic Development, then to 
Revenue. http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3300.dir/hb3377.intro.html.  
 
HB 3445 – Requires energy facilities producing power from wind energy to be sited 
pursuant to energy facility site certificate without regard to amount of power generated. 
Referred to Environment and Water. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3400.dir/hb3445.intro.html.  
 
HB 3446 -- Requires Public Utility Commission to require electric companies to collect 
surcharge from customers for costs of research related to how alternative energy 
production may promote conservation and enhancement of wildlife.   Establishes State 
Fish and Wildlife Alternative Energy Fund and continuously appropriates moneys in fund 
to State Fish and Wildlife Commission for wildlife conservation. Not yet assigned. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3400.dir/hb3446.intro.html.  
 
Climate change: 
 
SB 38 – Registering and reporting GHG emissions. Allows Environmental Quality 
Commission to require registration and reporting by persons who import, sell or 
distribute for use in this state electricity or fossil fuels. 
http://landru.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0001.dir/sb0038.intro.html  
Assigned to Environment and Natural Resources.  
 
SB 80 – Cap-and trade: (1) Directs Environmental Quality Commission to adopt by rule 
greenhouse gas cap-and-trade system to achieve greenhouse gas emissions reduction 
goals. Requires application of cap-and-trade system to all energy facilities. Allows 
suspension of state's cap-and-trade system if federal cap-and-trade system is adopted. 
(2) Allows commission to require registration and reporting relating to greenhouse gas 
emissions and to establish registration fees. (3) Establishes Climate Improvement Fund. 
Continuously appropriates moneys in fund to Department of Environmental Quality for 
certain expenses related to greenhouse gas emissions. (4) Creates Oregon Climate 
Initiative Task Force. Authorizes task force to develop and present design 
recommendations for greenhouse gas cap-and-trade system to department. Sunsets 
task force on January 2, 2012. (5) Requires department to report on development of 
greenhouse gas cap-and-trade system and to submit to Seventy-sixth Legislative 
Assembly rules adopted by commission that implement cap-and-trade system. Declares 
emergency, effective on passage. 
http://landru.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0001.dir/sb0080.intro.html. Assigned to 
Environment and Natural Resources. Feb. 5 hearing. 
See also HB 2186, http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2100.dir/hb2186.intro.html  
 
SB 101 –Requires ODOE to establish greenhouse gas emissions performance standard 
for generating facilities that produce baseload electricity. Prohibits electricity provider 
from entering into long-term financial commitment unless generating facility complies 







Oregon 2009 Legislative Session  March 18, 2009 


 6


with greenhouse gas emissions performance standard. Prohibits Public Utility 
Commission from approving long-term financial commitment by electric company unless 
generating facility complies with greenhouse gas emissions performance standard. 
Requires State Department of Energy to ensure consumer-owned utility complies with 
greenhouse gas emissions performance standard. Modifies definition of 'energy facility' 
for purposes of regulation of energy facilities. Modifies circumstances in which site 
certificate not required. 
http://landru.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0100.dir/sb0101.intro.html. Assigned to 
Business and Transportation.  Hearing Mar. 16. 
 
HB 2072 -  Imposes tax on each fuel supplier and utility based on amount of carbon in 
carbon-based fuel that is sold by fuel supplier to consumers in state or that is used to 
produce carbon-generated electricity supplied by utility to consumers in state. Limits tax 
on certain oil and natural gas to six percent of market value of oil or natural gas. 
Distributes moneys collected from tax to State Highway Fund, Common School Fund, 
Energy Crisis Trust Fund and Renewable Energy Resources Account. Creates 
Renewable Energy Resources Account to fund development of renewable energy 
resources. Appropriates moneys from General Fund to Department of Revenue and 
State Department of Energy for purpose of funding first year of administration of tax. 
Applies to carbon-based fuel sold to consumers or used to produce carbon-generated 
electricity on or after January 1, 2011. Referred to Environment and Water, then to 
Revenue, then to Ways and Means. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2000.dir/hb2072.intro.html  
 
Low income 
 
SB 201 - Relating to energy efficiency in low income housing; appropriating money. 
Establishes Housing and Community Services Department energy efficiency program. 
Assigned to Environment and Natural Resources. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/sb0200.dir/sb0201.intro.html.  
 
Other 
 
HB 3155 –   Requires governing body of consumer-owned utility to establish local 
conservation and energy efficiency plan or annual conservation, energy efficiency and 
carbon reduction or avoidance program. Specifies projects eligible for funding under 
plan, and requires consumer-owned utility to provide annual reports. Referred to 
Environment and Water. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb3100.dir/hb3155.intro.html  
 
HB 2758/SB 446 - Relating to green energy technology (i.e., renewable energy or 
efficiency) in public buildings – Requires public agency to include amount in contract for 
construction, reconstruction or major renovation of public building equivalent to 1.5 
percent of total contract price for inclusion of appropriate green energy technology.  
Assigned to Environment and Natural Resources. 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/09reg/measures/hb2700.dir/hb2758.intro.html.  
 
 








 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting February 18, 2009 


 
Attending from the Council: 
Jeff Bissonnette, Fair and Clean Energy 
Coalition  
Suzanne Dillard, Oregon Department of 
Energy  
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA  
Charlie Grist, NW Power Planning Council  
Don Jones, Jr. PacifiCorp  
Paul Case, Oregon Remodelers Association  
Karen Meadows, Bonneville Power 
Administration  
Holly Meyer, NW Natural  
Lauren Shapton, Portland General Electric 
     
Steve Weiss, Northwest Energy Coalition  
Bill Welch, Eugene Water and Electric 
Board  
Jim Abramson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Steve Weiss, NWEC 
  
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Amber Cole  
Phil Degens 
Brian Sipe 
Fred Gordon 
Matt Braman 
Pete Catching 
John Reynolds, board of directors 
Margie Harris 
Steve Lacey 


 
Others attending: 
Paul Berkowitz, CSG 
Stephanie Gray, CSG 
Katharine Howard, CSG 
Dan Cote, CSG 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power 
Brad Thomas, JB Insulation 
Joe Frey, Oregon Green Solutions 
Erin Brean Oregon Green Solutions 
Courtney Dale, Oregon Green Solutions 
Mark Powell, Climate Control 
Andres Morrison, Ecos   
Jeremy Auboson, Wise 
Mark DeFrancisco, ORACCA 
Jeff Branch, Gagle’s Heating 
Shauna D’Ambrosia, Sunset Heating 
Tiffany Roderick, Sunset Heating 
Dave, Tri-County Temp 
Jerry Page, Total Comfort 
Waylon White, Green Energy Specialists, 
Inc. 
Paul Case, Home VisionsWest 
Berenice Lopez, Move In Ready 
Clyde Manchester PHD Construction 
Steve Campbell, Home Comfort 
Zach Erdmann, Premium Efficiency 
Jeremy Prys, Rice Heating & A/C 
Marshall Runkel, EcoTech 


 
 
1. Welcome and Introductions 
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for introductions.  
 
2. Steve stated that Energy Trust has closed the books and gave an update of 2008 results. 
For 2008, achieved 34.2 aMw, 300 megawatt hours of electric savings, 96% of stretch goal. 
Spent $50 million. For natural gas, Steve noted an outstanding job of coming in at 114% of 
stretch, 2.6 million therms. (goal was 2.3) $15 million spent. Q4 report out in 3-4 weeks and 
will be available on Web site. Industrial projects were postponed for an early start in the 
industrial sector in 2009. 
 
3. 2009 Program Incentive Updates (Recommendation) 
 
Paul Berkowitz presented 2009 program changes for the Home Energy Savings program. 
New and revised changes take into account comments from the January CAC meeting, plus 







CAC Notes – February 18, 2009     
 


2 


other factors, including the economy. Changes to program incentives reflect that more 
carryover was spent in 2008, so there’s less money available in 2009. This influences 
incentives for 2009. Need to accommodate revenues that are coming in and reflect this in 
incentives. 


 
Paul congratulated trade allies for all their work in helping Energy Trust meet their goals. Paul 
noted the need to balance cost-effectiveness and available budget.  About 40 new 
contractors are signing up to be trade allies each month.  


 
A. Changes to heat pump/furnace incentives 


• CONTRACTOR: Asked if the $150 Check Me! incentive is still available. 
• CONTRACTOR: Did they figure in different sizes of heat pumps? It might be worth 


considering a tiered incentive structure based on the size of the unit. 
• STEVE WEISS: Asked whether given the economy and rising prices, if the 60-80% 


income threshold was appropriate. Weiss suggested that Energy Trust should 
evaluate raising the threshold to a higher level. 


• STEVE WEISS: Suggested looking at the range of the bracket for the stimulus 
package as a guide.  


• BRUCE DOBBS: Asked if Energy Trust offers incentives for air conditioning. Dobbs 
wondered if the market would skew toward heat pumps because of the larger incentive 
for heat pumps vs. gas furnaces.  


• PAUL B: Explained that the bigger incentive is for heat pumps replacing electric 
resistance heating.  


 
B. Changes to Air/Duct Sealing incentives 


• HOLLY MEYERS: Questioned about changing the incentives before reporting 
numbers for air sealing are in. 


• FRED GORDON: Explained the challenges of measuring savings for air sealing and 
duct sealing and that using deemed savings was the best solution.  


• PAUL CASE: From contractors’ perspective, air sealing and duct sealing are the first 
measures recommended. Contractors don’t understand why there’s such a gap 
between what’s deemed cost effective vs. what is recommended through training. 


• JIM ABRAMSON: Wondered whether Energy Trust should lower incentives for duct 
sealing to provide more to other areas. 


• PAUL B: gave examples of how they calculated these savings and per-therm rates. 
• STEVE WEISS: Concerned that the incentive for air sealing (50% of costs) provides 


incentive to raise the cost of the project. His preference is to stick with performance-
based incentive, rather than cost-based incentive.  


• CONTRACTOR: How do the 26 deemed savings compare with RTF and other 
factors? 


• MATT BRAMAN: Explained that RTF is an engineering estimate that uses a model. 
They will also review their estimates, but it’s been difficult to estimate savings for the 
whole region. Tom Eckman, NWPPC, thinks that our savings are well grounded. 


• CONTRACTOR: Asked whether home check software would be changed to reflect the 
difference in savings? Inquired about other states. 100% difference in deemed savings 
is significant. 


• FRED GORDON: This measure is not as well researched as others. It’s hard to nail 
down the numbers. This calculation might be the best we can do. 


• CONTRACTOR/JERRY PAGE: When you visit a home, you might spend a lot of time 
to evaluate a home that would earn a very small incentive. The test for air and duct 
sealing is $25. Question: can we take the $25 out of the cost-effectiveness equation 







CAC Notes – February 18, 2009     
 


3 


and bump it to $75 to bring it to a break-even cost for the contractor? Could it be 
included in the marketing or outreach budget instead, for the contractor? This could 
result in the completion of more higher-savings jobs done and fewer low-savings jobs.  


• FRED GORDON: Removing the cost of testing the job is hard to take out of the 
equation.  


• CONTRACTOR: Asked about adding an additional incentive on top of “test only” to 
see whether it produces better projects. ($50 marketing allocation on top of $25) 


• STEVE LACEY: This is a high-cost measure and adding more incentives only 
increases the total cost of a marginal measure. 


• MARGIE HARRIS: Going back to training. Other savings have been greater in other 
areas. And the new study will provide more information. Trainers are working in a 
larger geographic area that changes the energy-savings from these measures. 


• STEVE WEISS: Changing incentive doesn’t change cost effectiveness. 
• FRED GORDON: Concurred with Steve Weiss, that the utility cost-effectiveness test is 


the challenge and incentives drive that cost. 
• CONTRACTOR: Is gas less cost-effective than electric? Electric with duct sealing only 


would be cost-effective by that measure alone. Throw in the other measures and the 
cost-effectiveness is less. 


• FRED: Based on the utility cost-effectiveness test, the value of natural gas is less  
than electricity. The same measure may pass for electric and flunk for gas. 


 
Several contractors asked whether there could or should there be different incentives for gas 
and electric. 


• LACEY: in the past, contractors asked for one incentive level, not different by fuel. 
• CONTRACTOR: It depends on the difference in incentives. If it’s big, it’s worth the 


complexity of having gas & electric incentives. For example in Southern Oregon, this 
could be the case. 


• CONTRACTOR/OREGON GREEN SOLUTIONS: Raised concerns about duct sealing 
numbers. Claimed that other studies suggest savings are as high as 80 therms. Other 
estimates look really high. This doesn’t also count free-rider rates.  


• FRED GORDON: Explained Energy Trust knows there are some free-riders, but that 
we’re also getting spill over. The challenge lies in measuring how much spillover is 
real. 


• CONTRACTOR/OREGON GREEN SOLUTIONS: Asked if contractors have 
confidence in 21 therms. 


• BRUCE DOBBS: Questioned the validity of the contractor’s claim that savings were 80 
therms. 


• FRED GORDON: Credible regional experts on this issue are telling Energy Trust that 
the ETO savings estimates are valid. 


• PAUL B: Asked for contractors to send/bring research that differs with ET estimates to 
the table. 


• CONTRACTOR: Cuts to the program are too much, but you’ve cut the incentive in half 
with the 50% co-pay. By making homeowner participate, you’ve already done a lot. 
Proposed a compromise to leave the incentive at $1/CFM with $400 cap. Many homes 
really need air sealing so lowering incentives could reduce the number of homeowners 
who get the measure. 


• DON JONES: Suggested that the gas/electric incentives be reintroduced. Likes the 
performance metric, rather than cost, with a cap. 


• CONTRACTOR: PTCS is moving toward alternative qualification for tax credit in 
addition to 50% credit for 10% of floor area.  Preferred is 10% of floor area; fallback is 
50%. 







CAC Notes – February 18, 2009     
 


4 


• CONTRACTOR: As a contractor who completes a lot of mobile home projects he has 
some concerns about the incentive changes. Costs are making it difficult to even do 
the test. Asked if the incentives would be brought up to a higher level if the incentive 
was split between gas and electric.  


• FRED GORDON: Noted that there are few gas-heated Mobile Homes. 
• CONTRACTOR: If it was electric only, the numbers might show a higher incentive. 


The incentive looks the same to other single-family duct sealing incentives.  
• STEVE WEISS: Mobile Homes should reflect that homeowners are low income, so the 


incentive should cover the whole cost.  It doesn’t make sense to have the 60-80 
thresholds for this measure. If it’s cost-effective and the homeowner is 60-80, we 
should pay for the job.  


• CONTRACTOR: The program hasn’t increased funds for contractors for Mobile 
Homes. As written, there’s a big discrepancy between the actual contractor cost and 
the incentive. 


• STEVE WEISS: If the job cost is $650 and the contractor gets $500.  
• PAUL CASE: The program will die if the incentive can’t cover the contractor cost.  


 
C. Changes to window incentives 


• CONTRACTOR: Tom Eckman says that largest potential savings are replacement 
windows, but our incentives are reduced. Asked how it is that BPA is increasing these 
incentives and Energy Trust is going down.  


• FRED GORDON: Energy Trust studied window purchases and found that higher 
incentives didn’t influence window replacement decision. Customers were influenced 
to go from a good window to a better window. But Energy Trust would need to pay a 
lot more to influence purchasing decision. 


• FRED GORDON: Noted that multifamily is a different sales proposition because they 
have different considerations than single-family purchasers. 


 
D: Cooperative Marketing Restructuring 


• LAUREN SHAPTON: cooperative marketing program. Is there a floor on the 
cooperative marketing fund program? 


• JIM ABRAMSON: Confirmed there is also a Quality Control requirement. 
• STEPHANIE GRAY/CSG: Explained program to the group. 
• CONTRACTOR:  Asked if Energy Trust is spending all the coop dollars now. 
• PAUL CASE: Questioned using QC as a cooperative marketing requirement, since it 


could be difficult for companies that are growing when QC can drop. Felt that 
contractors could be worried about the risk of losing marketing dollars. 


 
Steve concluded that agreement seems to be there for furnaces. Program will have a 
revised recommendation for air/duct sealing. Windows and other measures, including 
cooperative marketing incentives are agreed to. Energy Trust will include separate 
incentives for gas and electric. Steve reiterated that these changes are due to limited 
funds. Gas revenues are limited. Energy Trust can’t continue these types of incentives for 
these measures and continue to service the greater good here in Oregon. The question is 
what can we do with the revenues we have. We need to move ahead with what we know, 
even though conditions might change. 
 
Final comments: 


• CONTRACTOR/OREGON GREEN SOLUTIONS: Suggested reconsidering air/duct 
sealing for both rate and cap. Feels that passing on the cost, through the 50 percent 







CAC Notes – February 18, 2009     
 


5 


co-pay, to the customer could result in fewer customers asking for this service. 
Asked Energy Trust to consider going to 50 cents/CFM. 


• STEVE WEISS: Noted that If the program needs more money, Energy Trust should 
go back to the gas companies and ask for money instead of eliminating programs or 
cutting them back.  


• STEVE LACEY: Confirmed that Energy Trust is talking with NW Natural about this 
issue.  


• CONTRACTOR: Stated that his customers pay into the Public Purpose Charge and 
he felt that electric was subsidizing gas savings. 


• LACEY: Reiterated that gas and electric funds are kept separate.  
• CHARLIE GRIST: If other utilities are performing window research it might provide 


new data that could be valuable. 
 


4.  Consumer Awareness Survey results (information) 
Phil Degens presented the results of a consumer awareness study. The study was the 
first residential consumer awareness study conducted by Energy Trust.  


 
• LAUREN SHAPTON: Asked  if Energy Trust believes the cost issue is perceived or 


real. This would suggest different marketing. 
• JOHN REYNOLDS: Asked about whether there was a conversation about using the 


phase climate change vs. global warming.  
• PHIL: Responded that global warming was chosen because they could answer 


decisively. Asking about Climate Change could bring a response that could go 
different ways. 


• PAUL CASE: Asked about the goals for awareness.  
• FRED GORDON: Over 10-15 years we want to get everyone participating. 


Customers can’t always identify who provided what services – ODOE, utilities, and 
other programs. 


• BILL WELCH: Asked how Energy Trust could reach the awareness of ENERGY 
STAR, or isolate the awareness from other groups.  


• FRED: Customers are acting based on faith that we’re steering them right on making 
improvements. 


• KAREN MEADOWS: Is there a difference in responses between rural-nonrural or 
renters-owners? In the Puget Sound area this was the case. 


• JOHN REYNOLDS: Wondered if questions were open-ended. 
• JIM ABRAMSON: Noted that weatherization was #2 measure by participants, but not 


recognized highly as a measure to combat global warming. 
• BILL WELCH: Wondered if we’re tying conservation to solar marketing.  
• CHARLIE GRIST: Agreed that making the connection would be a good idea. 
• KAREN MEADOWS: Asked how we intend to target these segmented consumers. 
• PHIL: Hired a consultant to look at this segmentation study and others on the West 


Coast to do comparison and gap analysis.  
• BILL WELCH: Talked about the challenges of reaching renters. In Eugene, they’re 


working on a marketing strategy to reach this “struggler” segment.   
 
Phil encouraged the group to read the full report, which is posted on the Web site. The 
next study will be out in April 2009. 







CAC Notes – February 18, 2009     
 


6 


 
5.  Portland City On-Bill Finance Pilot (discussion) 


Steve Lacey previewed a pilot program being implemented in collaboration with City of 
Portland Bureau of Planning and Sustainability, The Clean Energy Investment Fund. It’s a 
central strategy for the City’s greenhouse gas reduction plan.  
 


• STEVE WEISS: Asked about what happens to the repayment when the house sells. 
 
There were a variety of contractor questions related to the details of the Enhanced Home 
Energy Review, whether pilot homeowners would pay for the Energy Advocate, how 
contractors were selected and referred for the pilot.  
 


• HOLLY MEYERS: Likes the flowchart presented, but there’s a significant cost to 
update utility billing system. Suggested that NW Natural might have a role earlier in 
the process as a source of capital or involvement. 


• CONTRACTOR: Asked about focusing on the utility vs. property tax. 
• DEREK/CITY OF PORTLAND: Not possible due to legislative rules. 
• STEVE LACEY: Noted that the pilot is an effort to test out mechanisms to help guide 


development of potential future legislation, such as seeing whether having the 
Energy Advocate model increases participation. Energy Trust expects significant 
uptake for the program and that economies of scale will come into play. 


• STEVE WEISS: With full financing, we might be able to have smaller incentives. If 
it’s on their bill and it doesn’t raise their bill. 


• STEVE LACEY: Reminded the group that a portion of the incentive pays for the 
facilitation, so it plays an important role. 


• STEVE LACEY: Discussed that the goal is to make this into a net-neutral cash-flow 
scenario, and that it may also be applicable in the single family and up to four-plex 
multifamily rental market. 


• JOHN REYNOLDS: Asked to what extent are we informing homeowners that they 
can decline the facilitation and do more by doing the project directly. 


• STEVE LACEY: Stated that there will be a choice. 
• CONTRACTOR/JERRY: Wondered whether windows are included in the pilot. 
• CONTRACTOR/JERRY: Said that his business is successful because they bundle 


incentives. Customers call because they want windows but Jerry sells other 
insulation services, with incentives, so they get more for their money. “It’s not a 
window, it’s a door…to greater energy savings.” 


• CONTRACTOR: Asked about the extent of the enhanced Home Energy Review and 
how to make sure customer will understand that it’s not a full Home Performance 
with Energy Star assessment. 


• DON JONES: Understands cash-flow neutral appeal, but feels it needs to be clear 
that the loan payment can’t be adjusted. He warned that calls would come to the 
utility. Financing options to be considered could include a shortened term. There are 
many variables on cash-neutral that can create challenges in the future. 


 
Meeting adjourned at 4:18 pm. Next meeting is March 11, 2009.  
 
 
 


 








 1 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting March 11, 2009 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Paul Case, Oregon Remodelers Association 
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Andria Jacob, City of Portland 
Mark Johnson, for Karen Meadows, BPA  
Don Jones Jr., PacifiCorp 
Stan Price,  NEEC 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
Bill Welch, EWEB 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Pete Catching 
Diane Ferington 
Dan Enloe, board of directors 
Fred Gordon 
Steve Lacey 
Leana Mathews 
John Reynolds, board of directors 
John Volkman 


Peter West 
 
 
 
 
Others attending: 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Lyndsey Billington, Premium Efficiency 
Eric Breon, Oregon Green Solutions  
Jonathan Cohen, HP Contractors’ Guild 
Alecia Dodd, CSG 
Emilio Hernandez 
Jack Hruske, Energy Trust contractor 
Marshall Johnson, CSG 
Tom Kovalak, CSG 
Berenice Lopez, HELD 
Mary Mann, Goose Hollow Windows 
Jerry Page, Total Comfort 
Bruce Wickson 
 


 
 


1. Welcome and Introductions 
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. 2009 Program Incentive Updates (Round 3 discussion) 
Paul Berkowitz explained his team’s work to respond to comments from the previous meeting, 
covering heat pumps, air and duct sealing, mobile homes (trailer parks) and cooperative 
marketing.  
 
a. Single family heat pumps. Paul reviewed a table of installs by size. 5 ton systems have a 


significantly lower install rate. He proposes to lower the proposed HSPF requirement for 
heat pumps of 5 tons or greater to 8.8 and pay a $200 incentive for upgrades. If replacing 
electric resistance heat, these larger systems would get a $400 incentive. 


 
- Contractor: proposed a promotional bonus or bundle; Paul thought this a good 


idea.  
- Discussion: whether to require offering a package or bonus, disallowing stand-


along installs.  
- Resolution: not make the package mandatory at this time. 
 


b. Single-family furnaces. No changes since last month.  
 
c-1 Single-family air sealing. New duct sealing incentive of 50 cents/CFM reduced, up to $400.  


- Lindsay Billington: homeowners don’t like a sliding scale. Also, she feels this 
opens the door to gaming. Would like to see an incentive at 50% of job cost.  







Conservation Advisory Council      March 11, 2009  
 


 2 


- Bill Welch: thought last month we adjusted away from 50% back to 50 
cents/CFM.  


- Paul Case: majority of contractors he’s talked to would prefer 50%.  
- Jeremy Anderson: has heard the same thing. Homeowners think 50 cents per 


CFM is ripping them off.  
- Jerry Page: recommends 50%.  
- Lindsay: is there a double standard on what is required for mechanical 


ventilation in sf homes versus mobile homes? Referenced a statement in letter 
to mobile home owners suggesting mechanical ventilation is required. 


- Marshall Johnson: explained the letter reinforces the need for use of mechanical 
ventilation and that the letter will go out to all homes.  


- Contractors: further discussion; how hard it is to measure air sealing.   
- Andria Jacobs: what was the original incentive? Paul: $1.00/CFM. We proposed 


50 cents/CFM but would be happy to go with 50%, which administratively is 
similar.  


- Steve Lacey: understands support for 50% of cost up to $400; queried council 
members. All supported it (Jim Abrahamson was more neutral; Lauren Shapton 
had left the room) in the interest of simplicity and customer understanding.  


-    Resolution:  duct sealing incentive of 50% of measure cost, up to $400.  
 
 


c-2 Single-family duct sealing. New electric duct sealing incentive of 50 cents/CFM reduced, up to 
$400. Duct leakage test incentive reduced to $35 per duct system tested. For gas-heated 
homes, 50 cents per CFM reduced, up to $325. New incentives begin May 1.  


- Lindsay: as with air sealing, homeowners don’t like a sliding scale because they 
don’t believe they will get the highest amount.  


- Eric Breon: passed out his report on the impact of duct sealing. Four studies 
have shown 16% energy savings. He thinks the current incentive works well. He 
doesn’t think an incentive should be larger just because someone charges more.    


- Marshall: Energy Trust should encourage the customer to perceive a value in the 
services (of air- and duct-sealing). By establishing the incentive at 50% of cost, 
this encourages the participant to invest their own funds, thereby recognizing 
the value.  


- Paul: if we’re going to PTCS standards, doesn’t see why we need the 150 CFM 
reduction.  


- Marshall: explained why the 150 requirement is needed.  
- Jeremy: flat incentive would be best, % of cost next best and better than dollar 


per CFM reduction.  
- Fred: noted the studies referenced by Eric have come from some of the same 


sources who have recommended to us to reduce the incentive.  
- Jerry: consistency and simplicity for contractor and homeowner are important; 


for this reason he would support 50%. Would like a $400 cap not $325. 
- Bill Welch: asked if it’s more difficult to test CFM reduction for ducts compared 


to air sealing. Contractors: a little more time. He’s leaning toward 50%.  
- Paul: would rather see 50% cap. Even at 50%, air and duct sealing are the best 


rebates of anything we do.  
- Mark Johnson: given the societal and utility benefit, public policy should support 


a different approach relieving homeowners of all costs for selected efficiency 
measures.  







Conservation Advisory Council      March 11, 2009  
 


 3 


- Marshall: would be nice to know why homeowner doesn’t proceed after a duct 
sealing test.  


- Lindsay: said that information is there, imbedded in pre- and post-test values.  
- Paul C: sometimes when we submit the incentive form for the study, it is before 


the customer has decided whether to proceed.  
- Mark: noted RTF is going to require any time a contractor touches a house it 


must provide a CO detector.  
- Steve: we’ll take that under advisement once RTF standards come out.  
- Paul C: thinks the lower incentive will lower results this year compared to last.  
- Jim: asked for savings estimates for duct sealing. Noted gas savings are lower 


than electric, when converted to BTUs. 
- Eric: supports 50%.  
- Steve: thinks he heard agreement on 50% rather than 50 cents/CFM, and asked 


council members. Said he cannot recommend raising the gas cap to $400 in view 
of the need for additional gas funds this year. Council members settled on 50% 
for consistency with the air sealing incentive.  


- Resolution: electric duct sealing incentive of 50% of measure cost, up 
to $400. Duct leakage test incentive reduced to $35 per duct system 
tested. For gas-heated homes, 5% of measure cost, up to $325. 


 
d. Mobile home parks. Paul outlined requirements for trade allies working in mobile home 


parks. Air sealing incentive is 50 cents/CFM up to $300 (was lower last month). The duct 
sealing incentive is 50 cents/CFM up to $400. Pre-CFM must be less than 300 to qualify for 
test-only incentive.  


- Lindsay: asked why the 300 CFM minimum? It would still be possible to fix leaks.  
- Paul C: doesn’t work in this setting but understands that if the owner doesn’t 


pay anything, cutting the incentives (which go to contractor only) will cut the 
program.   


- Diane: A suggestion made yesterday was to give $1/CFM for first 250 CFM 
reduction; at that point go to 50%.  


- Jeremy: had been intending to relay that point. If new lower incentives take 
place, need increased marketing (not co-op marketing but outreach to targeted 
mobile home parks). Alternately, allow contractor to charge a minimal fee to 
owner.  


- Alicia Dodd: in this proposal, caps not changed but incentives cut in half from 
$1/CFM to 50 cents/CFM.  


- Paul C: how would Energy Trust react to drop off in activity?  
- Steve: might offer a special or time sensitive incentive.  
- Lindsay: doesn’t think people could afford to contribute. Could a flat rate be 


considered for mobile homes?  
- Paul B: with no owner contribution a flat rate would be easier.  
- Bill: supports a fixed amount.  
- Mark: supports a fixed amount.  
- Steve: hears support for a fixed amount for this incentive.  
- Mark: what would the fixed fee be?  
- Diane: $350? Paul B: need to run an analysis looking at average cost. Steve: will 


be $300-350 for duct sealing and $250-300 for air sealing.  
- Paul: will look at data base, run some average costs, and set an amount.  







Conservation Advisory Council      March 11, 2009  
 


 4 


 
Paul reviewed some other mobile home incentives. 


- Jeremy: contractors want indemnification against breaking shower heads while 
installing low flow aerators.  


- Paul: it’s optional to install the aerators. 
 
e. Trade ally caps:  Paul said we have three categories of traded allies – new trade allies, 


established trade allies, Home Performance TAs (new and established) and real estate 
professionals. He noted during first year of trade ally participation, a quarterly incentive cap 
would be established based on number of employees (with differering amounts for different 
categories). A quality control requirement suspends coop advertising for the following 
quarter after two major job infractions.  


- Jerry: would prefer a percentage rather than all or nothing. 
- Steve: that’s fair. We’ll establish a percentage.  
- Jonathan _____ of Home Performance Contractors Association: suggested 


allowing use of coop dollars for training. Diane, Paul: we’re considering this.  
- Paul C: would like a limit on dollars that could be moved.  
- Bernice Lopez: can some of the $1,000 per quarter for Real Estate Professionals 


be used for training contractors rather than marketing for realtors?  
- Paul: we plan to present this new offer and see how effective it is.   
- Jonathan: can we track the effect of co-op marketing on more savings? Paul: 


sometimes. 
- Steve: polled Council on whether home performance contractors could use 


$3,000/quarter (at 45% rate) for training instead of coop marketing, if they 
aren’t having difficulty getting jobs. Bill supports this. Don suggests trying for a 
year. Stan supports. Lauren is neutral. Jim supports. Mark is neutral. Paul 
supports.  


 
3. Home Energy Review Customer Interface Enhancement  
 
Margie Harris noted Energy Trust is going through an organizational redesign and is reexamining 
its customer services. The interest is going up, with the stimulus package, governor’s support for 
efficiency, activity in the legislature, etc. She noted the existing materials provided during a 
Home Energy Review do not clearly communicate to customers. We want to re-design the 
materials to be simpler in presentation, and to offer recommendations and some sense of cost 
and savings. We need to train our home energy reviewers to impart to the customer choices 
about what they should do first and next, how do I do this and what do I get for it. We’re 
looking at revising the forms this spring. The back side of the form would have a series of low- 
and no-cost measures homeowners can do themselves. She noted customers trust the neutral 
third-party person doing the assessment and are looking for information and guidance from this 
person. She noted a lot  of homes who have received home energy reviews do not follow 
through to implement measures. We would provide a way for customers to re-contact their 
energy advisor with questions after the assessment. She noted this effort is in play and not 
completed and asked for comments.   


- Jeremy: sounds great on paper but has many problems. It’s a disaster to give 
people prices on paper. Can scare them off. How can you know what each 
measure will do independently or in combination? Training costs would be high. 
People will lose their trust in our advisors if they don’t have answers. Sounds 
like duplicating Home Performance with Energy Star services. 







Conservation Advisory Council      March 11, 2009  
 


 5 


- Lauren: how does this fit with Home Performance and with Energy Performance 
Score?  


- Fred: more measures come in through contractors working directly with 
homeowners rather than after Home Energy Reviews.  


- Jonathan: don’t have a problem with giving a range of costs, as this is aimed at 
solving a problem – that people don’t adopt/take action. Needs to be offered 
with a heavy dose of “maybe,” “if,” “you need to get actual bids.” As far as how 
they interface, he suggests a “triage” concept – if the house only needs 
insulation and air sealing, then get the house directly to a specialty contractor. If 
the recommendation is not clear, if there are home safety issues, give the work 
to a home performance contractor. May not need to be a lot of retraining for 
Home Energy Reviewers. He likes the idea of a checklist on their form that, if 
any are checked, will lead to a recommendation to go to a home performance 
contractor. He has a list of 8-10 items that could go on the list.  


- Jerry: how many reviewers will this approach need? Margie said we would not 
need more reviewers, but more training for them.  


- Tom Kovalak: he has been a home energy reviewer; and has reviewed 7,000 
homes and businesses. He thinks the information can be provided.  


- Jeremy: can’t provide information on payback. It changes every month.  
- Mary Mann: doing measures independently of the others changes the cost 


effectiveness of each. She and others who don’t do home performance would 
be annoyed if our reviewers directed work to these specialists. People forget 
what you say about ranges.  


- Bernice: had a home energy review. Had ducts insulated. Now has had a home 
performance assessment, which concluded the duct insulation work needs to be 
redone. She thinks recommendations are a bad idea.  


- Jerry: what is the fully loaded cost of a home energy reviewer? Margie/Paul: 
about $100. On last year’s trade ally survey, solar contractors were asked how 
to improve Energy Trust programs but the suggestions were not shown. Margie: 
this can be remedied.  


- Paul C: it’s a good idea on paper. Simplification on paper and guiding customers 
to the contractor who gets the job done works best. Consumer education is 
needed – they don’t understand CFM, the difference between air and duct 
sealing etc. Giving costs is the biggest problem. People tend to think the utility 
rep has the facts and criticizes the contractor if costs come in higher. It’s a 
minefield.  


- Mary: a positive thing that could be done instantly would be for home reviewer 
to email the report, and again in two months and six months.  


- Margie: I am posing this situation to you because the people we serve want this 
advice. To simply dismiss it isn’t going to work. We want volume, we want 
people to understand their choices about what they can do. We want to do this 
in a way that gets work for you. Margie: then help us do it short of costs but 
help us do it.  


- Steve: we will address this again next meeting, with things for you to look at and 
react to.  


 
The meeting adjourned at 4 pm. Next meeting is April 15, 2009.  
 
 








RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL


Notes from meeting on February 18, 2009


Attending from the Council:
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Kyle Davis, Pacificorp 
Carel DeWinkel, Oregon Dept. of Energy
Bill Eddie, Bonneville environmental foundation 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Jeff King, NW Power and Conservation Council
Suzanne Leta Liou, Renewable NW Project
Frank Vignola, Solar Monitoring 


Attending from Energy Trust:
Dave McClelland
Jed Jorgensen
Pete Catching
Thad Roth
Keith Rossman
Betsy Kauffman
Elaine Prause
Ashley Jackson 


Attending from the Board:
John Reynolds


Others attending:
Diane Broad, Ecofisc
Mark Kendall, ODOE
Mark Osborn, PGE
Pam Sporborg, BPA


1. Welcome and Introductions


Betsy Kauffman convened the meeting at 9:38am. Everyone in attendance introduced 
themselves. Adoption of the December minutes was pushed to the next RAC meeting. The 
agenda for the current meeting was adopted without change. 


2. Douglas County Landfill Biopower Project


Thad Roth presented a proposed 1 MW project using a third-party ownership model.


Thad stated that there will be more talk at the end of March or April on the Landfill gas energy 
project. He has been working with the project developers for 5 or 6 months. This is an 
indication of how long these projects can take. 


The Roseburg Landfill is an environmental challenge. This project has a number of advantages 
that address these challenges. 


When on 1-5 going south, you can see the landfill. It started out in the 30�s and was known as a 
�burn dump.� The main portion of the land fill is no longer open. There is an expansion that 
opened in 1999. There are 2.9 million tons of waste in place between the main dump and the 
expansion.







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


The majority of the waste is in the main landfill. It will generate methane many years into the 
future. The expansion to the landfill will close in 2025, but gas production will continue for up 
to 40 years afterwards, peaking after about 15-20 years. There is an active gas collection system 
in both sections and improvements to that system will be made with this project. 


In 2007, Douglas County led an RFP for beneficial use of landfill gas. The most popular method 
is to capture methane and generate electricity. There are many landfills across the US using 
methane for thermal purposes or to generate electricity. 


Ameresco (a US corporation) submitted a full application to Energy Trust in August of 2008. 
Energy Trust is now within a couple of week of a specific deal on an incentive. 


This landfill will generate enough gas for a 1 megawatt system. Ameresco operates 12 such 
system within the US. 


The planned expansion of the LFG collection system will increase gas recovery by 150%. 
Ameresco plans to manage and operate facility for 20 years and will make royalty payment to 
Douglas county. The project will provide 0.97 aMW of generation, or about 8500 MWh/yr.


Kyle Davis mentioned that it is possible to measure and demonstrate a reduction in methane, 
creating a carbon offset recognized by many states. 


Thad stated that Energy Trust is trying to forecast the value of these carbon credits using 
standards found with The Climate Trust and the EPA. They have calculators where you can plug 
in the amount of gas that you will be destroying to calculate the offset.


At the end of the day, this project is small and remote, but the environmental benefits are 
important. Without carbon offsets, we would support the project at a 12% IRR. There is a cost 
in verifying carbon credits to the project developer which lowers their effective value.


Bill Eddie said the offset component could be significant. These utilities will be subject to cap 
and trade in the future. The market is betting these will have regulatory value. 


Kyle says if the landfill is large enough, then the offsets disappear because it falls under 
regulations. 


Thad says that offsets are an important issue because we are seeing projects on the agriculture 
side which also will likely qualify for offsets. Those projects have asked if we will be taking 
control of the offsets. He thinks we need to have a conversation about that as we may not have 
thought through all the details. 


Suzanne thought this would be a good thing to have on agenda next meeting. 


Thad said Energy Trust has evaluated the project�s above market costs and has extended an 
offer to Ameresco. They are reviewing the offer. One challenge is that we need to have 
security because they are paying us back in tags over 20 years. This comes in the form of a 
letter of credit. We expect a final decision no later than mid March.


2







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


John Reynolds asked if the project will operate 24/7? Are there any opportunities to use the 
waste heat? That replied that it will operate at a 97% capacity factor but there are no industries 
close by to use the waste heat.


Suzanne asked about the possibility for other projects like this in Oregon?


Thad mentioned that Metro operates a landfill in St. Johns and there is a thermal application 
there but there may be an opportunity for generation. There are three other landfills where 
there are more opportunities, in The Dalles, in Deschutes County, and at Arlington.


3. Telemetry Project


Mark Kendall from Oregon Department of Energy briefed the RAC on a study examining telemetry for  
projects under 10 MW. The presentation is available on Energy Trust�s website.


Mark explained the problem they are working on. He assured the RAC that this is in fact a 
proper sentence:


�The telemetry hardware, protocols, data structures, reporting and System Control 
Center requirements for distributed resources (DR) under 10 MW are not standard, 
substantially increasing variability in cost, data quality, confidence, reliability or security 
between independent system operators and system control centers.�


The projects goals are the following:


To define standardized DR interface/protocols, naming conventions and data 
structure(s), monitoring and communication equipment, and system control center 
reporting.


To evaluate and identify ISO, RTO and SCC concerns, methods, protocols and common 
elements of data structures, protocols.


To demonstrate four things:
1) A test-link between PGE and BPA SCC for three DR projects
2) A DR performance data-push to BPA Energy Web
3) Compliance with FERC/NERC cyber security
4) Affordable telemetry equipment and software applications


The project will use conventional DR IO systems and will test radio, cellular, fiber, satellite 
telemetry systems. They will be installing the telemetry, package software and protocols and 
believe it should be possible to create a system with significantly lower costs that can provide 
proven reliable telemetry. They have demonstration sites in Beaverton, Tigard, Hood River, and 
Echo. They will integrate data at PGE�s system control center in Portland and relay real-time 
data to BPA�s system control center.


3







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


So far they have signed agreements with three of the four demonstration sites. They also have a 
list of the telecom equipment they plan to use in their tests. They have contracts in place with 
BPA and two of the three sub-contractors working on the project. 


Telemetry at two sites has already been installed and is confirmed to be working. In addition, 
the group has completed a survey of system control center operators to understand their 
needs.


Software to integrate the data is being planned and the data elements are being defined.


Kyle Davis mentioned that Pacificorp is partnering with EPRI on �P174� to do the same sort of 
thing. He wondered if there would be a way to share information so the two efforts aren�t 
duplicative. Mark responded that it was not possible to contract with EPRI on this effort but 
that information would be shared nonetheless.


Kyle Davis said that just sharing the process would help EPRI improve their results. If Mark runs 
into problems with EPRI Kyle would be willing to be help out.


Frank Vignola asked if the data will be able to be sent to control centers and seen locally? 


Mark replies and states he is doing that for the ODOT project now. You log in and grab the 
data. 


That said, there are agreements with many of these partners because their site specific data is 
confidential. The ultimate goal is to get manufactures and to put a data port on their inverters, 
so that everyone can access the same data in the same way. 


Dave McClelland mentioned that Energy Trust doesn�t allow reporting from inverters because 
of the lack of standards. But feedback about allowing web based metering would be helpful. 


Suzanne is very pleased to hear about the project. 


Kyle asked if there was a literature search on equipment? Mark replied that he did a number of 
searches.


Kyle mentioned how Google just announced their own smart grid effort a week ago. If Mark 
has done an industry equipment survey, it would be very helpful to share with the RAC. In 
addition to the results, this survey would be very helpful to include in report. 


Marks said that his data is dated not a finished product but it could be pulled together.


Kyle mentioned that 20 companies claim to have this kind product, so it�s hard to narrow down 
what is real and what isn�t


Mark feels that many people have web based solutions that are not real yet. They will program 
anything you want. 


4







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


Betsy asked if there are plans for taking this info and communicating it down to the people who 
meet with the utility? Mark said that is the idea.


Kyle said he would get demonstration data. In California, solar systems all start to produce 
electricity at once and the utilities want to control this system ramp up. Start with one house 
and then do one at a time to avoid transmission problems.


4. Staffing changes updates


Betsy noted that Elaine Prause is now the Sr. Renewable Program Business Manager. She is very 
involved in the program design and analysis support role, as well as the interconnection 
projects.


Steve Lacey is now the Operations Manager. He is overseeing IT, Evaluation and Planning, and 
Marketing and Customer Service. 


Peter is now managing Energy Efficiency and Renewables. 


Peter is no longer facilitating the RAC. The RAC has been handed to Betsy and Kacia. Thoughts 
about the RAC over the next few months will be discussed. 


Betsy is now a Sr. Program Manager. She is working with Hydro, Geothermal, Wind all through 
the Open Solicitation program. Erin, Jed Betsy are now one team. Wind projects are still 
funded under same guidelines but will become a part of Open Solicitation.


Betsy also explained the organizational redesign effort. Energy Trust is going through a process 
of taking a good look at how we do business. 


It�s a three step process:
1) Look at how we do things. Internal process. 
2) How we get projects approved. 
3) How we process applications for funding. 


The goal is to think about who our customers are and how we can best serve even more 
customers. This means looking at how we are organized and what changes to be made to be 
most effective. 


Kyle Davis asked Energy Trust is doing something about the stimulus dollars. He wondered if 
Energy Trust would administer these dollars? Pacificorp is being asked lots of questions about 
the stimulus.


Betsy mentioned that Energy Trust is discussing the stimulus. We need to take a good look to 
understand where the dollars are going and to see what we could do if our budgets were to 
increase as a result. 


Kyle stated the delivery mechanism isn�t clear. Are the monies going directly to state agencies? 
He suggests that we have stimulus dollars as a RAC agenda item next month. 


5







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


Mark said stimulus funds are going to come on the energy side in four different areas. One will 
be low income weatherization money directly through housing and CAP agencies. Another will 
be the expansion of LIHI as well as loan guarantees. 


Suzanne asked who controls the money when it is delivered?


Mark said that Instructions are not clear yet. The State Energy Program spends at their 
discretion. The monies are for residential, commercial, efficiency and renewables. There is 4.5 
billion for the entire country. 


The other pool is smart grid money. ODOE has programs where there is already contract 
authority to transfer money.


Suzanne asked if Energy Trust, given the authority it has, can contract with counties or cities 
that receive stimulus funds? Could the City of Portland work with Energy Trust to distribute 
funds?


Pete says that Bonneville and Energy Trust are talking about contracting a limited slice of 
programs. It is possible that other entities could do the same.


Kyle Davis says Pacific Power wants to partner with Energy Trust on this. He want to make 
sure we are getting attention and assistance. They are brainstorming and sitting down with PGE 
and get on the same page. On the EE and renewables side, they see low income housing and 
schools as being very cost effective projects. Historically, these are areas where they have not 
been able to provide funding. The projects have been identified, but have never had the dollars 
to do so. 


Carel mentioned that some counties are more prepared than others. 


That mentioned that the US Dept. of Agriculture and Forest Service have put up formal 
requests for project lists, and need answers by Feb 20th. 


5. Hydro Resource Assessment


Jed Jorgensen reviewed a hydro resource assessment that was just completed for Energy Trust covering 
the PGE and Pacific Power service territories.


Over the past several years we�ve seen interest in hydro grow a great deal. It�s at the point 
where we have enough experience and think there is enough demand to create a stand alone 
hydro program �  separating it from OSP.


To help us think about the design for a hydro program we commissioned this study. We issued 
an RFP in June of last year and had three companies respond. We ended up choosing to work 
with Summit Blue consulting �  which is the same firm that Energy Trust worked with on our 
Risk Assessment RFP.


6







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


We had the study look at the following things:


1. What is the state of hydro technology? Are there any opportunities we are unaware of?
2. What are the cost ranges for hydro projects?
3. Can we get an estimate on how many in-conduit projects are potentially out there to 
get a sense of the scale of the market? (And I�ll come back to why we chose this sector for the 
resource assessment.)
4. Where is the market at? Is there a functioning market? 


The first result we�ll talk about is technology. There�s more about this in the full report if you 
are interested in it. The key take home message is that hydro is a mature technology. The key 
advancements that are happening in hydro at this time are improvements to the efficiency of 
turbine systems, and the creation of turbine generators that can take advantage of low head 
sites.


With respect to the new turbines: the areas of improvement tend to be specific to certain site 
situations, though some �package� units are starting to be created for array-style installations.


There have also been some improvements on the operation and system integration side. This 
mostly has to do with new control systems with programmable logic controllers that are easily 
developed on site or taking advantage of SCADA (supervisory control and data acquisition) 
systems.


The next result is cost. The consultant�s work here reflected what we�ve seen with our own 
participation in hydro projects. It all depends on the site. If you are taking advantage of some 
existing infrastructure your costs may be considerably lower. But really, the costs are all over 
the map.


The consultants had started off with the impression that for a typical hydro project 25% of the 
costs are fixed -  based on the equipment �  and that 75% are variable. But after taking a look at 
studies examining the cost ranges associated with many different hydro projects they threw 
that rule out in favor of saying that there is no rule of thumb. Again, this matches what we�ve 
seen in the field.


Project costs fall into four categories: Land costs, Technical services (feasibility, engineering), 
Equipment, Balance of plant (civil works)


Even though there is no rule of thumb, costs do generally go down as the capacity of the plan 
increases. There are economies of scale. Anecdotally, operations and maintenance at hydro 
facilities is often estimated to 4-5% of equipment costs. 


We shaped the study to fit some of our existing knowledge about hydro: namely, that different 
kinds of projects have either relatively short and simple or long and complex permitting 
requirements.


There are two different permitting tracks for hydro projects. Projects that utilize existing dams 
or natural water features (run-of-river) are easy up to 75kW, then they get very long and 


7







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


complex at the state level. At the federal level things are fairly easy up to the 5MW level. 
There�s a big disconnect there. Up to 75kW permitting for a project might last a year. Above 
75kW you are looking at more like a 4-5 year permitting process.
 
In conduit projects �  where water is already in a pipe with a water right for another use (such 
as irrigation or municipal drinking water) are relatively simpler. Permitting for these kinds of 
projects is more like 8 months to a year assuming you�ve got all your ducks in a row.


Based on these permitting issues, we tend to think that outreach efforts around hydro are 
going to be better suited to in-conduit projects. Taking this into account, we had the resource 
assessment portion of the study focus on these kinds of projects.


There�s a quantitative and qualitative part to this resource assessment. We want to know how 
many potential in-conduit projects are out there. And we want to know what those projects 
look like, what their barriers and opportunities are.
 
Summit Blue had Golder Associates, an engineering and environmental services firm with a local 
office in Portland, put together a GIS map overlaying Energy Trust�s service territory with 
Oregon�s Water Rights database. 


What they found is that there is a total of more than 25,000 diversions in PAC territory, and 
more than 15,00 in PGE territory. From this result they did some screening to determine the 
number of these that deal with enough water to make the resource potentially viable for a 
project.


For this assessment, since we can�t know if these sites have any appreciable head, we�re only 
going to look at whether they are moving a lot of water.


This first part is quantitative. From the total list we want to know how many are potential 
projects. To do that Golder screened the list to see how many of the water rights out there 
had an annual allocation for a minimum of 5,000 acre feet of water. 


There are a total of 973 permits that meet those conditions. This is really the universe of in-
conduit projects that Energy Trust could do outreach to. 


So why do we set the floor at 5,000AF? If you use that amount of water evenly over the course 
of a year, it�s equivalent to about 3,100 gallons per minute, or 7 Cubic Feet per Second �  so 
this is a fair amount of water.


Now, to give you a sense of scale on how much power you can get out of that amount of 
water: 
o 7 cfs falling 10 feet = ~4.7kW 
o 7 cfs falling 100 feet = ~ 47kW


To get up around a megawatt of hydro power you need 170 cfs falling 100 feet. That�s 77,000 
gallons per minute. At that rate you can fill an Olympic swimming pool in 8.5 minutes. The 
point here is that if want to generate a lot of power you need a lot of head or flow, preferably 
both. 


8







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


Using 5,000 AF as the floor for this assessment is probably pretty good threshold for small 
projects. There might be some projects that have less flow but have enough head to make 
power, but the vast majority of the list is not going to have those favorable conditions. So in all 
likelihood we don�t need to look further down this in order to do outreach.


We also wanted to get qualitative results from survey, but we need to reduce the size of the 
list in order to do that. For the qualitative work we really wanted to get to the cream of the 
crop. So we did another screen for the water rights that are the oldest and the largest. 


Oregon, like most western states, has a first-in-time-first-in-right system for allocating water, 
and most stream basins in Oregon are over allocated. That means if someone upstream of you 
has a older water right than you - called the priority date - you may not get your water during 
low water years. This is big risk for hydro projects, having an older priority date is important to 
ensure you�ll have the water you need to generate.


Doing this they get down to a workable number of targets, 38, to survey for the qualitative 
portion of the study. From the target list, 35 of the 78 were contacted, and 20 of those 
responded to a survey either in person or online.


The survey went after these types of information:


1. From the participants it gathered basic information about the individual and his or her 
organization;
2. There were technical questions used to identifying promising projects at storage sites or in 
pipes, canals, or other channels.
3. There were project development questions to get information about the individual�s 
familiarity with the resources available to assist in hydro project development and about 
organizational issues that affect the likelihood that an organization would be able to develop a 
project.


These are the qualitative results: 


We have some opportunities at storage facilities: mostly because they tended to have better 
head and flow combinations than in-conduit resources we surveyed.


We also learned that the market has a lot of variety in terms of site characteristics: Of nine 
possible head/flow combinations only one could be used to describe more than 3 of 25 sites. 
Each of these different combinations requires a different kind of technology �  this makes scaling 
difficult for developers if this result is true of the broader market


We also found that there are some potentially good sites out there: North Unit ID, Vale ID, 
Cities of Corvallis, Coquile, and Adair Village


And there are also some places where it would be worthwhile to try and get more information 
about the resources �  the cities of Banks and St. Helens and the Tualatin Valley Irrigation 
District may have resources worth exploring but they only responded with half of the needed 
information �  either head or flow, but not both.


9







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


We learned other things about the market from this survey as well:


The survey backed up one fact that we see across almost all of renewables: you have to have a 
project champion to be successful. That person needs to be not just enthusiastic, but also know 
what they�re doing to some extent �  they need to be able to coordinate and take over parts of 
the project development efforts.


The biggest water right holders �  irrigation districts and municipalities �  generally lack the 
internal skills needed to push a project through to completion. 


This is especially true among municipalities �  none of the municipal survey respondents had any 
internal organizational experience with small hydro development. Irrigation districts were 
slightly more likely to have some of the necessary skills, but this general lack of experience is 
one of the key barriers preventing projects from moving forward.


In my opinion, this is one of the most important results of the study. And it is an area where we 
think we can have an impact. 


There were additional barriers as well: 


1) There are few hydro experts in the eastern part of the state, where many of the largest 
water rights holders are located.


2) Projects have long development horizons. Even when permitting is easier most hydro 
projects take 3-5 years to go from concept to completion. These long timelines make 
developing an internal champion that much more difficult.


3) Part of the long timeline is created by the state and federal permitting processes. But there is 
a distinct difference in attitudes about permitting from people who have gone through it than 
for those who haven�t.  For respondents that have not gone through the process it is perceived 
to be very long and arduous. For those that have gone through it �  well, it�s still long but they 
feel it is an achievable task.


Also of concern is that few counties or cities have appropriate ordinances to allow hydro 
development. The Swalley Irrigation District project �  which will be completed this spring - had 
to get a new ordinance passed in Deschutes County in order to move forward with their 
project. We expect to see the same thing happen in other counties.


Finally, some types of projects face additional permitting issues. Projects located at aquifer 
storage and recovery sites �  where municipalities or irrigations pump water into the ground for 
use at a later time �  typically can�t receive a permit for hydropower until they�ve been in 
operation for 5 years �  this significantly adds to the costs of doing hydro at these sites.


The Summit Blue team uncovered some other barriers as well, some of which we�re seeing 
with other renewables, some of which are truly specific to hydro.


10







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


Not all water rights are equal. The priority date on a water right is very important depending 
on how where in a basin a project is located. The bottom line is that if you have a project 
where there are water users upstream with superior water rights you may be exposing yourself 
to risk that you won�t have water to generate electricity during dry years.


Now with respect to irrigation districts in particular, the seasonality of their water rights can 
definitely hurt project economics. This is something we�ve run into a number of times. There 
may be some opportunities for some irrigation districts to expand their water rights, but the 
ability to do is site dependent.


The interconnection process can be daunting and confusing for those who don�t have 
experience with it. The real take home message was that projects need to have an experienced 
interconnection engineer with them during the process and they need to have an understanding 
of the scale of the fees and deposits that are involved in the interconnection study process.


Finally, a major barrier appears to be simply that project proponents don�t know about all the 
financial resources that are available to them. This includes knowledge of Energy Trust 
assistance, knowledge of the BETC, and the PTC. This is an area where Energy Trust can 
definitely make a difference.


So what opportunities do we see?


The first is something that we pretty much figured going in: The sweet spot in hydro 
development is where water is already being diverted for another use. The permitting is just 
much easier at the state and federal level. And if a project can go from concept to completion 
more quickly its economics are generally going to be better.


The consultants also recommended that there is an opportunity to add hydro during the 
construction phase of other major capital projects on water systems. This can likely be 
accomplished at a minimal incremental cost to the whole project. Getting insight into the long 
range capital project planning stream for potential customers is the big challenge with this idea, 
but we do have some thoughts about that.


Finally, as I hinted on the last slide, there is an opportunity for some irrigation districts to get 
year-round water if a combination of factors happen to align. The basic idea is that even if the 
district doesn�t have senior water rights, if it is upstream of any other senior water right 
holders, and it is able to non-consumptively use the water (meaning generate electricity and 
then put the water back in-stream) above any senior water right holders they may be able to 
expand their rights.


So finally, what did Summit Blue think Energy Trust should do? They had several suggestions for 
short-term activities:


The first is to provide expert assistance to help project proponents navigate the development 
process. We�ve already tried something very similar to this, providing engineering and project 
management assistance to OIT to help them develop their geothermal resources in Klamath 
Falls. That experiment has proved to be extremely successful and we�re going to be looking at 
what we can learn from that to create a more standardized way of operating in this capacity.


11







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


Next, we need to do outreach about our support for hydro projects. Lack of awareness about 
project support is a major hole in the market and one that we can easily remedy. We�re 
working on outreach plans to target major water right holders and industry groups.


Summit Blue also suggested that we create a simple road map to the project permitting 
process. Because the process is so convoluted it is stopping projects from moving forward. 
They suggest that if we create a road map that breaks the processes down into manageable 
chunks we can help proponents to help themselves. This is actually something I started working 
on a little bit last fall and we�ll be revisiting that work in the next few months.


Finally, they suggest that to stimulate the market we need to create long-term certainty in our 
incentives. Summit Blue found that the British Columbia hydro market is well developed and 
functioning, largely due to a standard price offering from the provinces utility for renewables 
project.


We know these projects have long time lines. And we know from experience what the effect of 
uncertainty in federal tax credits does to renewables markets. Summit Blue is reasoning that 
our incentives have the same impact. 


Right now our incentives are a bit of a black box since they are all custom calculations. We�re 
taking a hard look at whether or not it would be possible to create some sort of standard 
incentive to give projects some idea of what they could expect from Energy Trust. It�s a real 
challenge though. Our experience has been that above market costs for these projects are all 
over the map �  there is no rule of thumb. One idea I�m kicking around right now is that we 
might look at a kWh price floor and still offer a custom incentive if necessary. There will be 
more on this if we can figure out something that seems to be a workable solution.


Summit Blue also offered some long-term solutions, but these are out of the hands of Energy 
Trust.


It is two things really �  make the state and federal permitting line up �  which would basically 
mean moving the state major permit requirement from 75kW to 5MW �  and create a 
centralized permitting clearinghouse for Hydro. This exists to some extent at the state level, 
but they envision extending that clearinghouse to the federal level as well.


There�s no question that streamlining permitting would make things easier, but those kinds of 
changes are beyond our mission and scope.


Suzanne asked what the primary barrier is for state permitting? Jed explained that there are a 
lot of environmental studies that need to happen for any project 75 kilowatts or larger.


Kyle said that he believed municipalities and irrigation districts were having trouble financing 
hydro projects. His understanding is that they don�t have access to capital or infrastructure to 
issue bonds to finance the project. He wonders how much is just lack of familiarity separate 
from additional incentives? Is there fundamental lack of access to capital? Energy Trust and 
BETC dollars can help tip a project. Are the project costs too high by themselves?


12







RAC notes �  02/18/2009


Jed explained that in Energy Trust�s experience irrigation districts have access to cheap capital. 
Betsy says the municipalities were not looked at in the study, but we understand that concern. 


Bill Eddie acknowledged the need to get a BETC pass-through certified before hand. 


Jed said we yet to have somebody approach us that have not had the ability to get capital 
funding. Some may not be coming to us. Or they may decide the project doesn�t pay back fast 
enough. The lack of technical expertise seems to be a bigger problem. 


Betsy mentioned the possibility that projects are not getting to our desk.


Kyle asked if it is the nature of the project or education of the developers that is the problem? 
Will Energy Trust incentives help? What about on-bill financing? Is that something that can help?


Jed said that the lack of technical expertise is the # 1 thing. Power generation is always a 
secondary purpose for these clients. We need to give them the technical expertise and show 
them what the resources are. They are not a generator and don�t know what they need to 
know. 


6. Public Comments


There were no public comments. 


Betsy adjourned the meeting at 12:05pm. 


13








 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on March 11, 2009 


 
Attending from the Council: 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Kyle Davis, PacifiCorp 
Bill Eddie, Bonneville Environmental Foundation 
Troy Gagliano, EnXco 
Robert Grott, NW Environmental Business Council 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Jeff King, NWPCC 
Suzanne Leta Liou, Renewable Northwest Project 
Frank Vignola, University of Oregon 
Sandra Walden, OSEIA 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Pete Catching 
Erin Johnston 
Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
Elaine Prause 
Thad Roth 
Lizzie Rubado 
Brian Thornton 
Peter West 


 
 
Attending from the Board: 
John Reynolds 
 
Others attending: 
John Lund (by phone), Oregon 
Institute of Technology 
Mark Talman, PacifiCorp 
Bruce Wickson 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Betsy called the meeting to order at 9:35am. Everyone introduced themselves. The agenda was 
adopted without changes. The minutes from the December 2008 and February 2009 RAC 
meetings were adopted without changes. 


There was a brief discussion about the overall level of detail involved in the RAC meeting notes. 
Betsy asked if it would be appropriate to reduce the level of detail to a more summary nature. 
Though several people admitted to not reading the minutes others specified that detailed 
minutes were preferred.  


2. OIT Geothermal Electric Project (280kW) 


Betsy introduced the Oregon Institute for Technology geothermal electricity project. 


The Open Solicitation program is proposing to provide funding for its first geothermal electric 
project. The proposed level of funding is $487,000. 


Background information: Klamath Falls is in a geothermal zone. Many homes and businesses in 
the area use geothermal heat for building heating, sidewalk melting, and other activities.  


The OIT campus is proposing using a UTC unit to generate electricity. UTC has gotten a lot of 
attention for creating a device that can use geothermal resources that are lower temperature 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


2 


than typical geothermal power plants. The units themselves are also small and can be used 
modularly. OIT will be using one unit.  


In the unit hot water enters an evaporator, heating a working fluid which is vaporized. The vapor 
drives a turbine to create electricity. The hot water is used again on campus and is then re-
injected into the ground. The working fluid is sent to a cooling tower to be re-condensed. 


The unit requires 500gpm of geothermal fluid. It will run almost all the time, except for normal 
downtime for maintenance and on extremely cold days, when all the heat may be needed on 
campus. 


There is a sizeable parasitic load required to run the unit. The capacity of the unit is 280kW but 
after all the parasitic loads the capacity is closer to only 79kW. It will produce about 669,000 
kWh per year, a very conservative estimate. 


This is a big opportunity for OIT. It creates educational opportunities for training for these units, 
which are expected to enter the market more and more. 


Up front costs for installation are $890,000 


OIT is receiving a Blue Sky Grant worth $100,000. 


The university will also be taking out a 15 year loan at 4.5% interest through the Oregon 
University System. 


Yearly power revenues start at $43,000 in year one and go up to $63,000 in year 20. 


The difficult part of the analysis is that the unit has high yearly expenses. There is a 
maintenance contract with UTC for $12,000 annually. The university’s supervisory personal are 
another $12,000 annually. In addition disposing of cooling tower water will cost $5,000 annually 
and there is a $7,000 annual reserve for future maintenance. These costs make the project very 
challenging. 


Energy Trust found the above market cost, including yearly costs, to be $682,000. Our incentive 
plus the Blue Sky grant gets them a return of 4.5% which is the rate at which they are borrowing 
money. 


Normally you would expect a geothermal project too get a very high percentage of return. Betsy 
attended a conference last fall where she asked investors what the average returns were. She 
learned 15-20% is average for a for-profit site, and slightly less for a public institution. Energy 
Trust can’t get OIT to a 10% return, so we are proposing to give them 20% of the green tags 
from the project. 


Energy Trust has money in the budget for this and we’ve been looking for an opportunity such 
as this one. It is interesting to us because the same technology may be of interest to the City of 
Klamath Falls and others in the region. 


John Lund added that the university gets a lot of requests for tours to see how geothermal 
systems work. This will add the power side to the equation. There is also potential all over the 
state for similar projects. This will provide a good example to those potential sites. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


3 


John Reynolds asked if there is a backup heat source during extremely cold weather. John 
Lund replied that there is a third well for backup. The campus has three geothermal wells. They 
typically only use one, two if it’s really cold. 


Frank said the project sounds great but wanted to know if the yearly costs escalate over time 
and if we included that in our analysis. Betsy replied that our analysis accounts for escalation 
over time but looks at the whole project on a net present value basis. 


Robert Grott asked about UTC. Where is the product in the development cycle? John Lund 
replied that there is an original module in Alaska that was a 225kW module. The unit has since 
been upgraded to 280kW and 100 of them have been purchased by Razor Technologies for 
installation in NV. It is a technology in full commercial production. 


Robert expressed concern that the project might not be replicable at this cost structure. Peter 
West said that’s true, but you have to start somewhere to find out.  


Robert asked if there are any technical risk concerns…stuff in the water that could create 
maintenance issues over time. John Lund replied that there is a certain amount of cooling tower 
water that has to be put in the storm sewer for the city but there is a treatment package to deal 
with that. 


Robert asked if there is any risk to the equipment and if UTC has looked at the water quality. 
John Lund said yes and there should be no risk. 


Sandra asked about the educational opportunities and if there is an expectation about jobs that 
could be created in the geothermal field. 


John Lund replied that there is a new renewable energy engineering program. Those students 
will get to train on this piece of equipment. There will be jobs in servicing these kinds of 
machines as there is a lot of interest in these kinds of binary cycle units. 


Betsy added that there were about 1,000 people at the conference she was at last fall and that 
the conference has nearly doubled in size for the last two years. There appear to be growing 
opportunities within the industry, particularly here in the West. 


Sandra followed up by asking if there is any possibility for the program or this project to get 
access to any stimulus money or other monies due to the educational opportunities involved. 


John Lund replied that they have put in a request for information for developing a geothermal 
training center that would educate students specifically in geothermal electricity, making their 
campus one of the principal centers for geothermal electric projects in the country. 


Jeff King commented that he is pleased to see the project. He added that Energy Trust should 
be careful analyzing the financing but that the opportunity to piggyback on an existing 
geothermal well field is very good. He noted that the O&M does not appear to include well field 
expenses, since they are folded into the heating system.  


John Lund said that is true.  


Betsy said that is one of the things that kept the upfront costs low. The same is true in the towns 
of Lakeview and Klamath Falls. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


4 


John Reynolds asked if he is happy with the temperature and flow in the new well they just 
drilled for a different project. John Lund replied no, but it is still going to be usable. He thinks the 
new well will be able to provide all the electricity the campus will need. 


John Reynolds predicted that the Board will be delighted with this project. 


Frank asked how the BETC pass through credit is being counted. Frank said he wanted to see 
how that works in the calculations. 


Elaine replied that it is used in the first year to reduce the amount of their loans.  


Sandra asked if ODOE is placing the pass-through after the project is completed and if there is 
a partner identified.  


John Lund replied that ODOE will find a partner for them after the project is commissioned. 


Betsy noted that normally OSP provides money for feasibility analysis, but with this project we 
decided to provide them with the services of an engineer to help them think through the project 
development process. That went extremely well. 


Jeff King asked if the net output is being sold as opposed to selling the gross output and using 
purchased power to provide the parasitic loads. 


Betsy said that the project is only selling the net output. 


There was a brief discussion that geothermal projects cannot be net metered under the RPS. 
Kyle and Suzanne said that this needs to be cleaned up in the legislature but it is not scheduled 
to be addressed in this session. 


Suzanne said that someone could seek this change as an amendment to a bill this session. 


The RAC indicated strong support for the project. John Lund said he is thankful to have the 
support of Energy Trust. 


3. Federal and State Stimulus Money 


Betsy gave an update on what Energy Trust is doing with regard to stimulus money. Betsy 
asked ODOE if they could make a presentation, but they declined saying they don’t have 
enough information yet. 


There are a lot of unanswered questions still, so information sharing will be very necessary. 


There is a standard weekly meeting at Energy Trust discussing this. 


Peter said that the management team is on top of this. The state stimulus package is $129 
million there is ~$40 million for green upgrades to existing buildings. If you do the math on 
“standard” projects, all of Energy Trust’s efficiency money would go to the state just based on 
the number of projects created through that funding. 


Energy Trust can’t fully obligate its budget to the public sector and not leave any money for the 
private sector. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


5 


Peter reiterated that just at the state level, the amount of proposed upgrades for green buildings 
would eat the entire commercial energy efficiency budget.  


Suzanne asked if the state stimulus is for state buildings only. Peter said yes. 


Peter said that to remedy this issue Energy Trust is engaging with DAS, which runs buildings for 
the state. DAS also sees this as a problem. They do not want to use our entire budget and leave 
nothing for others. So we are negotiating with them about a smaller set of expectations about 
how we will participate with the state stimulus money. If would be pretty horrific if there was no 
money for private buildings as an unintended consequence of the state stimulus package. So 
there may be a cap or a rationing of our budget for those projects. 


What we don’t know from that list is what it could mean for solar or renewables. We don’t know 
the state’s intentions. It isn’t in the data or thinking yet – not to the extent we can put a number 
on it and take the next step to negotiate something. 


Sandra noted that solar thermal projects would still fall under energy efficiency.  


Peter said that is true and that the solar thermal side is less worrisome at this point. If we can 
get some solar thermal that would be a plus. Right now they are only looking at traditional 
measures: windows, shells, HVAC, insulation, lighting, etc. The state has a vast variety of 
buildings of many ages in different states of disrepair, all over the state. Most of the money is 
being spent in “structural” ways. Energy Trust hopes the state will use efficient models to 
acquire these efficiencies, but the timeline is very short. The money has to be obligated within 
90 days of the governor signing the bill. 


Suzanne asked about the role of the RAC members in this process. Does Peter think any RAC 
members should be involved in these discussions or if they should be contacting the governor 
or agencies separately?  


Betsy said that one of the reasons were talking about this is to figure out what we can and 
should all be doing. One of the problems is all the unknowns, which makes it hard to answer 
Suzanne’s question. One thing we can do here is to figure out where this group’s interests and 
desires are. 


Peter agreed. He thinks things are under control on the state side for our stuff. But the federal 
side is still an unknown. At the state level we have to figure out if there is a different way to put 
our money in, or put in less than we have before. 


Suzanne asked if we think it’s okay that the state hasn’t identified solar opportunities on their 
buildings. Peter said that the state is being vague about solar. Solar isn’t off the table, it’s just 
not clear yet which buildings it will be on. 


Betsy added that she has put together a working group of six or seven state agencies that are 
interested in solar. The group has met twice. The next meeting will be the first one since the 
state stimulus package was passed. There may be updates following that meeting after she has 
learned what people are thinking.  


Peter moved on to talk about the federal stimulus. 


Energy Trust’s understanding is that there are multiple pots of money. From the EPA there is 
efficiency and renewables money for treatment plants.  







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


6 


Thad added that this money is coming through DEQ, $43 million total, $8.8 million for “green 
projects.” It’s not clear if you can have a capital investment to improve water quality and add a 
green component as well. That $8.8 million will also compete with projects that include improve 
water efficiency and habitat improvement. Those are the kinds of project that fit under the green 
component. 


Peter said there are plenty of studies on the EE & RE sides about how you do green projects at 
these plants. Walt Mintkeski is pulling up old studies to see what can be done quickly. 


Thad said that if you are approved for a loan through the state revolving fund, the stimulus will 
cover 50% of your loan as a grant and then waive your interest for the rest of the loan. The 
applications for this are going to be due at the end of March or early April.  


On the housing agency side there is about $40 million that goes to the community action 
agencies for low income weatherization. Energy Trust typically doesn’t serve that market. We 
have an agreement with the PUC that the state will serve those income brackets. The CAP 
agencies aren’t sure they have the capacity to spend all that money. 


Kyle said that is an issue they have identified. He wants to see if there is something that can be 
done to help them out, even if on a short term basis. 


Peter said Energy Trust is engaged with housing and that we are willing to help if a role can be 
identified for us. We do have some pilots going for multifamily housing for “near low income” - 
people at 60-80% of median income. The issue is that you have to start screening people on 
their income levels, which is not something Energy Trust has done before and something we 
are very sensitive to. 


Energy Trust wants to help where we can, and facilitate things as necessary. We don’t need to 
be the driver, we need things to get done efficiency. 


Betsy asked if the CAPs can’t staff up efficiently. Kyle said yes, this is the problem. Betsy asked 
if they can get HR assistance. Kyle said he likes Peter’s idea of focusing on 60-80% instead. He 
wonders if it’s possible for the CAPs to leverage existing Energy Trust contracts. 


Betsy asked if the utilities could provide in-kind assistance in terms of hiring. Kyle and Thor said 
that’s not possible due to regulatory constraints. 


There are two other sets of monies. One is $40 million from USDOE to ODOE. Betty Merrill is 
trying to figure that out but they don’t know what is going to happen yet. USDOE is trying to 
write some guidance. USDOE has asked CESA if they would be willing to provide guidance to 
the states that don’t have any “Energy Trust like” programs. 


Kyle said that Oregon is closer to $36 million. In other states they are out soliciting projects, 
including renewables. Maybe they are jumping the gun. The money comes to the SEP program 
but there may be strings that come with the money that dictate how it will be spent. They haven’t 
been building projects lists because they don’t want to get people’s hopes up and then 
disappoint them. 


Peter said it is good that PacifiCorp is doing a Blue Sky solicitation. Projects could be 
piggybacked on that potentially. But the lack of list building is starting to create a little bit of 
panic. People want to get on “the list” even though there isn’t one. The smaller communities 
want to create a list in case they need one. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


7 


The other money is block grant money. It comes to the state but there are formulas for how it 
gets distributed to counties and agencies. Peter asked if we can help them do some sort of 
SWAT approach? Even if it isn’t useful this time around we will help them learn something and 
we will learn something about the audience too. We’re looking at hiring 4-5 people to get into 
the field to help these communities identify and prioritize potential projects.  


Betsy added that the best summary she has seen on municipal opportunities is on the League 
of Oregon Cities website. According to LOC, Oregon’s share of the block grants is $42 million. 
For cities over 35,000 in population they will have to go straight to the Feds to apply. The rest 
will be distributed through ODOE. There has also been discussion of convening some regional 
workshops. 


Peter said we are looking for ways to take our money and drive it forward. If the stimulus money 
is going to make things happen we should look around and see if there are places stimulus isn’t 
going to make things happen too. 


Betsy added that the Association of Oregon Counties is planning to have a workshop for their 
members and they are going to take a survey to see what projects their members have planned. 
LOC did a survey in December, but it was unofficial and they are not planning to take any sort of 
organizing role with the cities. 


Kyle said he appreciates Energy Trusts efforts. He wonders if Energy Trust can pull together 
examples of case studies around publicly owned facilities to have those materials available for 
any public workshops or forums that happen. Potentially we should do some direct mailings as 
well. He says they are getting asked how to prioritize as well. Which buildings should 
communities work on first? Are their criteria that Energy Trust uses for prioritizing? 


Peter said there are several ways to choose from in terms of how to do things for energy 
efficiency. Should Energy Trust go to places where communities won’t get as much money? 
Should it dedicate money to top performing projects? Only focus on below average buildings?  


Kyle said it would also be useful to put together project schedules to give realistic time frames 
for project development.  


Peter said that for renewables the only criteria we’ve talked about is that we will enter into 
projects where you are using the most efficient economic model. People that are leveraging all 
the federal tax credits, to the extent they can be taken, will be higher on the list. 


Kyle said developers need to understand the time it will take to get into interconnection 
agreements. PacifiCorp can’t staff up to meet additional demand. 


Peter said there is no time for studies. These projects have to be shovel ready. They will likely 
be small projects, primarily solar. These are the things that can be completed in time to get the 
money. So net metered is going to be driven. 


Thor said that they have a lot of experience with solar that they are happy to share. 


John Reynolds said that he hopes people keep their optimism about this big influx of money. 
The last time something like this happened Timberline Lodge was the result. 


Kyle requests that this become a standing item on the RAC for the time being.  


Betsy agreed that it is very helpful to continue this discussion. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


8 


4. Changes to Open Solicitation program 


Betsy explained that OSP was designed as the place for innovative technology. As such, the 
guidelines are very stringent for RAC and Board approval. The idea was to make sure that 
unusual ideas got close examination.  


Since it was initially designed, the renewables focus at Energy Trust has become more clear. 
We are looking for fewer innovative projects and are more interested in replicable projects that 
can create markets. 


What we are really using OSP for is to fund hydro. To reflect the reality of the program we want 
to make some changes. 


1. We want to change the program’s name. We are open to suggestions: one idea is the 
“Niche Markets program.” This would reflect the fact that we are not seeking cutting 
edge projects. 


2. We want to create a second approval track for projects that are utilizing established 
technologies. Instead of sending established technologies through a project track 
designed for innovative projects we would use the methodology created for small wind 
and biomass. The innovative track would still exist.  


3. Hydro projects would use the established technology track. 


4. We want to fold the Wind program into this program, keeping the budgets and guidelines 
established for that program, but allowing for budget flexibility when one area is doing 
better than another. 


Peter clarified that under the standard programs the authority to approve a project under 
$500,000 is delegated to Margie Harris, under the authority of the board. 


Kyle said that PacifiCorp is seeing a huge increase in the number of utility scale solar PV 
projects where developers are talking about 1-3 MW size range. These projects have above 
market costs that PacifiCorp cannot help to buy down. Is there a way for projects in this scale to 
get access to Energy Trust funds? They are seeing drops in the price of solar pv. It would be 
good to try and lock up some of these resources while the prices are down. These would be 
contracted projects, not owned by the utility.  


Kyle asked what the opportunity is for these projects to come in under current solar program. 
What about OSP? Can PacifiCorp try to take advantage of lower PV rates? 


Peter said that Kyle’s question is separate from Betsy’s proposal. The only way it could relate is 
if large scale PV became a standard track under the newly named program.  


Peter continued that the issue in PacifiCorp territory is the wealth of possibilities among all the 
technologies. We have tried to ration the funds in PacifiCorp’s area as a result. In PGE territory 
we are able to look at large scale PV. There is interest in PacifiCorp territory, but not the money. 
The Open Solicitation program has about $1 million in PacifiCorp territory. The question 
becomes what don’t you do? Do you push hydro and geothermal projects into 2010? The other 
issue is that the big scale solar projects are bigger than the OSP budget. Do you want to do 
large scale projects, or do you want to have on-going programs? We can identify what the trade 
offs would be if people are interested. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


9 


Kyle said that a temporary change might be good to lock in low prices. A blind solicitation might 
be a good idea, it doesn’t have to be solar. 


Peter said that there is a master agreement with both utilities that allows them to pitch us a 
project at any time. We have to compare that with what else we are getting at the time. If the 
projects are better than what we’re getting, we’ll do them. 


Mark Talman said he has helped add 10 wind projects to PacifiCorp’s wind system over the last 
few years. He thinks there is an immediate opportunity with the stimulus package for 2009. The 
bonus depreciation for 2009 is important. To define if you can capture that opportunity you have 
to make a decision within the next 2-4 weeks. 


Mark continued that what is different about what the developers are portraying today, as 
opposed to a year ago, is the focus on utility scale projects. There is serious thought about how 
to scale this technology. They want to compartmentalize their designs in 1-2 MW chunks, to 
scale up to 50MW. They are sourcing at broader scales. They are looking at franchising. The 
reason you might want to consider this tradeoff is not too different from why we got into the wind 
business back in the 90’s. Back then wind power was multiples above market in terms of cost. 
We have to do things now to get the benefits of price decreases in the future. Taking one project 
in 09 as an experimental utility scale solar project is the way to go. PacifiCorp’s first wind project 
was viewed as an experiment. Wind projects now pass the economic tests, or are close enough 
to do them. 


Sandra thanked Mark and seconded his view. She sees a lot of big projects being designed and 
planned and wants to see Energy Trust explore the costs per watt and efficiencies that could be 
gained. The costs are down right now because projects have fallen off the table and there is a 
glut of panels on the market.  


Frank added that over the next 5 years there is going to be quite a bit of wind installed in the 
region. Solar balances the energy mix. Now is the time to do it. There is a lot of economic 
development in the state that would benefit by a project like this. It’s worthwhile to invest in at 
least one.  


Suzanne said that the Open Solicitation suggestion seems like a good approach. Following up 
on the current conversation, solar is a standard technology so it could be part of that mix in 
OSP. 


Betsy said there was a decision last year to get solar through its own program, but that doesn’t 
capture large scale projects. 


Suzanne said this scale of project doesn’t fit there, so a larger scale solar project could be 
thought of as a niche technology. It is concerning that there is only $1 million in 2009 for OSP in 
PacifiCorp. She would be curious to see what $1 million would get. 


Brian asked what the RAC thought would happen to first costs by going to 2MW projects. Is 
there a substantial difference? What incentive is needed? 


Sandra said that scalability is the thing. If you target an installation that is focusing on scalability 
as a factor in their project, that is where the savings will be. There will be a reduction in buying 
panels in bulk. 


Peter said that when we looked at a project last summer and said no, the RAC was divided. 
There were two issues of concern. One: at that time, the incentive needed for the project was 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


10 


more than the rate for smaller projects. Two, we never resolved the tradeoffs. We presented the 
things that would not happen and we got strong reaction to not cut programs. A $2 million deal 
is a 25% budget shift. You can’t get there without gutting biomass, small wind, or hydro. Where 
we ended up last time was that the tradeoffs were too big for something that is too expensive 
and that we can’t demonstrate will get less expensive. We now have some new information from 
Mark that the costs may be different. But for us to be able to do this with speed we would need 
PacifiCorp to pitch us a project and we would present the tradeoffs directly to our board. 


Kyle said that we should revisit the issue. They would prefer a good chunk of the public purpose 
charge dollars to be allocated on cost effectiveness. Solar appears to be more replicable than 
biomass or hydro, but they haven’t studied that.  


Suzanne mentioned that one of the issues was that we are only looking back at one proposal. 
We need to see the range of costs to see what has changed. 


Brian mentioned that a dozen people have come by mentioning that they would like 2, 5, or 10 
MW projects. We’ve said no because of the budget. 


Peter said a set of comparative projects would be appropriate. That would be like PGE’s 
competitive RFP.  


Kyle said that his only goal was to provide this for feedback. Ideally he would like Energy Trust 
to think about this to see if they have ideas about how to address this issue. 


Betsy said that seems reasonable. 


John said that given the time pressure the RAC could communicate via email over the next 
month as necessary. 


Peter said he thinks the sense of the group is to entertain something that appears competitive 
and to be re-approached with the tradeoffs. Staff and PacifiCorp need to get together to do what 
we need to do on the confidentiality and review side to bring back a proposal. We need to find 
out how much money we are talking about. 


Doug wants to see how the financials have changed over the past year. Demonstrate the 
improvement. 


Jeff said he can’t see spending money just because there are lots of developers knocking at the 
door. There have to be some criteria. Is this a good deal? Are you getting something now you 
can’t get later? What is being sacrificed? One way of getting value is to demonstrate if it is truly 
a pilot. Is there expansion potential? We also need to learn something. It needs to be 
transparent in terms of costs and performance so we can evaluate it later.  


Robert said that the original OSP presentation is very good, especially by providing budget 
flexibility.  


Brian said his sense of the trend in the prices on solar is that there is still a way to go. He thinks 
this could be premature for a pilot.  


Peter said we can’t prejudge that until we see what is presented. 


Suzanne asked staff to give a sense of timing once we proceed. 







RAC notes – 3/11/2009 


11 


Kyle said the timing issue is the developer’s risk to bear. What PAC has heard from developers 
shouldn’t be the only thing driving things forward. 


Sandra said that to take advantage of bonus depreciation you have to move very quickly. 


Mark asked to talk to the person who is the most knowledgeable to see if the costs have gone 
down appreciably. He thinks there is a threshold decision. The amount of money is $1-3 million. 
That causes the tradeoff discussion. If the philosophy is not to allocate towards this scale until 
the costs efficiencies hit maturity, then this is not going to get there. The industry hasn’t 
matured. His perspective is that if utilities hadn’t stepped in 10 years ago with wind, where 
would we be today? He thinks that is where we are at today with solar. Things are maturing 
from installer development to the developer perspective. These are the things to think about as 
a policy maker. 


Betsy asked if the RAC members were supportive of an OSP with a standard track and the 
current procedures for non-standard projects.  All supported this as long as the non-standard 
track was kept. 


 


5. Public Comments 


There were no further public comments. 
 


6. Adjournment 


Betsy adjourned the meeting at 12:20pm. 





